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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

STATE OF NEW MEXI CO
DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY, M NERALS AND NATURAL RESOURCES
O L CONSERVATI ON DI VI SI ON
APPLI CATI ONS OF PERM AN RESOURCES
OPERATI NG, LLC FOR COVWPULSORY
POOLI NG, AND APPROVAL
OF OVERLAPPI NG SPACI NG UNI' T
LEA COUNTY, NEW MEXI CO CASE NO. 25833-25834
APPLI CATI ONS OF PERM AN RESOURCES
OPERATI NG, LLC FOR COVPULSORY
POOLI NG, LEA COUNTY, NEW MEXI CO. CASE NO. 25835-25845

APPLI CATI ONS OF AVANT OPERATING |1, LLC

FOR APPROVAL OF A NON- STANDARD UNI T,

COVMPULSORY POOLI NG, AND,

TO THE EXTENT NECESSARY, APPROVAL

OF AN OVERLAPPI NG SPACI NG UNI' T

LEA COUNTY, NEW MEXI CO CASE NO. 25827, 25829, 25831

APPLI CATI ON OF AVANT OPERATING Il, LLC
FOR APPROVAL OF A NON- STANDARD UNI' T
AND COVPULSORY POOLI NG,
LEA COUNTY, NEW MEXI CO.
CASE NO. 25832

APRI L 21, 2026
8:55 A M
PECOS HALL
1220 SOUTH ST. FRANCI S DRI VE
SANTA FE, NEW MEXI CO 87505

BEFORE: HEARI NG EXAM NER GREGORY CHAKALI AN
REPORTED BY: KI M KAY SHOLLENBARGER, NM CCR#236

VERI TEXT MOUNTAI N REG ON
ALBUQUERQUE, NEW MEXI CO
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Good norni ng, everyone.
We're going to start early. It is 855 a.m on April 21st.
Tuesday. We're going to have some hearings by affidavit and
then we're going to go into a contested hearing between Avant
and Perm an Resources. |'mgoing to call sone of the hearing
by affidavits first, since they should be sinpler.

I'"'mgoing to start with case 25947. This is an
anmendnent filed by Marathon. | think we're here again after
hearing this case for the first a little while ago. Entries
of appearance, please.

MR. RANKIN: Good morning, M. Hearing Oficer.
Adam Rankin with the Santa office of Holland and Hart
appearing on behalf of Marathon in both cases.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Bot h cases?

MR. RANKI N: | can do one at a tine, that's fine.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Ckay.

MR. RANKIN: In this case, M. Oficer, there was --

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  No ot her parties?

MR. RANKIN: Not to my know edge.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Okay, very good. Go
ahead.

MR. RANKIN: This is a case, M. Hearing O ficer,
where notice needed to be perfected for add two additional
parties. Actually, one additional party, Carnegi e Energy,

LLC. We revised the hearing packet previously and submtted
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

indicating -- showing that notice was tinely provided to this
party and now time has | apsed and notice has been perfected
to that party, and the exhibits reflect that certified nmai
was sent to Carnegi e and they have been advised tinely.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  So |' m gat heri ng,
because |I'm not |ooking at the actual inmaging systemat this
nmoment, so you filed an anmended exhibit packet wi th that
addi tional notice.

MR. RANKI N: Correct.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Okay, thank you. So
that's admtted into evidence wi thout exception. Let's see,
M. MClure, are you the technical exam ner for that case?

MR. MCCLURE: For the first two cases | am and we
can take them under advisenent.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Fantastic. Thank you.
So you heard M. Rankin, that we're going to do the sane for
the second case, but I'"'mgoing to call it anyway because |
haven't called it yet. 25949,

MR. RANKIN:  Thank you, M. Hearing O ficer. Again,
Adam Rankin with Hol |l and and Hart appearing on behal f of the
applicant, Marathon in that case. Sane situation, same party
has been provided notice tinely and that notice has now been
perfected for that party and it's reflected in the revised
heari ng packet.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: The exhibits are
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

adm tted without exception. The case is taken under
advi sement. Thank you, M. Rankin.

Let's nmove on now to case nunber 3 on the docket,
that is a conpul sory pooling application on behalf of Devon
Energy, 25984. Entries, please.

MR. SAVAGE: Good norning, M. Hearing Exani ner
Good nmorning, M. Technical Exam ner. Darin Savage wth
Abadi e Schill appearing on behalf of Devon Energy Production
Conmpany.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Thank you. M. Savage,
do you know if there's any other parties?

MR. SAVAGE: No, there's not.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Go right ahead.

MR. SAVAGE: This is a followup to a previous
heari ng and we needed to do an anended heari ng packet. The
items that we addressed were revising the checklist to
i nclude all necessary boxes and entries. W updated the
informati on regardi ng Col gate's waiver of notice. W also
i ncluded an email noting that waiver and then we renoved
Resources fromthe pooling |ist, because they're a
non-participatory record title owner. That basically covered
everything, and | believe that Technical Exam ner Fordyce is
t he exam ner for this.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  You subm tted new

docunments showi ng that?
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

MR. SAVAGE: Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Okay. Your new exhibits
are admtted without exception and the case is taken under
advi senment .

MR. SAVAGE: Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Thank you. Let's nove
on to case nunmber 4. This is a non-standard unit and
conpul sory pooling application submtted by Avant. 25986.

MS. BENNETT: Good norning, M. Exam ner. Deana
Bennett on behal f of Avant Operating I, LLC

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Are there any other
parties?

MS. BENNETT: There are. M. Rankin of Holland and
Hart entered an appearance on behalf of MRC Perm an.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: M. Rankin.

MR. RANKIN:  Thank you, M. Hearing Oficer. W're
just tracking this case. Adam Rankin appearing on behal f of
Mat ador in this case with the law firm of Holland and Hart.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Ms. Bennett.

MS. BENNETT: Thank you very much. This case is a
continuation of a hearing that was held on March 26th. And
at the March 26th hearing the technical exam ner asked that
Avant nmeke certain revisions to its exhibit packet. And as
reflected in the notice of revised exhibit packet, we have

made those revisions and we tinely filed the revised exhibit
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

packet. So with that, | would ask that the exhibits in case
nunber 25986 be admtted into the record and the case taken
under advi senent.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Grant ed.

MS. BENNETT: Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Admitted wi thout
exception, taken under advisement. Thank you. Let's nobve on
now. | think this is a new case. It's case nunber 5 on our
docket. | don't believe it's attached to any other case.
This is 25813, conpul sory pooling, overlapping spacing unit,
Coterra Energy.

MS. BENNETT: Good norning, M. Exam ner. Deana
Bennett on behalf of Coterra Energy Operating. Oiginally
Ms. Luck had entered an appearance in this case on behal f of
I cht hys, but has since withdrawn their conpeting application
and objection to the case noving forward by affidavit.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: So this is a new case
t hen.

MS. BENNETT: It is. And it was originally set for
today's hearing for a contested hearing and with the
Division's grace we were allowed to conme to hearing today,
gi ven sone | ease expiration issues.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: So, let's do this. W
have Ms. Kessler. Let's hear from Ms. Kessler.

MS. KESSLER: Good norning, M. Exam ner. Jordan
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

Kessl er with EOG Resources and we're just nonitoring this
case.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Thank you, Ms. Kessler.
Ms. Luck, did you want to enter an appearance?

MS. LUCK: | just wanted to confirm Kaitlyn Luck
| cht hys Energy. Ms. Bennett correctly provided, we have
di sm ssed our application, withdrawn the objection to this
case. Thanks.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  But you're still
mai nt ai ni ng your appearance.

MS. LUCK: Yes, |I'mhere today for |chthys.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Okay, perfect. Thank
you, Ms. Luck. Ms. Bennett, M. MClure had a lot to review
for today, so we will get to your case, but after |unch
today. So we'll hear it by affidavit at that tine.

MS. BENNETT: Sounds good.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Sounds good.

MS. BENNETT: Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  And | don't know what
time lunch will be, but you'll remind ne to take up that
case.

MS. BENNETT: Yes, | wll. I"1'l just need to
confirmwith ny witnesses that they' re available after |unch
which | will do on a break

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Sounds good. | just
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know t hat the exhibits have not been reviewed --

MS. BENNETT: Ckay.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: -- at this point. Now,
if we conme back tonmorrow, we could also -- if your w tnesses
are not available until tonmorrow, we can hear it then by
affidavit as well.

MS. BENNETT: Perfect. |1'lIl make sure that they're
avail able either after lunch or tonorrow. Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Thank you. We're off
the record in that case, but we're in recess on that case.
Let's call case nunber 6 on our docket, 25951. This is an
exception to the well density requirenments by Hilcorp.

MR. RANKIN:  Good norning, M. Hearing Oficer.
Adam Rankin with the Santa Fe office of Holland and Hart
appearing on behalf of the applicant Hilcorp in this case.
To ny know edge, there are no other parties who have
appear ed.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: So, M. Rankin, just so
you know, this is a new case, if |I'mcorrect.

MR. RANKIN: That's ny understandi ng, yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: And the sane thing goes
for this case, than the |ast case, which is that the
t echni cal exam ner has not had tinme to review the exhibits
yet and we'll be able to take this case and hear it by

affidavit either after lunch if your witnesses are avail able
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or tonorrow norning, at whatever you deci de.

MR. RANKIN: [I'll have to confer with nmy w tnesses
to make sure of their availability and report back, hopefully
bef ore the lunch hour, just to make sure that they're
available. | think either option should be suitable.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  And t hank you for your
under st andi ng, both of you. Let's nmove on to number 7 on our
docket, 258 -- so we're in recess on 25951. Let's nove on to
nunmber 7 on our docket. This is Avant Operating. W have a
contested hearing today. Avant has -- well, why don't | do
it this way, since it's on so many different pages of paper
at this point. W have a contested hearing with Avant and
Permi an Resources. Avant, would you like to enter an
appearance and give nme your case nunbers.

MS. BENNETT: Yes. Good norning, M. Hearing
Exam ner, M. Technical Exam ner. Deana Bennett on behal f of
Avant Operating, LLC. The Avant cases are nunbers 25827,
25829, 25831 and 25832

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Perfect. And nowto
Per mi an Resources.

MS. MCLEAN: Good norning. Jaclyn MLean and Dana
Har dy on behal f of Perm an Resources. And our case nunbers
are 25833 through 25845.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Thank you. And you have

co-counsel ?
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

MS. MCLEAN:. Yes, Ms. Hardy.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Wbuld you like to enter
an appearance?

M5. HARDY: Oh, Ms. MLean entered appearance for
me, but Dana Hardy, also on behalf of Perm an Resources.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Thank you. | nust have
m ssed it, | apologize. Are there any other parties?

MR. SUAZO. Yes. Good norning, M. Hearing O ficer
M guel Suazo with Beatty and Rosni ck appearing today on
behal f of Coterra Energy Operating Conpany, Magnum Hunter,
and Si mrers Energy Conpany in each of the cases that the
ot her counsel has listed for the record, which I can list for
t he record.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  So you're saying for al
t he cases?

MR. SUAZO  Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Okay, perfect. You
entered an appearance yesterday, didn't you?

MR. SUAZO: | did, yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Ckay, good. And your
appearance was titled what?

MR. SUAZO. Well, we're primarily just nmonitoring
these cases. W're not going to be asking questions or
anything like that, but we did want to express our support

for Perm an Resources's applications sinply because we think
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

that they're nore efficient and effective and they al so
devel op Coterra's acreage. So for what it's worth, we do
support that. But other than that, we're nonitoring only.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Thank you. Are there
any other entries of appearance?

MS. KESSLER: Yes, good norning. This is Jordan
Kesl er on behalf of EOG Resources. W're actually only an
of fset party in this case. W did review the exhibits. W
don't have any questions. W're nonitoring, but taking no
position.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: What does it nean, an
offset? | think you nuted yourself.

MS. KESSLER: | think sonebody nuted nme. Can you
hear me now?

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Oh, | can

MS. KESSLER: Okay, great. EOG does not own in the
tracts that are being conpul sory pool ed, but were given
notice by virtue of the request for non-standard spacing
unit. So we do not actually own in the conpul sory pool ed
tracts and are not taking a position.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Perfect. Thank you for
the clarification.

MS. BENNETT: M. Hearing Exam ner, before we begin,
| also wanted to introduce my co-counsel, Jeff Goodwin. He's

with the law firm of Mddrall Sperling and he's here with nme
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as wel | .

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALIAN: | think I've met you
once before.

MR. GOODW N:  Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Excellent. Welcone. |
have been handed from Perm an Resources a notebook with their
exhibits beautifully |abeled, as we really appreciate that
they do, and the rebuttal exhibits. M. Bennett, did you
have something simlar? You do have sonething simlar, okay.
Are your rebuttals in here as well?

MS. BENNETT: They are. This is all of the
exhi bits.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  When you say, "all," do
you nean all of yours or all of everyone's?

MS. BENNETT: Everyone's.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Everyone's. So | have
everyone's. All right. Thank you very nuch. So |I've been
handed a notebook from Avant with their exhibits, their
rebuttal exhibits and Perm an's exhibits, but I think I"'I]
just keep them separate. But thank you for that. | think
the way | would like to proceed is, first of all, to ask the
parti es have they discussed who's going to present their case
in chief first? And | see nodding, so that neans yes.

MS. MCLEAN: Yes, | discussed with Ms. Bennett and

Avant is going to go first.
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HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Avant is going to go
first, excellent. Ms. Bennett, before we get to wi tnesses
and exhibits by stipulation, et cetera, are there any
prelimnary issues?

MS. BENNETT: | had intended to address Coterra's
late filed entry of appearance, but given that Coterra does
not intend to cross-exam ne the witnesses, then that is no
| onger an issue. | did want to just raise perhaps sone
efficiencies in the hearing today or an ordering of the
witnesses in ternms of their direct and our rebuttal, and then
reviewing Perman's rebuttal. 1In the past | know that
contested hearings have gone in that order, where one w tness
does his or her direct, then reverse, reviews his or her
rebuttal, and then we could review his or her review of
Permi an's rebuttal in ny case. So that's what |'d like to
suggest in ternms of ordering for the testinony, but of course
I'"monly suggesting that.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Ms. MLean

MS. MCLEAN:. | appreciate the way that you' ve been
handl ing the cases recently, which is, the first witness wll
get up, they'll do very linmted direct, since we have
pre-filed testinony, and really just essentially doing their
rebuttal exhibits and testinony, and then we would have the
ability to cross.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: | think the parties are
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basically saying the same thing. |1'll keep doing what | have
been doing and if there's an objection to it, please let ne
know and I'Il consider it, by all means. W have to be fair
to everyone. Due process extends to both parties in the sane
equal manner. Both have filed applications with us. So
today our technical exam ner is Dean MCl ure. M. M ure,
are you prepared to begin?

MR. MCCLURE: Yes, | am M. Hearing Exam ner.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Thank you. And have you
had an opportunity to review the direct exhibits and the
rebuttal exhibits fromboth parties?

MR. MCCLURE: |'ve reviewed the direct exhibits. |

have not reviewed the rebuttal exhibits.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Perfect. Well, | guess
you'll get familiar. So, parties and w tnesses, you' ve heard
that M. MClure -- and when he says he's reviewed them he's

reviewed themcarefully. So you don't have to worry about
he's m ssed sonething. So we're going to ask you to give
brief sunmaries of your direct testinony. You can get into
your rebuttal testinony a bit nore, because he has not had an
opportunity to review themyet. And then the

cross-exam nation will bring out nore, and the redirect.
You' Il have plenty of opportunity to nake your point today.

| didn't ask you if there were any prelimnary issues on

behal f of Perm an.
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MS. MCLEAN: Nothing from Perm an Resources.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Thank you. So now let's
see about stipulation to exhibits. So I'll start with you,
Ms. McLean. Which Avant exhibit, and please be specific,
it's for the record and for the court reporter, are you
willing to admt through stipulation?

MS. MCLEAN:. Perm an Resources is willing to admt
all exhibits and rebuttal exhibits, with the exception of
Rebuttal Exhibit C5.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  C5?

MS. MCLEAN:  Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALIAN: C as in Charlie, 57

M5. MCLEAN: Correct.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: So | amgoing to admt
into the evidentiary record all of Avant's exhibits with the
exception of Rebuttal Exhibit C5. Did | get that right?

MS. MCLEAN: That's correct.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Okay. Let ne take sone
notes here. Ms. Bennett, the sane question.

MS. BENNETT: Yes, thank you. Wth respect to
Permi an's direct testinmony, Avant is willing to stipulate to
the admi ssion of all Permian's direct testinony, subject to
guestioning that may show that the testinony or the exhibits
are unreliable or irrelevant.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALIAN: I'mgoing to admt al
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of Perman's direct exhibits. Now, when you say, "direct

exhi bits, do you nmean the rebuttal exhibits as well?

MS. BENNETT: No. Wth respect to the rebuttal
exhibits, there are sone issues with Perm an's rebutta
exhibits and so we are willing to stipulate to several of
their rebuttal exhibits.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Can you be specific?

MS. BENNETT: Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: | can admt sonme of the
rebuttal exhibits or are you not willing to adnmit any of the
rebuttal exhibits?

MS. BENNETT: At this point the only one |I've noted
-- haven't noted an objection to is C13 and Cil4.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: I didn't hear you, wil
you say it again.

MS. BENNETT: C13 and Cl4 are the only two that | do
not have an objection to.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: | thought | heard
sonet hing 13 and then D14.

MS. BENNETT: Sorry.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Say it again.

MS. BENNETT: C13 and Cl14.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Thank you. So those you
are willing to admt?

MS. BENNETT: Yes.
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HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALIAN: All right. So let me
put down C13 and Cl4 are also adnmitted by stipulation. Just
to be clear, when we say, "direct exhibits," Ms. MLean, for
the exhibits that are not rebuttal exhibits, what are you
going to call thenf

MS. MCLEAN: Well, we | abel ed our exhibits in
consecutive order, so it's just Al through 13, Bl
through...so it's very easy. W'Il just call themBl, 2, 3.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Very good. So let ne
get your table of contents. Yes, there is one here. Thank
you, by the way, for the table of contents. So what has been
adm tted by Avant through stipulation of Permian's exhibits
are A, and then Al through Al12, right, M. MLean?

MS. MCLEAN: Correct.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Exhibit Bl through 20.

MS. MCLEAN: Correct.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: C1 through Cl1. D, D1
t hrough D9. And E, E1 through E4. And then al so Rebuttal

Exhi bits C13 and Cl4. The other rebuttal exhibits are not

yet admitted through stipulation and we'll have to go through
t he usual foundation and any kind of objection will be dealt
with at that time. All right. Fine. Let's see, how many

wi t nesses, Ms. McLean, do you have?
MS. MCLEAN: We have four w tnesses.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Let nme wite this down.

Page 19

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

Ms. Bennett, how nmany witnesses do you have?

MS. BENNETT: We have three w tnesses.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Three?

MS. BENNETT: Yes, and they've all previously
testified.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Very good. They've al
previously testified as experts in their field?

MS. BENNETT: Yes, they have.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  And, Ms. MclLean.

MS. MCLEAN: For Permni an Resources, everyone has
testified except for Hank Hi ggi nson, and he will need to be
adm tted as an expert.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Fine. W'Ill deal wth
that right off the bat then. Could | have all seven
Wi tnesses conme up to the witness stand, and woul d soneone
turn on the mcrophone. You've done this before, | recognize
you. Why don't we start here and we'll just nove down the
list. Are you with Avant?

UNI DENTI FI ED SPEAKER: Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Are all the Avant people
together? COkay, perfect. And I recognize all of you, so
know t hat you've testified here before. VWhat 1'd |ike
everyone to do is raise your right hands, please. Thank you

(Wtnesses Sworn)

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Now, starting with you,
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woul d you state and spell your name for the court reporter
and then tell me if you've -- and | know you have, but if

you' ve previously been admtted as an expert by this Division
and in what field that is.

MR. KELLY: Sure. M nane is Shane Kelly.

S-h-a-n-e. K-e-l-I-y. | have previously testified as an
expert in the field of reservoir engineering.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Thank you. So now you
can just go back and sit down for now. Thank you

MR. HARPER: My name is John Harper. J-o0-h-n.
H-a-r-p-e-r. | previously testified in front of the Division
and | am an expert witness in petrol eum geol ogy.

MS. SARANTINOS: MW nane is Tiffany Sarantinos.
T-i-f-f-a-n-y. S-a-r-a-n-t-i-n-o-s. | have also previously
testified with the Division in |and matters.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Perfect. Thank you. Now
we're going to hear from Pernmi an's w tnesses. Go ahead,
pl ease.

MR. CLEMENTS: Davro Clenents. That's D-a-v-r-o.
Cl-e-me-n-t-s. | have previously testified in front of the
Di vision as an expert in facilities engineering.

MR. CANTIN:. My nane is Chris Cantin. |It's
C-h-r-i-s. C-a-n-t-i-n. | have previously testified
before the Division, geology matters, petrol eum and geol ogy.

MR. HAJDI K: Mark Hajdik. Ma-r-k. Ha-j-d-i-k. |1
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have previously testified before this Division as a expert in
and matters.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Thank you.

MR. HI GGINSON: Hi, |I'm Hank Hi ggi nson. H-a-n-Kk.
H-i-g-g-i-n-s-o-n. | have not testified before, but I intend
to as a reservoir engineer.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Why don't you have a
seat. | have a feeling that Ms. McLean has given nme a CV
sonmewhere in the docunents, but |I'mnot going to | ook at that
ri ght now, but thank you for providing that. Reservoir
engi neer.

MR. HI GG NSON: Yes, sir.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Make sure that you speak
close to the m crophone, because she's going to have trouble
if you don't. What education do you have? First of all,
what does a reservoir engi neer do?

MR. HI GG NSON: A nunber of things. Risk
managenent, understanding risk of assets, asset devel opnent,
ri sk evaluation, financial and econom c eval uation of assets
for devel opnent. Also works in tandemw th other disciplines
within oil and gas, oftentinmes so with mneral land to work
out trades and other dealings with other operators as well.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  What education do you
have? G ve ne the degrees and the dates you earned them and

where you earned them
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MR. HI GG NSON:

Pet rol eum Engi neering fromthe University of Texas, |

that in 2018 May.
Busi ness Adm ni strati on,
to graduate in |late 2027.
HEARI NG OFFI CER
Uni versity?
MR.  HI GGl NSON:
HEARI NG OFFI CER
wi th now?
MR, HI GGl NSON:
HEARI NG OFFI CER
wor ki ng for Perm an?
MR. HI GGl NSON:
HEARI NG OFFI CER

before Perm an?

MR. HI GG NSON:

HEARI NG OFFI CER

MR. HI GGl NSON:
until COctober 2024.

HEARI NG OFFI CER
Endeavor ?

MR. HI GG NSON:
engi neer for

year or so at the end, |

the majority of tine.

| have a Bachel or of Science in

ear ned

I'mcurrently pursuing an MBA, Masters in

from I ndiana University, expecting

CHAKALI AN:  You said | ndi ana
Yes.
CHAKALI AN:  Who are you enpl oyed

Per m an Resources.

CHAKALI AN:  When did you start
November of 2024.
CHAKALI AN:  Who did you work with
Endeavor Energy Resources.
CHAKALI AN:  And for what years?
From when | graduated, so June 2018
CHAKALI AN:  What did you do for
Endeavor, | was a production

And then for around a
was a reservoir engineer. Two roles
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froma high | evel

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  What's the difference
bet ween a production engi neer and a reservoir engi nheer?

MR. HI GGI NSON: They evaluate different portions of

the business. So the reservoir engineer essentially begins

the -- froman engi neering standpoint, begins the
eval uati on process, determ nes which wells to drill, where to
drill them calculates expected returns as a result of those

drilled wells while factoring in risk, as | nentioned before,
as well as any economc inputs. On the production side, they
essentially handl e whatever wells the reservoir engi neer
proposed. So they then produce those wells once they're
online, optim ze them as they should and as they can, and
also try to nitigate costs while operating wells in the nost
environnmental ly and safety consci ous way.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: So it sounds to nme like
a reservoir engi neer evaluates a w der scope of issues than
t he production engi neer.

MR. HI GG NSON: It depends on the specific role.
The econom c aspect has potentially a w der or a higher |evel
of inmpact on an organization individually, but a production
engi neer has a | ot of unique and nuanced projects on a daily
basis to work on. Not literally, but essentially a
production engineer is putting out fires. A production

engi neer is working on a nunber of projects at a wi de variety
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at essentially all times. Wile a reservoir engineer has
| arger capital projects that generally will take a |onger
time to eval uate.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: | understand. And now
at Perm an Resources, what's your job title?

MR. HI GGl NSON: Seni or reservoir engineer.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Are there any
obj ections?

MS. BENNETT: No objections. Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Wonderful. From here on
in the Division sees you qualified as a reservoir engineer,
al so as a production engi neer.

MR. HI GGl NSON: Awesone. Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: There you have it. So
anyway, you can go back and sit down. Thank you for your
testimony. |Is there anything else fromPerman at this tine
before we start with Avant?

MS. MCLEAN: Nothing at this tinme.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  All right. Very good.
Ms. Bennett, in what order do you want to call your
Wi t nesses?

MS. BENNETT: Thank you, M. Exam ner. | woul d ask
| eave to present a brief opening statenent.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: By all nmeans.

MS. BENNETT: And then | intend to call the
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witnesses in the order of |and, geol ogy, and reservoir
engi neeri ng.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Pl ease go right ahead.

MS. BENNETT: Thank you.

OPENI NG STATEMENT

MS. BENNETT: The Avant and Perm an cases involve a
somewhat unusual set of conpeting cases. They both have
proposed cases, both Avant and Perm an, that cover Section 23
only and they have al so proposed cases that cover Section 23
in the north half of Section 26. And that's inportant
because the ownership here is really key. And the ultimte
i ssue for the Division to decide is who should be operator as
bet ween Avant and Permian. And as |'ll discuss in nore
detail, Avant shoul d be awarded operatorship, because Avant
does have majority working interest owner in both the Section
23 units and what |'lIl refer to as the 1.5 mle units, which
are the 23 and north half of 26 units. Avant's ownership is
not just the mpjority, it's domnant, and so they should be
awar ded operatorship under the Division's precedent. Avant
is also proposing nore wells across nore benches than
Pernmi an, and so Avant's devel opnent plan will prevent waste
and protect correlative rights. And Avant is a prudent
operator and has a | ot of experience in this area and is
ready to drill these wells.

I want to just talk a little bit nore about the
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wor ki ng interest ownership for a nonent. Avant has the

hi ghest and the majority working interest and worki ng
interest control no matter how the Division |ooks at this.
Avant provided testinony show ng that Avant has in Section
23, | think 95 or 94 percent working interest. |In fact,
Avant just acquired another interest -- is working on
negotiating -- acquiring another interest to add to its
wor ki ng interest control, which will bring it up to 94.1
percent. So that's the difference between Avant's ownership
and Perm an's ownership in Section 23, is over 90 percent.
So it's clear that Avant has not just the mpjority, but the
dom nant ownership in Section 23.

And |l ooking at the 1.5 mle cases, Avant again has
the majority and a significant increase over Pernmian's
wor ki ng interest and working interest control. Avant now
will have 64.04 percent due to the pending acquisition of the
Trainer interests and this is 30 percent nore than Perm an's.
So this is a significant difference between working interest
control between the two parties.

And Permian in its exhibits advanced an argunent
that Avant's working interest control numbers were inflated.
But Perm an's exhibits are actually based on a hypothetical
future scenario that has not cone to pass. Avant's exhibits
are based on today's record title and that is the record

title that Avant believes the Division should consider. Even

Page 27

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

if the Division does accept Permian's invitation to review
the nore hypothetical ownership ampunts, Avant still has the
majority interest and still has a donminant interest. Even
under that scenario, Avant's ownership is so nmuch greater
than Permian's. It ranges from 20 percent in the 1.5 mle
wells to 75 percent greater than Perman's in the Section 23
wel I's. Awardi ng Avant operatorship is in line with a nunber
of OCD precedents in using those sanme figures.

One of Perm an's mjor concerns in their materials
is that Avant is not proposing to devel op the Second Bone
Spring shale, which we'll get into in quite a bit of detail,
but that argument actually falls flat when we | ook at the
facts here.

First, Permian didn't drill Second Bone Spring shale
wel l's right next door. The Second Bone Spring shale is not
going to be stranded, which is one of Perm an's main points.
Permian is not initially targeting the Aval on or the
Wbl f canp, the Lower Wbl fcanp or the Wl fcanp, the Upper Pen.
And so Perm an's argunent that sonehow | eavi ng behind
reserves in a 0.5 mle stretch is going to be stranding,
falls flat when you consider that Perm an is |eaving behind
1.5 miles of three different benches.

And finally, and | think this is fatal to Perm an's
applications, none of Perm an's Second Bone Spring

applications actually include a pooled interval that

Page 28

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

corresponds to their Second Bone Spring shale wells. So
their Second Bone Spring applications do not include a pool ed
interval that captures the wells upon which they are
supporting nost of their opposition to Avant's applications.
And so those applications may need to be dism ssed, because
they certainly don't support Perm an's request here.

And Perm an hasn't just denonstrated that it's ready
to begin to develop this acreage. They've had this acreage
since 2023, but Avant has only had this acreage since 2025
and they've undertaken a nunmber of steps to obtain additional
working interests. And Permi an also, like | said, many of
its pooling applications appear to have fatal deficiencies,
and it's proposing AFE costs that we'll talk about |ater,
that are using an incorrect casing design for this particular
area of Lea County, so those costs are inaccurate.

And it recently conpletely changed its surface
facilities. It has solutions that it's posing for problens
that are overly expensive and likely insufficient and Perm an
doesn't seemw lling to devel op the Aval on, Lower Bone Spring
and Upper Pen in the near term which as | nentioned creates
wast e and negatively inpacts correlative rates.

So for these reasons Avant's application should be
granted and Perm an's deni ed.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Thank you. Ms. MLean

do you want to do an opening now or do you want to do an
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openi ng before you present your case-in-chief?

MS. MCLEAN: Now, pl ease.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Go right ahead.

MS. MCLEAN: Thank you. Can't let that go wthout
sayi ng sonet hing, as you know. As Ms. Bennett stated, we are
here about conpeting devel opnent plans. And while Avant
seens to believe they win sinply because of greater working
i nterest ownership and the fact that they're going to dril
more wells, that's sinply not the case.

Permi an Resources's working interest is not
insignificant. Even going with Avant's cal cul ati ons, we have
al nost 33 percent working interest in our one-and-a-half mile
wells, which is not, as | said, insignificant. You wll hear
a lot of testinony about the way that these cal cul ati ons have
been made and this is quite novel, | think, before the
Division, to present this type of ownership interest.

What's going on in Section 23 is that there is an
old ability to convert overriding royalty interest into
wor ki ng interest ownership, and this ability to convert can
be executed after witten notice of the intention to spud
wells. And the overriding royalty interest owner who can
make the el ection can make it at that tine.

So what Permni an Resources has done is present what
it believes to be the nost realistic working interest

ownership that will also be in the Division's best interest
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because we have chosen to pool all potential working interest
owners, not just the ones that have currently made a
premature election to convert, so that we don't have to cone
back at a later tinme and reopen these cases and pool other
wor ki ng i nterest owners who chose to nmake the election at a
| at er date.

So Perm an Resources will present that working
i nterest ownership and those cal cul ati ons and Avant has
chosen to make those calculations in their rebuttal exhibit,
so we will get into that. But even |ooking at Avant's
cal cul ati on, Perni an Resources still owns a significant
interest in these spacing units.

| mportantly, Perm an Resources's devel opnent plan
al so is not stranding resources. |'munsure what Ms. Bennett
is tal king about in us not pooling certain intervals.
Permi an Resources is seeking to pool the First, Second, and
Third Bone Spring intervals in the Wil fcanp Formation in al
of Section 23 and the north half of Section 26. Avant has no
application that is seeking to pool the Second Bone Spring
interval in the north half of Section 26. This is inportant,
as you will hear, because there is no other way to devel op
this Second Bone Spring without the one-and-a-half mle
| aterals that Perm an Resources is going to inplenent in this
spacing unit due to potash drill islands.

So if we do not develop and we do not pool the
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Second Bone Spring in the north half of 26, Coterra, who only
owns in that acreage, is conpletely out of luck and can't
devel op those resources and the State is too, because as
you'll see, this is very, very valuable, the Second Bone
Spring, and produces a lot of reserves. So if Avant

prevails, the Second Bone Spring in the north half of Section
26 will be stranded with no hope for devel opnent.

Permi an Resources's devel opnment plan, you'll hear
is also nore cost efficient and tinmely due to numerous
existing facilities and the offsetting spacing unit, the
Pakse unit, which is operated by Perm an Resources, and it's
directly offsetting with wells less than a thousand feet from
where the Spicy Chicken unit is.

Finally, Perm an Resources has made real plans to
devel op this spacing unit by taking into account H2S. You'l
hear a | ot about that today. |It's an offset of drilling in
this area, and particularly in the Avalon. And due to
Permi an Resources's extensive operations in this area, they
know that that's a real possibility and have taken steps to
be able to drill and operate wells in the future. They don't
intend to do Avalon's in their initial set of wells, nostly

because they want to account for the significant risk and

H2S, you'll hear, can |lead to significant additional costs
associated with drilling, as well as significant safety
concerns with drilling wells in that area.
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Overall, Perm an Resources will show that it will be
in the best position to develop this acreage. |Its ownership
interest is not insignificant, as Avant would |ike you to
t hi nk, and Perm an Resources will best prevent waste and
protect correlative rights.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Thank you both. 1Is
there any other thing you want to do before we call your
first witness?

MS. BENNETT: Nothing fromme, thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Go right ahead.

MS. BENNETT: I'd like to call Tiffany Sarantinos,
pl ease.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Ms. Sarantinos, will you
pull that m crophone closer to you. | know you have a book
there as well. Wuld you, for the record, tell us what you
have in front of you

MS. SARANTINOS: | have the binder of our exhibits
and PR s that have been | abeled and that you guys saw ahead.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  And when you say, "PR,"
you mean Perni an Resources?

MS. SARANTI NOS:  Yes, yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: All right. For the
court reporter, if you would avoid using acronyns or
abbrevi ations, at least at first.

MS. SARANTI NOS:  Yes.
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HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Go right ahead, Ms.
Bennett .

MS. BENNETT: Did you swear the witnesses in?

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Everyone's sworn in.

MS. BENNETT: Okay, great. May | ask for the
ability to share nmy screen

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: By all neans.

MS. BENNETT: And what |'m sharing on the screen are
Avant's pre-filed exhibits and testinony.

DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
Q Ms. Sarantinos, if you could state your name again

and for whom you' re enployed and for how |l ong you've been

enpl oyed.

A My name is Tiffany Sarantinos. |'mwth Avant
Operating and | will have been with Avant for six years in
May.

Q You are famliar with the land matters at issue in

t hese cases, right?

A. Yes.
Q And did you prepare witten testinony?
Yes.

Q And did you prepare at exhibits?
A Yes.
Q And have you had a chance to review your witten

testimony of exhibits since they were subnmitted?

Page 34

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

A Yes.
Q Are there any changes you'd like to make to your

written testinony?

A. Yes, there's a couple.
Q If you could wal k through those one by one. O
actually, I'll ask you questions so the record's clear about

whi ch ones you want to change.

A Perfect.

Q And then we will just make sure everyone understands
what's changing. So the first exhibit that we' ve di scussed
t hat you need to change is the working interest ownership
slides that you prepared; is that right?

A. That is correct. After filing our exhibits we have
acquired the Trainer Partners interest, which would increase
our working interest and our working interest control across
t he board of all of the exhibits for all of the cases.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Ms. Sarantinos, before
you continue. Ms. Bennett, you have an exhibit on the
screen, but | don't know which exhibit it is. |If you're
going to bring up an exhibit, if any party wants to bring up
-- just say what the exhibit is.

MS. BENNETT: Yes. This is Exhibit A4. And this is
an exhibit of the working interest control that will need to
be changed.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: A4. Thank you.
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Q Ms. Sarantinos, can you briefly describe what wil
need to be changed on this exhibit.

A So we would increase in the Section 23 unit, the
unit working interest by 1.74 percent, | believe, and also
the unit working interest control by 1.74 percent interest.

Q And just to be clear, this is the slide that shows
the working interest for Section 23; is that right?

A. That's correct. Before the acquisition, yes.

Q And then the second page of Exhibit 4 would al so
need to be changed; is that correct?

A That is correct.

Q And why woul d this exhibit need to be changed?

This one al so does not reflect the Trainer Partners
acquisition. And in this one, | believe it increases it by
1.61 or one-sixth percent in the working interest and the
wor ki ng interest control.

Q Thank you. And then you al so have exhibits that are
unit recapitulations for each unit, right?

A That is correct.

Q And woul d all of those need to be updated as well to
reflect the Trainer interest being added?

A. That is correct. And the working interest control,
I think we have on that tab as well.

Q The next exhibit that I'"mgoing to bring up is

Exhi bit All, as an exanple. Sorry, there's sonmewhat of a
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del ay between ny conputer and the screen. Do you recognize

this exhibit, M. Sarantinos?

A. The non-standard one?
Q Yes, the non-standard unit exhibits.
Yes.

Q And in this exhibit on the notice parties, which I'm
turning to, and that's page 89 of 322, that's where it
starts. Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q On page 90 of 322, do you see where it says, waiver
pendi ng for BEXP?

A. Yes.

Q And have you received the waiver?

We did, yes. W received it on the 20th.

Q Thank you

A. Yes.

Q And then the last change | believe you have is in
t he di scussion of the chronol ogy of contacts.

A. Yes.

Q VWhich is -- sorry, just finding that. A6.

Yes.

Q And that's your chronol ogy of contacts with Perm an
Resour ces?

A. Yes. We just wanted to add an additional entry that

-- an additional offer was sent over on the 19th. An
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

aggressive offer, actually.

Q So you wanted to update that to show your nost
recent discussions with Perm an?

A. Correct. Trying to work a deal up until today.

Q Thank you. So with those changes, and we'll make
t hose changes when we resubnit exhibits, do you adopt your
testi mony and exhi bits?

A | do.

Q Thank you. | want to ask you to give a brief
sunmary of your direct testimony. So if you don't nind, and
"Il go back to your Exhibit A4, recognizing that it needs to
be updated, but this is the informati on we have in our
materials at the monent. So if you wouldn't mind giving a
brief sunmary of the working interest ownership in each of
the two different types of units and the working interest
control

A Sure. This would be for our 500s. Avant is
applying to pool for the Bone Spring, and this shows that we
have previously the 513.77 additional acres, are obviously
not shown on here. And we have 80 percent, approxi mately,
wor king interest control with additional JOA owners, which
i ncreases our working interest control to the 93, which again
shoul d be increased by that additional 1 percent.

Q So when you subnit the corrected testinmony this wil

show a working interest control of 94 percent.
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A Correct.

Q Turning to the next page of this exhibit. Can you
briefly describe the working interest control -- working
i nterest ownership and working interest control on this
exhi bit.

A Yes. So this one shows Avant is applying to pool

for a 960-acre spacing unit in the Bone Spring and the

Wbl f canp. Again, here you'll see that we have the mpjority
wor ki ng interest and the working interest control. The
wor ki ng interest control, it has the 63 percent approxinate

prior to the Trainer Partners with the parties under JOA,
which would increase it to approxi mately 64 percent.

Q Thank you. And so in both of these slides you're
showi ng that Avant has both the mpjority interest in the
units, that's undisputed; is that right?

A That is correct.

Q And that Avant has the higher working interest
contr ol

A. The significant higher, yes.

Q |'"'mgoing to now turn to your -- is there anything
el se you wanted to say about your direct testinony before |
turn to your rebuttal exhibits?

A | don't think so.

Q I"'mgoing to stop sharing and turn to the rebuttal

exhibits. Wiile I"'mpulling this up, one of the things you
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menti oned that you need to change to your direct testinony is
t he summary of communications with Perm an Resources. In
your opinion, has Avant engaged in good faith negotiation
with Perm an Resources?

A Yes. There was extensive negotiations that have
been happeni ng since -- probably over five nonths. Avant
feels that we were the ones taking charge of all of the trade
tal ks. We took several trades to PR, none of which they
presented any counter-trades. W presented an offer at the
begi nning of April, even after we knew that we were headi ng
to contested hearing. And then again the second aggressive
of fer that was given on the 19th.

Q For sonme reason |'m having sone issues with sharing
today, that does not want to allow nme to share. |'mgoing to
not share for the noment, because it's not allowing ne to.

I don't know if the shared button. Share button is grayed
out on ny conputer, so we'll come back to that in a nmonent,

but you have your rebuttal exhibits in front of you, right?

A. | do, yes.
Q Let's turn to your rebuttal exhibit -- well, first
of all, you prepared a self-affirmed declaration in support

of your rebuttal exhibits, right?
A. Correct.
Q So let's turn to your rebuttal exhibits. You

prepared four rebuttal exhibits; is that right?
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

A That is correct.

Q Can you pl ease explain to the Division why you
decided to prepare rebuttal exhibits when you saw Permi an's
direct testinony?

A I think the biggest exhibit of concern was their
working interest. Their purporting working interest, that
does not exist. It's speculative and can be msleading to
t he Conm ssion. Many assunptions could be made for future
assignments or other activities that will change a working
i nterest, but what should be presented to the Division is
what shoul d be of record today.

Q And that's what you put in your pre-filed testinony;
is that right?

A Correct. And we provided the docunent, yes.

Q When you reviewed Perm an's testinony, did you see
in their testinony the assignment and option to convert to
override that Perm an's counsel was referring to earlier
t oday?

A. They did not provide it, but | remenber seeing a
footnote where they were purporting their working interests,
but under it in red, it basically also supported what we
believe is that these are assumed working interests or
assunptions nade on parties that have not made these
el ecti ons what soever.

Q Thank you. And so, is your Rebuttal Exhibit Al the
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

assi gnment and the agreenent that is the assignnent and
option?
A. That is correct. 1980 assignnment of override

royalty interest.

Q And have you had a chance to review that?
A Yes.
Q Does it allow overriding royalty interest owners to

exercise an option to convert to a working interest?

A Correct.

Q Just in general, are there steps that need to be
foll owed before an option can be exercised?

A Yes, this is not a bl anket assignment of working
interest or |easehold whatsoever

Q So it's not an automatic assighment -- or conversion
is what you're saying?

A. Exactly, yes.

Q To your know edge, has Perni an Resources converted
its override to a working interest?

A. To ny know edge, no. And we checked county records
bef ore com ng here

Q And you reviewed Perm an Resources's rebutta
exhibits, right?

A Yes.

Q And did they provide any docunentation in their

rebuttal exhibits that they had showed that they converted?
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

A. No, they just seemto be conparing -- or restating
again their assunptions of parties that will be converting.
And we have known verbal that sone of those parties do not
intend to convert. So it is inaccurate.

Q Thank you. Even though those are just assuned
numbers and purely hypothetical, you undertook to do an
anal ysis to show, even assum ng those nunbers, that Avant has

the majority interest; is that right?

A. That is correct, yeah.
Q If you could turn to your Rebuttal Exhibit A3. And
again, | apologize that |I'munable to share, but it's

Rebuttal Exhibit A3. |If you could turn to that rebutta
exhibit. Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q Coul d you pl ease describe to the exam ners what
Rebuttal Exhibit A3 is.

A. This is the potential scenario, which just basically
restates that AO Il still holds the nmajority working interest
and mpjority working interest control, even when using PR s
assumed and i naccurate numbers.

Q And what is Avant's working interest control, using
t he assuned conversion?

A In the Section 23, 640-acre unit, it is 85.54. This
i ncl udes our working interest control with JOA owners, Chief

Trainer, TD and Diage. And PR s increases to 10.56, because
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we al so recogni ze their acquisition of WR Non-Op.
Q I'mable to share nmy screen now. So is this Exhibit

A3 that you were just referring to?

A. That is correct, yes.

Q Agai n, this assunmes the conversion has taken place?

A. That is all parties convert, yes, which we also know
is still not accurate, because we know that there are parties

on this list who do not intend to convert.

Q Again, even with assuming all parties convert, Avant
has 85 percent.

A. Yes, a significant working interest. Yeah, control

Q And then turning to Rebuttal Exhibit A4. Are you
seeing that on the screen?

A. Yes.

Q Is this your rebuttal exhibit that addresses the 1.5
nmle lateral s?

A. That is correct, yes. This is for the 960-acre unit
using the sanme, what we believe to be incorrect assunptions.
And this is all parties converting, and you'll see that Avant
still holds the majority working interest control here with
al nost 58 percent conpared to their 38 percent.

Q Thank you. Now, on this one it shows Di age on both
of these slides; is that right?

A Yes, that is correct.

Q And you saw in Perm an's rebuttal exhibits that they
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have a letter of support from Di age and that Di age has signed
Perman's JOA; is that right?

A. | did. Yep, | sawit.

Q Can you explain to the exam ners why you incl uded
Di age in your summary of working interest control
attributable to Avant.

A. Yes. We felt it was correct to |eave Diage in our
wor king interest control, and also |I'm sure they believe the
sanme, because they have signed our JOA. They have expressed
their interest to participate in our unit under the JOA
They al so did not oppose our devel opnent plan, even in the
letter of support that they provided to Permian. It just
says that they support them but it wasn't in opposition of
Avant. And additionally, they did not send us any additi onal
conmuni cation that they no | onger wanted to be under our JOA.

Q And so that's why you're including themin your
owner ship control category.

A. Correct. Even if we were to renpve that, it's such
a small interest that it really doesn't nove the needl e nuch.
It's .2 percent.

Q This reflects the update to include the Trainer
pendi ng acquisition; is that right?

A. That is correct, yes.

Q And by 'this' | mean Exhibit A4, includes Petrol ux

as one of the interests that you're including as conmtted to
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Avant. Do you see that?
A. | do.
Q And did you see in Perman's materials that they are

asserting that Petrolux does not own an interest in section
-- the north half of Section 267

A. | did, yes.

Q And can you explain to the Hearing Exam ner why
you' ve included Petrolux in your exhibit and consider themto
be under your control.

A. Yes. So with the Petrolux entity, it actually was
never released. There is no county records and no BLMfiling
records that noves any interest out of Petrolux. If I would
had to have backed into PR renoving them it would have to be
based on, again, additional assunptions that are not placed
of record. | believe they ran it forward from Monarch, which
is a stranger in title.

Q And so it's your understanding, or Avant's
under st andi ng, that Petrolux does own in the north half of
Section 26.

A Correct.

Q And that's why you've included themin the unit
recaps.

A. Correct.

Q In your tracted maps you did not propose to pool

SITL or Blue Star; is that right?
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A. That is correct. W did not pool them as working
i nterest owners. We have pooled themas their interest is
today, which is of record, and their overriding royalty
i nterest owners.

Q So, in your opinion, the pooling notice that you
sent out and the parties that you intend to pool or seek to
pool are appropriate given the current state of title?

A. That is correct. And | would nmake the assunption
that if they wanted to participate at a later tine, that they
woul d obviously nost |ikely want to be under our JOA, because
we' ve had them under several JOAs before as well. So they

woul d have that option and right to do so |ater

Q Thank you. Is there anything else you wanted to add
while we're -- before | turn you over for cross-exan nation?
A I don't think so.

MS. BENNETT: Thank you very nuch.

MS. SARANTI NOS: Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Ms. McLean

MS. MCLEAN:. Yes. And |I'll probably share ny
screen, too.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Pl ease. When you're
sharing your screen, would you tell the court reporter which
exhibit you are bringing up

MS. MCLEAN: Yes, sir.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Thank you.
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CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. MCLEAN:
Q Good nor ni ng.

A. Good norni ng.

Q I'"mon Avant's Rebuttal Exhibit A Paragraph 11 of
your testinony -- |I'msorry, we're on your regular Exhibit A

A. Okay.

Q. A2, your direct self-affirmed statenent at paragraph

11, where you say that each party's proposing units that
i ncl ude Section 23 and the north half of Section 26 and al so
proposing units that include only Section 23. Correct?

A. Correct.

Q But Avant isn't proposing any units that include the
Second Bone Spring in the north half of Section 26; is that
correct?

A. Correct.

MS. BENNETT: Objection. That is not what is
reflected in the testinony.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  To help me out, what are
you saying is reflected in the testinony?

MS. BENNETT: Avant is proposing to develop the
north half of Section 26 in the Second Bone Spring sand, not
t he Second Bone shale. So that was a vague question in
aski ng whether Avant is proposing to devel op the Second Bone

Spri ng.
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HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Ms. McLean, do you think
that the question could be asked differently or do you oppose
t he obj ection?

MS. MCLEAN: | oppose the objection.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Because?

MS. MCLEAN: Because | think it's clear fromtheir
applications that they are not seeking to pool any Second
Bone Spring wells in the north half of Section 26. And it
expressly says so in one of their applications, which | could
point out for the Division.

MS. BENNETT: M apol ogi es.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  You withdraw t he
obj ecti on?

MS. BENNETT: Yes, | do.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Did you answer the
guestion, Ms. Sarantinos?

MS. SARANTI NCS: | did.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  What did you answer, |
didn't hear it?

MS. SARANTI NOS: We did not.

MS. MCLEAN: Do you want me to reask the question at
this point?

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Because now t hat nakes
me even nore confused, your answer is making me -- would you

ask the question again.
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MS. MCLEAN: Avant isn't proposing any units that
include -- sorry, | already asked -- this is --

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Go ahead.

MS. MCLEAN: | was second guessing nyself on reading
for a noment. So Avant isn't proposing any spacing units
that include the Second Bone Spring and the north half of
Section 26, correct?

A Correct.

Q And Perm an Resources does have one-and-a-half nile
|aterals that extend into the Second Bone Spring in the north
hal f of Section 26, correct?

A. Correct.

Q And Avant doesn't own anything in the Second Bone
Spring in the north half of Section 26, correct?

A. Nei t her does PR, correct.

Q | didn't ask you that. | just saw you wink at ne.
That's cute. But ny question was, Avant doesn't own anyt hing

in the Second Bone Spring in the north half of Section 26,

correct?
A. Correct. |It's owned a hundred precent by Coterra.
Q Who is here today supporting Perm an Resources's

application, correct?
A. | believe that's what he said and he said he did not
oppose Avant's.

Q But Coterra said that they support Perm an Resources
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in the devel opnent, because they think they will best devel op
this acreage, correct?
A He m ght have said that, yes.
Q So at this time Avant hasn't included any worKking
i nterest calculations that include interest owned in the
Second Bone Spring in the north half of Section 26, correct?
A. Correct.

Q. Let's go to paragraph 16 of your testinony. Right

A. Yes.

Q For the conpeting cases covering Section 23 in the
north half of Section 26, AO Il has 62.88 percent working
interest control and 53.52 working interest and Perm an owns
32.99 percent, correct?

A. Wt hout the additional Trainer interest, but yes.

Q And Trainer is one of those parties that has that

ability to convert from an override --

A An additional interest could be --

Q Can you let ne finish asking nmy question before you
answeri ng.

A. Sure.

Q Thank you. Trainer is one of those parties that has

the ability to convert an overriding royalty interest to a
wor ki ng interest, correct?

A. Yes, a portion of his interest can be converted.
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Q Thank you. TD M nerals, who Avant al so has |isted
as a working interest owner, has actually nade that
conversi on?

A. Correct.

Q Let's go to Avant Exhibit A9 and we'll go to the
second page, and that's page 84 of their exhibit packet. So
TD M nerals here is shown as 3.17 percent in the tracted
wor ki ng interest ownership, correct?

A Correct.

Q And that working interest percentage is the working
interest they get after making the election fromthe override
to the working interest ownership?

A No. These are all record title interests. So this
is their purported -- or their correct working interests as
of today.

Q But they did have the ability to convert from an

override to a working interest owner, correct?

A. Yes.

Q And they made that election to convert, correct?
A Yes.

Q And so, does this take that into account, the

el ection to convert?

A Yes, it displays their current record title
i nterest.
Q So that would be their initial working interest plus
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the additional working interest they gained as a result of

converting fromthe override to the working interest owner,

correct?
A. Presumabl y, yes.
Q And you actually have Perm an Resources |isted on

Exhi bit A9 tw ce, correct?

A Yes.

Q. Or Eart hstone, who was the working interest owner
here.

A. Yes.

Q And why do you list themtw ce?

Sorry. So you're referring to like the Tract 1 and
then the Tract 2 interest?

Q Yes.

Because they own differing working interests within
t hose tracts.

Q And so, if you add up their total interest ownership
here it's over 33 percent; is that correct?

A Yeah, approxi mately.

Q And | think you said in your direct testinony that
the Division should only consider what is of record today,
correct?

A. Correct.

Q Let's ook at your rebuttal exhibit that you

ment i oned, assignment of overriding royalty interest and
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options. And this is of record, correct?

A Thi s docunent ?

Q Yes.

A. Yes.

Q And so the ability of an overriding royalty interest

owner to convert to the working interest is, quote, of record
as you would termit?

A. No, | would disagree with that. This is an
assi gnment of an override, which has been docunmented. The
option to convert is an action that has to be taken.

Q But that option is not of record?

A No. | would say, no. This is an assignnment of an
overriding. This is not a |easehold assignnent.

Q Your Rebuttal Exhibit A2, and this is like a
shrunken version of what's of record, right?

A. Yes.

Q You call out that this person is granted the option
of converting their overriding royalty interest to a working
i nterest, correct?

A Yes.

Q I'd also like to go to what's been nmarked as -- and
this one is Perm an Resources Rebuttal Exhibit A13, Avant did
not stipulate to the adm ssion of, so | would like to attenpt
to use it on rebuttal and enter it that way. | don't know

what the Division would prefer.
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  You're tal king about C5
now?

MS. MCLEAN: I'm tal king about our Exhibit Al13,
which Avant did not stipulate to, and it's a side-by-side
conmpari son of working interest ownership.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  And you would like to
use it now for denonstrative purposes?

MS. MCLEAN: | can use it for denonstrative, that's
fine.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: That way we don't have
to worry about admtting it. So, to be clear for the court
reporter, Exhibit Al3, you said?

MS. MCLEAN: Al3, yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  A13, which is not
admtted into evidence, is going to be used for denpbnstrative
purposes only. |Is there an objection to that, Ms. Bennett?

MS. BENNETT: Not to use as a denonstrative. | wll
say it's cunul ative and duplicative of the materials in the
record al ready.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  You can redirect of
cour se.

MS. BENNETT: Yes, of course.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: "1l allow it as
denonstrati ve.

MS. MCLEAN: Thank you
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Q This is Perm an Resources Exhibit Al13. Have you

revi ewed this?

A. Yes.

Q I'll see if | can make it a little bit bigger
Thank you.

Q And so, on these tables, Perm an Resources |ists al

t he working interest owners, including those that have the
ability to convert fromthe override to a working interest
owner, correct?

A. Yes.

Q And then you see in Table 2, the Perm an Resources
wor ki ng interest calculations, it has additional interest
owners of the SITL and Blue Star Royalty, correct?

A Correct.

Q And they have the ability to convert their
overriding royalty interest into a working interest, correct?

A. They have the option, yes.

Q And you did not include them as potential working

interest parties to be pooled, correct?

A. Correct. W pooled themas an overriding royalty,
right.
Q And not working interest, correct?

A. Correct.
Q Let's go back to Avant's Exhibit Al13. |It's page 101

of Avant's full exhibit packet. And this shows Avant's
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

Second Bone Spring devel opnent, correct?

A. Yes.

Q And the only Second Bone Spring devel oprment that
Avant has is one mle laterals in Section 23, correct?

A. Yes.

Q And you don't account for Perm an Resources's
ability to convert their overriding royalty interest to a

working interest in this table, do you?

A. No, we displayed the working interest of record in
t hese.
Q And Avant doesn't have any Second Bone Spring wells

in this exhibit that include the north half of Section 26; is
t hat correct?

A. Correct.

Q So your working interest breakdown here for the
Second Bone Spring wells wouldn't include Coterra, because
they only own in the north half of Section 26, correct?

A. Correct.

Q And at this point Avant has no plans to devel op the
Second Bone Spring in the north half of 26; is that correct?

A I would actually defer to one of ny reservoir
engi neers or geol ogi sts.

Q Wel'l, you have no applications that have included
that acreage; is that correct?

A. I would let them speak on potential future
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

devel opnent .
Q No, no, |'masking currently before the Division
Do you have any applications that include --
A. Yes.
Q -- the Second Bone Spring in the north half of --
A We do not.
MS. MCLEAN: Thank you. No nore questions.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Thank you. M. MCl ure.
MR. MCCLURE: Thank you, M. Hearing Exam ner.
EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. MCCLURE:
Q Ms. Sarantinos, can you please briefly describe for

me the depth severances that is within the proposed units?

A I would like to defer all of those to our ops
technical teamas well, if | may.
Q Are the depth severances not referenced within your

self-affirmed statenment?

A. | do not believe so, no.

Q Are you aware of which depths Avant w shes the
Division to force pool in each case?

A General |y speaking, yes.

Q Do you believe it's Avant's intention for the
Division to force pool the entirety of the Bone Spring split
up by the depth severance?

A. Excl udi ng the Second Bone, yes.
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Q Excl udi ng the Second Bone, can you clarify what you
mean by that.

A Excl udi ng the depth severances that we listed in our
Bone Springs applications.

Q | see. So when you said, "excluding the Bone Spring
2," you were inplying that's the break between the Bone
Spring 1 and the Bone Spring 3, is that all you were
referring to?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q Do you know if Avant would like the Division to
force pool the Second Bone Spring carbonate?

A I do not believe so. They have been pulled by
Coterra previously.

Q I don't have a page reference here, do you know for
sure where your self-affirmed statement is occurring within
t he exhi bit packet?

MS. BENNETT: M. MClure, | can help with that and

then I can pull it up on the screen in just a second, but her
self-affirmed statenent starts at page 40 of 122. |I'm sorry,
of 322.

MR. MCCLURE: Thank you, Ms. Bennett.

MS. BENNETT: | have it pulled up here on the
screen, if that's hel pful

MR. MCCLURE: |I'malso |looking at it on my nonitor

her e.
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

Q Ms. Sarantinos, |'mlooking at page 46 where you
start tal king about case nunber 25829, paragraph 46 | ooks
like it's the start of that section.

A. Yes.

Q Do you see paragraph 47 where it seens that Avant is
asking to force pool the entirety of the Second Bone Spring.

Do you see the sentence I'mreferring to?

A Yes.

Q Do you think that's accurate or not?

A. ' m not sure.

Q So is it possible that naybe what you neant was

Second Bone Spring sand?
A Yes.
Q Whi ch of Avant's |ater expert witnesses would be

able to best speak upon what Avant's intent is here?

A. "Il let them decide, but | assune they both are
pr epar ed.
Q Whi ch of Avant's |ater expert w tnesses would be

best able to speak on the depth severances within the
proposed units?

A. Qur geol ogi st, John Har per.

Q " m | ooking at your breakout of interest. The first
one is on page 84, looks like. |1'mlooking specifically at
Petrol ux I ncorporated. Can you provide a little bit nore

detail as to what you mean when you say, "under contract"?
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A. We will be acquiring this interest.

Q But when you say it's under contract, is it
currently under contract, and what are the terms of those?

A. That's correct, it is currently under contract with
pl ans to cl ose probably within the next week or so.

Q Pl ans to close within the next week or so. So when
you say it's under contract, what do you actually nmean by
that, | guess?

A. I nmean, we have no reason to believe this will not

be closing. W' ve been working with these parties for a very

| ong tine.
Q But as of right now, what is currently executed?
A. We have a letter agreement with them |It's just the

diligence period that is running right now.

Q So then you have a signed |letter of agreement from
this entity that states what?

A Confidential information, but that we intend to
close for a set dollar anount.

Q So essentially they've signed an agreenment -- and
I'mnot worried about the details, other than this agreement
states that they intend to sell their interest to Avant; is
that correct?

A. That is correct.

Q And do they have the ability to back out of that

deal ?
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

A | would have to revisit the contract, but | do not
bel i eve so, no.

Q Well, | guess regardless of that, is it accurate to
say that this entity was provided notice of this application?

A Yes, that is correct.

Q In regards to the difference in interest between
Avant and Pernmian, is the entirety of that difference
attributable to this conversion between overriding royalty
interest owners to working interest?

A. It is not, no.

Q And | believe you spoke on it a little bit earlier,
but can you give nme another brief sunmary as to the other
di vergence, | guess, beyond the overriding royalty interest

conver si on.

A. Could | peek at our cheat sheet?
MS. BENNETT: | think what he's asking you is just
to -- I'mnot trying to -- may | --

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Go ahead.

MS. BENNETT: -- assist the witness a little? |
t hi nk what he's asking you, Ms. Sarantinos, is to run through
your working interest recap to explain the difference in
current title as between Avant and Permian in terns of the
interests that you have under your contr ol

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: |Is that correct, M.

McCl ure?
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MR. MCCLURE: | nean, | believe so. Essentially I
was asking for -- well, let ne restate ny question and maybe
Ms. Bennett's might be nore easier for the expert witness to
understand. But essentially what nmy question was, | asked if
all of the differences in what Perm an believes the working
interest to be and what Avant believes the working interest
to be, if that can entirely be attributable to these override
conversions. Your response had been, no, it cannot, or does
not address all of the differences. M follow up question
is, what are the differences that are not explained by the
conversion of overriding royalty interest to working
interest?

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Let me ask the wi tness,
do you understand the question now?

MS. SARANTI NCS: Not fully, no.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: M. MCure, it's not
clear to the witness. | think |I understand it, but | think
-- do you renenber the question where you answered no to,
just a little while ago? Where he asked you about how it's
attri butable and you said, no, it's not attributable to that
factor.

MS. SARANTI NOS:  Uh- huh.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  You do renenber that?

MS. SARANTI NOS:  Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  And what did you nean
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when you said, "no." Let ne hear your answer.

MS. SARANTI NOS: | thought he was asking, is our
interest differential only attributable to the override
docunent, and it is not. W still have a substantially
hi gher working interest without any of those conversion
scenari os.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: M. MClure, were you
tal king about the interest differential or something else?

MR. MCCLURE: |'mtalking about the interest
differential.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Ckay. You have the
answer now. So why don't you ask a followup to what she
just said.

MR. MCCLURE: Well, ny followup | guess -- it's
kind of nmy original question, | guess. M. Sarantinos, you
said that there is an additional change, an additional

difference in what Avant believes its interest to be.

A. Yes.

Q What are you referring to?

A. Just our acquisition of the Trainer Partners, LTD,
whi ch just increases our interest in the -- | think we're

| ooking at the 960 unit, by the additional 1.16 percent
wor ki ng i nterest.
Q So other than the acquisition of Trainer Partners,

and consideration of conversion of overriding royalty
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

i nterest owners to working interest owners, is there any
di fferences between what Avant believes the interest to be

and what Perm an believes the interest to be?

A. I think our only difference in title, per se, is the
Petrolux entity, which is the eight acres, which is still not
very substantial. |It's |ess than one percent difference.

Q And I'Il ask themthis, but do you know who they

beli eve those eight acres to be attributed to?

A. Yes. They believe it ends up with Earthstone
Perm an.

Q So then their interest is what you're saying; is
that correct?

A. That is what they are saying, correct.

Q Just a few pages down, page 86. This slide seens to
be tal ki ng about your non-standard spacing unit, your NSP
application. Do you see what |'mreferring to, M.

Sar anti nos?

A. Yes.

Q In your depiction on the right-hand side of the
screen, is there a reason that you' re depicting two separate
spacing units or is this sinply a typo?

A. It nust be a typo, because | think those are the
approved CTBs that we have plans for.

Q To your understanding, it is accurate that Avant

intends to have two central tank batteries, though; is that
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

correct?

A. | believe so, but | will defer that to reservoir,
but yes.

Q So then the typo here, potentially the only typo
woul d be the HSU. It should depict a singular HSU rather
than two of then is that correct?

A. Of the units, the two separate units into one?

Q. Yes. |Is it accurate to say that it should only
depict a singular non-standard spacing unit on the right-hand
depiction?

A. Yes.

Q W thin any of your direct exhibits here, do you
i ncl ude a breakout of the costs associated with all proposed

facilities and well s?

A. | did not, no.
Q Excuse ne, | guess that would be one of the later
experts. | apologize. That wouldn't be in your exhibits

regardl ess. Earlier you referenced that Avant has received
written waiver fromBEXP; is that correct?

A. BEXP? Yes, that's correct.

Q And is that in regards to all of the cases?

A. Yes, yes. | believe we listed themall in the
wai ver noti ce.

Q Very good.

MR. MCCLURE: Thank you, Ms. Sarantinos. M.

Page 66

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

Heari ng Exami ner, at this point | don't have anynore
gquestions for this expert w tness.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Thank you, M. MCl ure.
Before we go to any redirect, let's take a five m nute break.

(Recess at 10:27 a.m to 10:34 a.m)

MR. MCCLURE: M. Hearing Exam ner.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Yes.

MR. MCCLURE: When we do come back, | have one nore
guestion for Ms. Sarantinos.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  It's 10:34 a.m W are
back on the record and M. MC ure has anot her question for
Ms. Sarantinos.

MR. MCCLURE: Thank you, M. Hearing Exam ner

Q Ms. Sarantinos, is it accurate to say that
originally Avant was asking for a 800 series of wells to be
dedi cated to the proposed Wl fcanmp unit?

A Yes, that is correct.

Q Is it also accurate to say that Avant now wi shes to
no | onger request those wells to be dedicated to the proposed
Wol fcanp unit?

A We do intend to apply for them but we were just
correcting one froma previous case two weeks prior, where we
know it needed to have a correct pool code. So instead of
having to address that issue here, we thought it would be in

the Division's best interest to reapply with the appropriate
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

pool code. But our intent is still to devel op those 800s.
Q Now, when you referenced the appropriate pool code,
do you nmean to inply that Avant will be requesting a forced

pooling case in the Cisco and Canyon fornmations?

A | believe that is the correct one, yes.

Q But for these cases that we're hearing today, is it
accurate to say that Avant is no | onger requesting those 800
series wells?

A. Yes, that's correct.

MR. MCCLURE: Thank you, Ms. Sarantinos. M.
Hearing Exam ner, | now no | onger have any nore questions.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Thank you, M. MC ure.
Ms. Bennett.
MS. BENNETT: | just have one really brief redirect.
REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. BENNETT:

Q Ms. Sarantinos, do you recall being asked by M.
McCl ure about the depth severances in the Avant applications?

A. Yes.

Q You're generally famliar with the depth severances
in the applications; is that right?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q And you defer to M. Harper and M. Kelly to talk
about those nore, later?

A. Yes, correct.
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

Q And is that because the Avant team worked on
defining the depth severances together?

A Yes, that's correct.

MS. BENNETT: Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  |Is there any recross on
t hat one answer?

MS. MCLEAN: No.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: M. MCl ure.

MR. MCCLURE: M. Hearing Exam ner, maybe just one
foll ow-up on that.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Ask as many as you |ike.

MR. MCCLURE: Thank you, M. Hearing Exam ner.

EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. MCCLURE:

Q Ms. Sarantinos, is it still accurate that M. Harper
woul d be able to provide a nore detailed response as to
Avant's intent and for those depth severances?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q So do you have anything further from your reviewto
add on that topic of depth severance?

A | do not.

MR. MCCLURE: Thank you, Ms. Sarantinos. Thank you,
M . Hearing Exam ner.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Thank you. May this

Wi t ness be excused?
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

MS. BENNETT: Yes, thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Thank you. Ms. Bennett,
through this witness all of the A exhibits, including the
rebuttal exhibits, have been entered.

MS. BENNETT: Yes, thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: | thought they had. And
you have sonme corrections to nake.

MS. BENNETT: Yes, we do.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  And you've written them
all down. You have a record of those?

MS. BENNETT: | do.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Sounds good. W'l dea
with that at the end of the hearing. Do you want to cal
your second witness.

MS. BENNETT: Yes. | would like to call John Kelly.
I'm sorry, John Har per.

DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. BENNETT:
Q Good norning, M. Harper. |f you would please say
your nane for the record.
A John Har per.
And by whom are you enpl oyed?
Avant Operati ng.

And how | ong have you worked for Avant Operating?

> O > O

Since inception of operating, so al nbst seven years
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this Cctober.

Q What is your title at Avant Operating?

A. Seni or Vice President of Assets and Exploration.

Q And you prepared testinmony and exhibits for the
heari ng today, did you not?

A | did.

Q Are there any changes you need to nmake to your
testi nony?

A. No.

Q And do you adopt your testinony and exhibits?

A. Yes.

Q I'd like to ask you to give a brief sunmary of your
direct testinony. So if you could give a brief sumary of
the geology in the area.

A. Yes. This shows our plan within Lea County, New
Mexi co, showi ng the devel opnment plan of the Aval on, the First
Bone Spring sand, the Second Bone Spring sand, the Third Bone
Spring sand, the Upper Wbl fcanp and Lower Wl fcanp. And as
Ms. Sarantinos just discussed, we are planning on refiling
the 800 Series Cisco Canyon wells later.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: \What are you show ng

now?
MS. BENNETT: |'mgetting ready to show an exhibit,
but I'mnot quite there yet. |'mjust getting |lined up.
Q Did you prepare a slide that shows an overvi ew of
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the conpeting cases?

A. Yes.

Q And is that your slide B4?

A. Yes.

Q And is this a summary of what you just stated about
the different targets that Avant is seeking to pool?

A. That is correct. It shows our devel opnent plan of
the Avalon, the First Bone Spring sand, the Second Bone
Spring sand, the Third Bone Spring sand, Upper Wbl fcanp and
Lower Wbl fcanp versus Perm an Resources exclusion of the
Aval on, only four wells in the First Bone Spring sand. A
ni xture of Second Bone Spring U-turn and shal es, and then
various Third Bone Spring sand, Upper Wl fcanp, and no | ower
Wol f canp devel opnent.

Q And just really quickly, on your geology slides that
we went through a nonment ago very briefly, is it your
under st andi ng, or based on your opinion, that all of the
targets that you're seeking to pool in these benches are
prospective?

A Yes.

Q And what |I'm pointing to here is the Perm an
Resources proposed 201H well, do you see that? O Upper
Wl f canp devel opnent, do you see that?

A Yes.

Q Do you see how the 201H well is depicted at a slant?
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A | do.

Q Did why did you depict it that way?

A. Based on their proposals, that's how they define
their bottom hole | ocation, stopping in Lot C and stopping
short of the full mile-and-a-half unit. So I just nmade it
how t hey depicted it.

Q Thank you. Is it your opinion that Perm an has
properly pool ed the Second Bone Spring interval inits
applications?

A. No.

Q I'"mgoing to turn to an exhibit that | think m ght
hel p us talk through this, which is your Exhibit B8. Are you
seeing that exhibit?

A Yes.

Q And this is an exhibit you prepared, right?

A. Yes.

Q And is it an exhibit that shows the Hanson State
Vel | ?

A. Yes.

Q And why is the Hanson State Well relevant to our
di scussion that we're about to have?

A. It's a well that's in close proximty, but it's also
t he exact well that Perm an Resources used in their proposals
and pooling applications to define their intervals of

i nterest.
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Q Have you revi ewed Pernmi an's Second Bone Spring
application?

A. Yes.

Q Applications. And do you recall that in their
Second Bone Spring applications they are seeking to pool from
approximately -- and | should have had it right here in front
of you, but |I don't. But from approxi mately 9444 and bel ow.

A Yes, | believe that's correct.

Q Just to orient ourselves, this is a log of the
Hanson and you've shown here the First Bone Spring, and then
down bel ow you start the Second Bone Spring sand.

A That's correct.

Q Approxi mately where on this cross-section would the
top of the Second Bone Spring shale be?

A. Using the Hanson well that they referenced in their
applications, the depth marks are 100-foot intervals. So I
woul d say approximately 92 or 91, 90 feet TVD using the
Hanson well, that correlates to the Snoddy well roughly 9225,
is the top of the Second Bone Spring shale, also known as the
Second Bone Spring carbonate.

Q So, in your opinion, the top of the Second Bone
Spring shale is at approximately 92 -- 91907

A. Correct.

Q And the Second Bone Spring shale wells that Perm an

is seeking authority fromthe Division to pool are at what
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depth, do you recall, approximtely?
A Usi ng the Hanson well right there, | believe
approxi mately 93ish or 9250. | don't renenber the exact

depth, but within the Second Bone Spring shale interval.

Q | can | ook back, but | recall it's at 9330, does
t hat sound about right?

A That sounds about right.

Q So, in your opinion, is 9330 within the interval
that Perman is seeking to pool for its Second Bone Spring
sand or -- excuse nme, Second Bone Spring well, which starts
at 94447

A. I would disagree with that. Their Second Bone
Spring shale wells are well above the Second Bone Spring
interval, as they defined it.

Q. So their Second Bone Spring application does not
i nclude the Second Bone Spring wells.

A That is correct.

Q. And those wells, in fact, are in the -- are those
wells in the First Bone Spring then?

A As they defined it, which | believe is incorrect.

Q I'"mjust going to | ook at one of their applications
real fast. Actually, I"'mlooking at M. Hajdik's direct
testinmony and he says in his direct testinony that the first
Bone Spring applications will be fromthe top of the Bone

Spring to the base of the First Bone Spring interval as
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approxi mately 9444. |In your opinion, is the base of the Bone
Spring interval at 94447

MS. HARDY: M. Examiner, | have an objection to
this |ine of questioning.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Let's hear it.

MS. HARDY: It's that this issue could and should
have been addressed in M. Harper's direct testinony and it
was not, so this is unfair surprise. He had an opportunity
to address that and that has not been done. This is the
first time we're hearing about any of this.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: So the concept of X
shoul d have been part of his direct. VWhat is X?

MS. HARDY: This apparent argunment that Perm an
Resources's Second Bone Spring applications don't include the
correct depths for the Second Bone Spring.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALIAN: |I'mtrying to understand
the objection fully before | go to Ms. Bennett. \Why should
t hat have been in his direct?

MS. HARDY: Because Avant has had the depths of the
wells since they received the well proposals and they're
i ncluded in Permian's applications, and so this would have
been a topic appropriately addressed in direct testinony, to
whi ch we could respond. It's also not included in the
rebuttal testinmony. This is conpletely new.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALIAN: | see. It's not in the
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rebuttal testinony either.

MS. HARDY: Right.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Ms. Bennett.

MS. BENNETT: Thank you. First, Avant did not have
the opportunity to put this in their direct testinmony. This
becane apparent to Avant after we submtted the direct
testimony, and so it wasn't -- it's not sonething that was
intentionally left out of our direct testinony. It was upon
review of Perm an's exhibits that Avant realized the error in
Perm an's applications. |In fact, we have an exhibit in our
direct testinmony that is in line with what Avant thought the
Perm an plan was. So it wasn't as if we were trying to not
put this in the direct testinmony. |In fact, during the direct
testi mony we thought the plan was what | think Permn an
t hi nks the plan was.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  And before you go on,
you said you have an exhibit that shows what you were
t hi nki ng before you got their exhibits. What exhibit is
t hat ?

MS. BENNETT: |It's a reservoir engineering exhibit.
"Il have to find it.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: | think the reservoir
engi neer is here for Avant. Do you want to just tell her
what exhibit that would be?

MR. HARPER: It's exhibit -- sorry. |It's page 288
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of 322.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Perfect. Thank you.
Let nme know when you have it, Ms. Bennett.

MS. BENNETT: It's right here.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  This is it?

MR. HARPER: No, it's --

MS. BENNETT: Sorry. Right here, sorry. It just
t ook a second.

MR. HARPER: Yes, that's correct.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  This is the proper one?

MR. HARPER: This is it.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  What exhi bit number is
t his?

MS. BENNETT: C3.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: |'m sorry, what?

MS. BENNETT: C3.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  C3.

MS. BENNETT: Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  And that's been adm tted
into evidence?

MS. BENNETT: It has been.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  So show me where on here
this shows that you originally thought that -- well, what you
sai d before.

MS. BENNETT: Right. So | believe it's the --
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actually, it's these wells right here. Do you see those

Upper --

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: | don't see anything,
it's too small. Can you make it a little bigger?

MS. BENNETT: Sure. Do you see this 141H?

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Not vyet.

MS. BENNETT: My screen is just really slow today.
Now are you seeing the 141? |I'mtrying to circle it with ny
nmouse.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALIAN: | do see it here, but
what does it say over there on the |eft side, Second Bone
Spring?

MS. BENNETT: Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: | see it here now 141H
t hat says. Okay, go ahead.

MS. BENNETT: So this is the plan that Avant thought
was bei ng proposed by -- and to be fair, Perm an is seeking
to target the Second Bone Spring shale, that's not the
guestion. The question is whether their applications are
legally sufficient, because they do not -- the Second Bone
Spring shale application -- or the Second Bone Spring
application does not include these steps. And in terns of

unfair surprise, this is not an issue that it's Avant's

burden to prove that PR s applications are incorrect. It's
not Avant's duty to alert Permi an to that. In fact, Perm an
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has been repeating this same error since 2023, | think, when
they first filed their applications before the Division. So
there's no reason that Avant woul d have had any know edge

t hat Perm an was using the wong depths until we started

| ooking into it.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  So this is your exhibit.

MS. BENNETT: It is.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: So this shows that you
were thinking that the 141H and the 143H were in the Second
Bone Spri ng.

MS. BENNETT: Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  And then, what exhibit

that Permian filed tipped you off that the depths are not

correct?

MS. BENNETT: |I'mnot certain if it was a particular
exhi bit, but nore that when -- once Avant received Pernian's
exhibits, it started really distilling and drilling down into

the materials and that's when it realized that the depths
t hat Perm an was seeking to pool, do not correlate with the
depths of the wells that Perm an is proposing in the
applications.

HEARI NG OFFlI CER CHAKALI AN: Now, the allegation, and
t he objection was, that Avant has had the depths that Perm an
was attributing to the Second Bone Spring in their well

proposals, and this would have been of course many nonths
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ago. \What's your response to that?

MS. BENNETT: The well proposals do not include the
sane | evel of detail as the applications or the exhibits.

The wel | proposals, in fact, just say 9330 Second Bone
Spring. As far as | recall, the well proposals don't discuss
the depth severance at all. So the well proposals

t hemsel ves, which is what Avant was using to build this slide
of f of, would not have identified any error in the pooling
interval .

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Ms. Hardy, did you have
any follow up to that?

MS. HARDY: Yes. And | think they should have
included it in rebuttal, because they had this information by
the tinme...

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: And, Ms. Bennett, why is
this just comng to Iight now? And why was this not in your
rebuttal case?

MS. BENNETT: M. Exani ner, again, Avant does not
need to identify legal deficiencies in its rebuttal case.
These are deficiencies. This is akin to subject matter
jurisdiction of the Division. This could be raised at any
time. The Division itself could find that this is a materi al
deficiency in Perm an's applications. So whether Avant
raised it inits rebuttal or today, is irrelevant. It's a

material deficiency in Perm an's applications and the
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Division -- there's no need for Avant to have raised it in
its rebuttal testinony.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Ms. Hardy, |'mgoing to
ask for one last follow up fromyou before | go offline for a
mnute and talk to M. MC ure about what he thinks, but your
response to the simlarity subject matter jurisdiction, that
never goes away basically.

MS. HARDY: Well, | don't think it's simlar to
subj ect matter jurisdiction, because | think it's an all eged
-- they're claining it's a | egal deficiency that they could
raise in legal briefing. But |I don't think it's akin to
subject matter jurisdiction.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALIAN: All right. Let's take a
five mnute break. W are off the record.

(Recess at 10:54 a.m to 11:07 a.m)

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  We're back on the
record. It's 11:07 a.m M. MClure and | discussed the

issue. M ruling is that this is not unfair surprise, so |I'm

going to overrule the objection and I'll explain why. This
is an error in the, I won't call it the application, 1'l]
call it the exhibits or I'Il call it the CP-ACT. This is an

error in the CP-ACT, and it's not the sort of evidentiary
i ssue that | believe Perm an would want to call another
witness to rebut in some way. |If M. Hardy does want to do

that, she can explain herself and I'Il give her w de
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| atitude, since this was a surprise to you. | understand
that it was a surprise to you, | just don't see how you woul d
have dealt with it with nore evidence. |It's an error on this
docunent. It can be anmended, as far as | understand, maybe
I'"'m wong about that, | don't know. But | don't find it
unfair surprise to point out an error in your docunent.

Did you ask your question and did you get an answer?

MS. BENNETT: | did, but I would Iike to make a
clarifying remark to your ruling, if possible.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: No, | prefer not to.
Thank you for asking. But | renenber you asked a question
and the objection cane, so | don't believe your wtness
answer ed your question. So would you ask it again.

MS. BENNETT: I will. And I will do my best to
remenber what my question was.

Q In your opinion, is Perm an Resources seeking to
pool the appropriate interval to capture the Second Bone
Spring shale in its Second Bone Spring application?

A. No.

Q And you understand that their applications, in fact,
identify the depth severance, right?

A Correct.

Q So it's not just an issue with the CP-ACT, which you
may not know what that is. Okay. So if | turn to their

applications, which | have one pulled up here. Are you
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seeing this application in case 258337

A. Yes.

Q And do you see that this is an application for the
Second Bone Spring interval?

A Yes.

Q And is this an application for one of the Spicy
Chi cken Second Bone Spring shale wells?

A. Yes, they're 143.

Q Turning the page here. Do you see this paragraph 5?

A. Yes.

Q Does it say, "due to a depth severance in the Bone
Spring formation, applicant seeks to pool an interest in the
Bone Spring interval only from approxi mately 9444 TVD to 9930
TVD, as shown on the Hanson State number 1 well |og"?

A. Yes, at the Second Bone Spring interval only, from
the 9444 TVD to 9930 TVD fromthe Hanson State well | og, yes.
Q I n your opinion, does the 143H well, which is the
subj ect of this application, fall within 9444 TVD to 9930

TVD?

A It does not.

Q And is that true for the remaini ng Second Bone
Spring shale application, the 1417

A. Yes.

Q I n your opinion, does this sane issue perneate the

First Bone Spring applications? Perm an's First Bone Spring
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applications.

A. Yes. The 141, the 143 fall within the First Bone
Spring interval.

Q Let me see if | can find one of those applications
real fast, so we can look at it in black and white. So here
is the application for case number 25838. Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. And this is an application for the First Bone Spring
interval, right?

A. Yes.

Q And here it has another snippet in the application
itself about the depth severance, right, doesn't it?

A. Yes, it does.

Q And |' m paraphrasing here, but it says that the
depth severance is fromthe top of the Bone Spring to the
base of the Bone Spring interval at approximtely 9444 TVD.
Do you see that?

A | do.

Q In your opinion, is the base of the Bone Spring at
90 -- base of the First Bone Spring, excuse ne, at 9444 TVD?

A I would disagree with that.

Q And is this interval here that's being described in

paragraph 4, is that the interval in which Pernmian is

proposing to pool to actually drill the 141 and 143H wells?
A. Correct. Their second Bone Spring shale, as they've
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defined it, are planned to be within the First Bone Spring
sand -- or First Bone Spring interval, as they defined it.

Q And how do you know t hat ?

A. Based on the TVD that they provided in the
application.

Q And that's because the TVD for the Second Bone
Spring shale wells, the 141 and 143, is at 9330
approxi matel y?

A. Correct.

Q And 9330 woul d be between the base of the First Bone
Spring -- I'msorry, the top of the First Bone Spring to the

base of the First Bone Spring.

A Correct.

Q As they've defined it.

A Yes.

Q And so the sanme issue is -- perneates their First

Bone Spring applications.

A. Correct.

Q And have you undertaken to review their Third Bone
Spring applications?

A | have.

Q I n your opinion, does this issue also present itself
in their Third Bone Spring applications?

A. I would disagree with their Third Bone Spring

applications as well.
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Q And that's because, in your opinion, they do not
accurately reflect the pooled interval; is that correct?

A Correct.

Q Thank you. |I'd like to now turn to your rebutta
exhibits. Did you prepare rebuttal exhibits for these cases?

A | did.

Q And did you prepare a self-affirmed statenent in
support of your rebuttal exhibits?

A. Yes.

Q And is that Rebuttal Exhibit C?

A. Yes.

Q Let's talk about your first rebuttal exhibit, which
is Rebuttal Exhibit Nunmber 1. |'msorry, you reviewed their
testi mony and exhibits.

A. Yes, | did.

Q And what about their testinmony and exhibits I ed you
to prepare this Rebuttal Exhibit Cl, which is entitled,

Aval on is being actively devel oped all around the AO Il Spicy
Chi cken unit.

A One of their exhibits in their direct stated that
operators do not find the Aval on perspective in this area due
to reservoir degradation. | would disagree with that
statenent. | think, based on ny research, six other -- or
five other operators within a six mle radius would al so

di sagree with that statenent, given by the 36 active
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produci ng ducts or pernmits all around the Spicy Chicken unit,
and particularly directly above and directly bel ow the Spicy

Chicken unit itself. So |I whol eheartedly disagree with their
exanm nation of the Aval on being not perspective and | think a
| ot of other operators would also agree with that.

Q Thank you. Another comment that you nmade on this
slide is about the Avant subsurface team and your experience
with the Avalon. Did you want to provide some nore
i nformati on on that.

A. Sure. Current subsurfaces team went into great
detail about the H2S concerns and | think sure, it's probably
a concern to them |It's not a concern to us. The Avant
subsurface team has been devel oping and delineating the
Aval on formation al nost for ten years now at EOG Resources
and Centenni al Resources, which is now Perm an Resources.
Mysel f and anot her, Shane Kelly, who's here today, has been
drilling the Avalon further and further north in Lea
County, New Mexico, and we've drilled one of the furthest
northern Lea County Avalon wells to date. PR did us the
pl easure of calling it out here in their exhibit, the
screenshot to the bottomright. | believe it's the biggest
well on there, it's the Sandra Jean. W have a | ot of great
experience drilling the Avalon. W knowit's sour. We know
the variations and how nuch H2S is present. W have a good

under st andi ng of CO2 and other inert gases and we are
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prepared for it. W've drilled the Avalon all through the
county. we knew it was sour. W stopped drilling it because
it was sour, to put sour gas gathering in place. Wen we
started Avant, we partnered with a m dstream gat heri ng
conpany specifically designhed to take sour gas in this area,
which allowed us to drill the Sandra Jean well. W are
currently drilling the Quail Avalon wells and Nunmber 11
there. There are six wells per section, one-nile |laterals.
It also allowed us to drill Nunber 12, the Lea unit wells,
which are six wells per section spacing. All | have to say
is, we |love the Avalon. W've drilled it in Avant 1. W're
drilling it nowin Avant 2. There are a |lot of other
operators who also love drilling the Avalon in this area, so
this was put together to refute their declaration that the
Aval on is not perspective in this area.

Q Thank you. |In your opinion, does the fact that
Pernmi an has deternined that the Aval on is not perspective in
this area, does that have a negative inpact on Avant's
correlative rights?

A. Yes, they're planning to | eave those reserves behind
by not actively devel oping them

Q Let's turn to your next rebuttal slide, which is
slide B2. Are you seeing that slide on your screen?

A Yes.

Q I'"mnot sure why |I'mgetting so nuch feedback right
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now. |'mgoing to just keep turning nmy mc off and on to
avoid the feedback. But really quickly, would you be able to
tell the Division why you prepared Avant Rebuttal Exhibit C2?
A. Yes. Perm an Resources made a version of this
slide. We replicated it as best we could. And what it
showed is Perm an Resources position in this area as being
dom nant and are -- in contrary, are very little exposure to
this area. | believe they showed only a couple of units that

they attenpted to find operating to information. However, |

feel like they either intentionally or not -- or
uni ntentionally, | don't know, but |I think they didn't | ook
hard enough at Avant Operating Il, specifically the Triple

Stanp pooling order, which is literally adjacent to this
unit, they left out. They also referenced our Avant
Operating | position many tinmes in their direct. So since
they referenced it, we put it on this map to show in gray our
previ ous position that Coterra purchased. Basically just
depicting that we have a |l ot nore experience in this area
than they intentionally let on.

Q Thank you. Now, let's turn to Rebuttal Exhibit B3.
Are you seeing that on this slide?

A Yes.

Q Woul d you explain to the Hearing Exam ner why you
prepared Rebuttal Exhibit B3.

A. Yes. After reviewing their exhibits, their proposed
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surface | ocations, pads, CIBS, flow lines, differed greatly

t han what was previously provided to Avant Operating. So
want to address the difference there. This slide kind of
shows the tineline, but basically in their own testinony,
Per nmi an Resources Spicy Chicken being on site was as far back
as August of 2023. In common course, whenever you're in the
drill island area, surface |locations are [imted. So when

ot her operators propose pads or propose CTBs or propose

pi pelines in the vicinity, it is customary to notify offset
operators of, 'hey, we're going to try to put a CIB here,
hope this doesn't interfere with your plans,’' and that's what
the email at the bottomleft fromJimRutley fromthe BLM
dictates is, Civitas, which is directly north of Spicy

Chi cken, was planning a CTB. So JimRutley notified Avant,
Perm an and Conoco Phillips, which are the offset operators,
of this activity to make sure they weren't affecting our

pl ans. Roger Lowery, which is from Perni an Resources, in the
top, pronptly responded on October 20th, 2025 of, "Jim none
of these proposed CTB locations will inmpact our Spicy Chicken
pad plans.” And then | took a screenshot of the attachnents
t hat Roger Lowery from Perm an Resources attached, and that's
what's depicted on the satellite view below. |t shows four

di stinct Perm an Resources pads and | believe one CTB, and a
pl et hora of pipeline across the whole area. Roger Lowery was

at Avant's BLMon site in Septenber of 2025. Roger Lowery a
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

nmonth later supplied PR and others their proposed plan on
Cct ober 25, and that was the |ast we ever heard of anything
about Perm an Resources's plan. W had no reason to think
that this plan has changed, so we put a slide together that
shows the cost differentials of all these pads and how nuch
surface disturbance it would be, unnecessarily so. And then
we got their exhibits and saw that they now proposed two pads
and one CTB, which is contrary to what they provided us. It
actually |l ooks very simlar to our plan that they were
present for, nearly identical if you will, and this was just
kind of to show why we interpreted their plan originally,
because that's how they gave it to us and, you know, trying
to answer why they changed it. And we also found one of
their own Cl102s updated in April of this year. | don't know
what that's about, but it seenms like their plan is ever
changing and | ooks like it's very simlar to our plan.

Q Thank you. A nmonent ago you referenced the emi
fromM. Rutley at the BLMto Avant and PR, identifying the

changes that Civitas was proposing. Do you recall that?

A. | do.
Q Is that an emmil that you woul d have expected to see
as well, a communication fromBLM if Perm an Resources had

changed its surface facility |ocation?
A. Absol utely. A change of that magnitude woul d

definitely warrant a followup emnil, even potentially a
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

re-on site, if you will, changing from four pads to two pads.
Especially it would warrant at | east an email, if not a re-on
site, if their new pads directly overlap our pads.
Q And as a conpeting operator, would you be entitled
to notice of those changes?
A Yes.
Q Those are the only questions | have. |Is there
anything you wanted to say before | pass you for
Cross- exam nation?
A I don't think so.
MS. BENNETT: Thank you.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Ms. Hardy.
MS. HARDY: Yes, thank you.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY Ms. HARDY:

Q Good norning, M. Harper.

A Good norni ng.

Q It's good to see you.

A You as wel | .

Q Regardi ng the depths of Perm an Resources's

applications and the wells that they're pooling, all of the
wells are in the depths being pooled, other than the Second
Bone Spring shale wells in case nunmbers 25833 and 25844,
correct?

A. Correct.
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

Q And the tops and bottonms of formations are subject
to geological interpretation. Wuldn't you agree with ne?

A. To sone degree, yes.

Q Wth respect to your direct testinony and exhibits
-- can we share the exhibits. You agree that the Avalon in

this area produces significant amunts of H2S, correct?

A. It produces H2S, yes.

Q. And has Avant at this point evaluated the amunts of
H2S?

A We have a general understanding of how nuch H2S it

shoul d produce, yes.

Q And is that amount significant, in your opinion?
A Yes.
Q As you sit here today, does Avant have facilities in

pl ace to address the anobunts of H2S in the Avalon at this
| ocation?

A. They are in process, not in place.

Q Let's | ook at paragraph 22 of your direct testinony
affidavit. You state there that Pernian Resources's failure
to devel op the Aval on | eaves reserves behind, correct?

A At this tine, yes.

Q And | think you said earlier in response to Ms.
Bennett, that Perm an Resources has determ ned the Avalon is
not perspective. Do you recall that testinony?

A. Yes.
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Q Permi an Resources doesn't actually say that the

Aval on is not perspective, do they?

A. I would have to reference their slide. They
reference the degradation in reservoir quality. | don't know
the -- you can turn to the slide, if you would, 1'd like to
| ook at it.

Q well --

A Am | entitled to look at it?

Q -- I"mnot sure which slide you're referring to.

You can point me to it.

A. G ve nme one second, I'Il gladly find it. | believe
it's B20.

Q It doesn't say that the Avalon isn't perspective,
does it?

A. Not verbatim no. Focusing on the degradation of

rock quality would, in nmy opinion, inply the |ack of
prospectivity, in their opinion.

Q Per mi an Resources can devel op the Avalon | ater,
couldn't it?

A. | don't know. | don't know if they can

Q Well, if it deternmined that the Aval on was
perspective, it could develop it, couldn't it?

A. If they chose to, potentially, yes. |If they have
the right infrastructure in place and are able to handle it

or...
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Q Avant's Cut bow devel oprment is approxi mately two
mles to the north, correct?
A Approxi mtely, yes.

Q And Avant did not develop the Aval on at Cutbow, did

A. We did not get a chance to, no.

Q I n paragraph 23 of your statenment, if we can go back
to that. You state there that Perm an Resources's failure to
devel op the Lower Wbl fcanp | eaves reserves behind, correct?

A. At this tine, yes.

Q Perm an Resources coul d devel op the Lower Wbl fcanp
later, couldn't it?

A. Potentially.

Q And agai n, regardi ng the Cutbow devel opnent, Avant
did not devel op the Lower Wbl fcanp at Cutbow, did it?

A. We did not get a chance to, no.

Q And your testinony and exhibits don't discuss
Avant's Al pha Wl f or Gayling devel opnents, do they?

A. Coterra's Alpha WIf for Grayling devel opments?

Q Um

A | believe the Grayling unit is referenced in the
Aval on rebuttal slide | just spoke on.

Q And those units are approximately seven to ten mles

north of this area, right?

A. Appr oxi mat el y.
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Q Let's ook at your rebuttal Exhibit Bl regarding the

Avalon. And this is one of the slides you're using to show

that the Avalon is perspective in this area, right?

A. Yes, m' am

Q And this slide shows pernitted wells, correct?

A. Anmong ot hers, yes.

Q And permitted wells may or may not be drilled,
correct?

A | guess. | nean, operators spent noney to permt
these wells, they obviously plan to drill them but
technically they have the option to pursue drilling or not.

Q In fact, Avant did not drill all of the wells
permtted at Cutbow, correct?

A We did not drill the 503H, yes, | believe so.

Q Isn't it true that Avant did not devel op three of
its permtted wells at Cutbow?

A. I wouldn't know off the top of ny head.

Q So you don't recall?

A I do not recall.

Q And your exhibit here also includes drilled, but

unconpl eted wells, right?
A Correct.
Those are the wells you referenced as DUCs?

Q.
A Yes.
Q

And, in fact, of the devel opnents that you show
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here, and I'mgoing to refer to the nunmbers, only nunbers 7,
9, 12, and 13 include currently producing wells, right?

A 7, 9 12 and 13. Yes, | believe that is correct, in
terms of currently producing wells.

Q Number 7, which is MRC Gavilon, is the closest
devel opnent that you show here to the Spicy Chicken
devel opnment, correct?

A. Of a produci ng Aval on well, yes.

Q And in that developnent, isn't it true that only the

Parent well is producing?
A. | believe so. | believe they have additiona
permits for filling the Avalon in that section. O wunit.
Q And that well is about five mles away from Spicy

Chi cken, right?

A. Four or five, yes.

Q And the other producing wells shown on your map are
nore than, roughly, | think 12 mles away; is that correct?

A. I would refer you to the Sandra Jean, which is a

| arger well on the data set, if not the largest, that is

closer to five or siX.

Q |'"ve got nmultiple screens here, so Sandra Jean --
A. Number 9. Sorry.

Q 9. And if we're calculating the distance.

A. Roughly five nmiles, | would say.

Q Five to six. And at Sandra Jean, only the Parent
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wel | has been drilled there, right?

A. Correct.

Q The cl osest Avalon well to Spicy Chicken that's been
produced is the Big Eddy Anakin 203H, right?

A I woul d disagree.

Q You dis --

A. How far away is the Anakin well?

Q. About four mles, based on the slide here. And you
can see it in the bottomright of your exhibit.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Could we pause for a
monent. |'mnot sure who's testifying right now. You
shoul dn't ask questions to the attorney.

MR. HARPER: Oh, I'msorry. | was just trying to
find where she's referencing.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: No, that's okay. W
have to be careful that we create a record that is accurate
and what the attorney says is not evidence, but what you say
i s evidence.

MR. HARPER: Ckay.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: |Is there any way to
strike that |ast exchange? Please strike the |ast exchange.
So when you asked that question, we're going to strike that
and the answer. So now |let her know that you don't
understand where it is and let her help you, but it's not

testi nony.
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

MR. HARPER: Understood. Sorry.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Go on.

A I don't know how far away the Anakin Well is.

Q And we can zoomin here. It's a little bit blurry,
but it's on the bottomright of your exhibit. And there
you're actually showi ng Perm an Resources exhibit, correct?

A. | see it, yes.

Q. And if you look at the Big Eddy well, we could al so
go to Perm an Resources's exhibit, that would be nore clear,
but it's shown there approximately four mles from Spicy
Chicken. Is that fair?

A Sorry, I'mhaving a hard tine seeing it. For ne it
| ooks like that would be roughly five mles to the west and
it looks like the Gavilon well being roughly four nmiles to
the east. So the Gavilon well |ooks to be a little closer
than the Anakin well you're referencing.

MS. HARDY: Ms. MLean, can you pull up Perm an
Resources exhibit, because | think it provides a clearer
i mage.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  And whi ch exhi bit nunber
are we going to be | ooking at?

MS5. HARDY: (9.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  C9?

MS. HARDY: Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Do you have a copy of C9
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

in front of you?
MR. HARPER: Yes, sir, | just found it.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Ckay. Is it clearer?
MR. HARPER: Yes, sir.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Okay. So | think we're
ready to go.
Q On that exhibit --
Okay, | see it now.

Does it show that it's --

> o >

I would agree with PRC9, that they are both four
mles away. Anakin being four mles-ish to the west and the
Gavilon being four mles-ish to the east. Equal distance.

Q The Bi g Eddy Anakin well only produced for about

three months; is that correct?

A. It appears so, yes.

Q And then it was plugged, right?

A Yes.

Q And that well is not shown on your exhibit that we

were just | ooking at, correct?

A | don't believe so. | don't believe |I went that far
west .

Q If we could please turn to paragraph 9 of your
rebuttal statement. You state there that M. Higginson's
Exhibit C4 regarding Avant's acreage position is too narrow,

correct?
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

A Yes.

Q Let's | ook at your rebuttal Exhibit B2, which is
your map of the acreage positions of Perm an Resources and
Avant . Initially, I want to make sure I'mcorrect, the scale
is different that you provided here for Avant versus Perm an
Resources, right?

A. In ternms of like the spatial distribution between
the two maps, | believe so. It's hard to exactly replicate
Per m an Resources's slide di nensions, but we tried to.

Q And you' ve designated as Avant's acreage, |ands that
are currently operated by Coterra, right?

A Currently Coterra, previously Avant, yes.

Q O all the acreage you've designated as Avant's,
only the blue acreage with bl ack boxes is currently operated
by Avant, right?

A. The bl ue acreage in black boxes, Avant has
operations in, yes.

Q And those are the only operations Avant currently
has in this acreage, right?

A. In this map view, | believe. | could be m ssing
sone vertical wells, but | believe this covers nost of
Avant's current operations, inclusive of the 17 wells we're
currently drilling.

Q When Ms. Bennett was questioning you, you nentioned

the Triple Stanp pooling order. Do you recall that?
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

A

Q

| do.

And Avant doesn't currently have permits for those

wells, does it? The Triple Stanp wells.

A

I'"mnot sure if they're approved yet or not, to be

honest with you.

Q

A.

Certainly they haven't been drill ed.

They have not been drilled, no. They have

submtted, if not approved, permts.

Q

I n paragraph 15 of your rebuttal statenent, you

state that Avant did not receive notice of a change in

Perm an Resources's surface facilities, correct?

A

Q

Correct.

And you al so state that surface changes of this

magni tude may require an additional on-site with the BLM

correct?

A

I think | said they should require, given the

magni t ude.

Q

A

t he size

The testinmony --

Ch, yes, | see it.

And there you stated, "may," right?

Correct.

And here Perm an Resources is significantly reducing
of it service facilities, correct?

It appears that way, yes.

MS. HARDY: Those are all of ny questions. Thank
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

you.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Thank you, Ms. Hardy.
M. MCure.
MR. MCCLURE: Thank you, M. Hearing Exam ner
EXAM NATI ON
BY MR, MCCLURE:
Q M . Harper, can you pl ease describe for nme where the
depth severances occur within the Bone Spring formation

A. Yes. Sorry, let me try to find a good slide to

reference. | think | can talk off of Exhibit B8. I
apol ogi ze, | don't have the exact depth definitions to define
the depth severances. |If M. Bennett can give nme the depths,

| can identify them if that's what you' re asking.

Q M. Harper, | guess what |'masking is, are the
depth severances related to a particular top of a formation
or a subset of a formation?

A Yes.

Q What top are they related to?

A. In their second -- | don't know if |I'm answering the
question right, M. MClure. The Second Bone Spring interva
that they've defined, is that what you're asking?

Q Well, let ne reask nmy question, | guess. Is it
accurate that there's a depth severance within the Bone
Spring for which the top and base of is both within the Bone

Spring?

Page 104

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

A. Sorry, can you repeat that question one nore tine, |
apol ogi ze.
Q Whul d it be accurate to say that the Second Bone

Spring interval has a different set of ownership than the
rest of the Bone Spring?

A. Yes, | believe so, for Perm an Resources. I m not
sure I'maqualified to answer about interest variance.

Q Well, | asked Ms. Sarantinos about this and she
referenced you, M. Harper, being the expert to ask. So is
it accurate to say that you can provide ne these additiona
details as to where the depth severances occur?

A. | believe so, I'mjust -- I"'msorry, |I'mstruggling
to understand the question fully, but it appears that the
depth severances might fall within the Second Bone Spring

shal e or Second Bone Spring sand interval or Second Bone

Spring interval, | guess is a broader sense.
Q Well, 1'lIl provide additional context, | guess.
A. Ckay.
Q My interest here is, does the depth severance occur

at the top of the Second Bone Spring sand or the top of the
Second Bone Spring carbonate? Do you have an answer to that?
A. If | had the depths | could be able to identify them
in terms of whether it's the shale or the top of the second
sand, but | don't have the depths thenselves right in front

of me, unless |I'm m ssing them sonewhere. O if there's an
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exhibit that defines the depths thenselves, then | can
identify where exactly they fall.
Q Did you assist Avant in deciding which intervals it

would |ike the Division to force pool for these cases?

A. Yes.
Q And how did you make those determ nations?
A. Based on the prospectivity of the target intervals,

or the formations at the time?

Q So how was depth severances considered in that
revi ew?
A. We propose to pool the first Bone Spring sand across

the 960 and the Second Bone Spring sand across 640 based on
exi sting depletion to the south and ownership. Does that
answer your question?

Q How does Avant know what the ownership is in each of
its proposed units if it doesn't know where the depth
severance occurs?

A. I just don't have the depth severances in front of
me at this time. | don't renenber the exact depths that the
dept h severances are referring to.

Q Do the depth severances refer to specific depths or
do they refer to formation tops?

A. | believe |I've seen them as specific depths, but
again | don't have that in front of ne.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: M. MCl ure.

Page 106

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

MR. MCCLURE: Yes, M. Hearing Exami ner, go ahead.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: |'ve heard the w tness
repeatedly say that he doesn't have certain information to be
able to answer the question. So let ne interject for a
morment. VWhat would it take for you to be able to answer the
guestions accurately?

MR. HARPER: Just to have the actual TVD depths that
identify the depth severance just so | can reference them on
the appropriate |og.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: And are those avail abl e

to you?

MR. HARPER: | believe Ms. Bennett might have them
avai | abl e.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Oh, you have then?
Ckay. | didn't know that anyone had them So maybe this

woul d be a great tinme to break for lunch, it's quarter of 12.
That way Ms. Bennett can give the witness this infornmation.
We'll ask you about what you' ve been given. M. Bennett,
pl ease make sure that Ms. Hardy and Ms. MLean see whatever
you're giving himso that they can object to it if they so
choose. How long do the parties want for lunch? Let's al
have |unch and we'll be back at 12:45.

(Recess at 11:54 a.m to 12:45 p.m)

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  We're back on the record

and I'mgoing to call a case that we called earlier and were
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in recess on. I'mgoing to call case 25951, Hil corp Energy.

MR. RANKI N: Good afternoon, M. Hearing Oficer.
Adam Rankin with the Santa Fe office of Holland and Hart
appearing on behalf of the applicant Hilcorp Energy
Cor por ati on.

HEARI NG OFFlI CER CHAKALI AN: Good afternoon, M.
Rankin. Are there any other parties?

MR. RANKIN: Not to our know edge.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Go right ahead.

MR. RANKIN:  Thank you, M. Hearing O ficer. In
this case Hilcorp is seeking an exception to the well density
requirements in the Gobernador Pictured Cliffs gas pool to
allowit to conplete an additional well in the spacing unit.
There's an existing well producing and Hilcorp is proposing
to simultaneously dedicate an additional well, the San Juan
295 Unit 61C well, which would be in the southeast quarter of
the existing unit. W provided an exhibit packet that
i ncludes Exhibits A through E. Exhibit Ais the application.
Bis aself-affirnmed statement of Hilcorp's |andman, M.

Carl son, who has previously testified and has had his
credentials accepted by the Division. His exhibits
attached to his statenent include notice here identifying
each of the tracts offsetting and spacing units identified
t hat have been noticed and the owners of interest who are

af fected, to whom notice was provided. Exhibit Cis a
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self-affirmed statenment of M. Shane Snmith, an engineer with
Hil corp. He has previously testified before the Division and
al so had his credentials accepted as a matter of record as an
engi neer. He's got Exhibit ClL through C5, which identify the
basis for the requested approval to allow Hilcorp to conplete
an additional well in the spacing unit, which would allow it
to recover additional reserves, preventing waste of

resources. Exhibit Dis the self-affirmed statement of ny
col | eague, identifying that we have provided notice to each
of the parties who are affected, along with an affidavit of
publication showi ng that notice was published in a newspaper
identifying each of the parties by name who are affected. We
ask that the case be taken under advisement and Exhibits A
through E be taken into the record.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: The exhibits are
admtted without exception. M. MClure.

MR. MCCLURE: M. Hearing Exam ner, | have questions
for the | andman.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: M . Rankin.

MR. RANKI N: M. Carlson, | believe you are on the
system If you would please, put your inmage up and you can
be sworn in.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: M. Carlson, would you
rai se your right hand?

(M. Carl son sworn)

Page 109

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: | can't hear you, sir.

MR. RANKIN: You're on nute, Rob.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  You have to unnute your
m crophone.

MR. CARLSON: Sorry. | do.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Thank you, sir. Would
you state and spell your nane.

MR. CARLSON: Robert Carlson. R-o0-b-e-r-t,
Ca-r-l-s-o0-n.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Thank you. And have you
previously been admtted by this Division as an expert?

MR. CARLSON: Yes, | have.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: I n what field?

MR. CARLSON: Petroleum|and matters.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Thank you. M. MCl ure.

MR. MCCLURE: Thank you, M. Hearing Exam ner

EXAM NATI ON

BY MR. MCCLURE:

Q M. Carlton, I'mlooking at a footnote in your
Exhibit Nunmber B, this is your self-affirned statenment, on
page 8 of 33. Are you fanmiliar with the footnote |I'm
referring to? |It's in regards to the casing being standard.

A. Yes. The Division Director approval dated Septenber
2nd, 1955.

Q Pl ease provide nme additional details in regards to
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t hat footnote.

A. Yeah. So basically there was sone discussion at the
time in 1955 as to the spacing units that were applicable
wi thin the nunbered Federal units. VWhen | say, "nunbered
Federal units," for exanple, the 29 and 5, those unit
agreenents are uni que because they actually outline
specifically what the spacing units should be above the base
of the Mesa Verde and they require themto be 320 acres on
either a west half or east half standup. And so, inside of
t he nunber of Federal units, depending on who actually worked
up a particular project, in npst cases you would see a
standup being assigned to Pictured Cliff's producers, but
there is kind of a mixed bag. Again, depending on which
| andman wor ked up a particular reconpletion or new drill.

Q Are you aware if the operator at the tine ever
actually requested and received approval for the non-standard

spacing units or to change the spacing of the pool at the

time?
A. Not that |I'maware of. Again, this is just the
letter that | have, that |I've historically understood was the

basis for the east half and west half standups for everything
above the base of the Mesa Verde, which would include the
Pictured Cliffs. This letter was received -- it was in our
files and it was received and it was provided by the

Conmm ssioner at the tine.
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Q Is it your belief that all of Hilcorp's Pictured
Cliffs are on 320 per those unit agreenents?

A. Tough question to answer, because | would say, yes.
It is nmy belief they should be all on 320 acres, but again it
i s dependent upon whether the landman at the tine for a
particul ar reconpletion was aware of the existence of this,
whet her they assigned a 160-acre spacing unit to the PC or
t he appropriate 320-acre spacing unit to the PC. So you see
nm xed exanpl es.

Q M. Carlson, would it surprise you to know that 90
percent-plus is on 160-acre spacing?

A Doesn't surprise ne.

Q But yet it's your belief that the standard spacing
for this pool within these units is 320 acres.

A. That is correct. As it is very specifically
outlined in the unit agreenent itself. And if you | ook at
the exhibit for the plat, which shows the noticed area, you
can see -- | know that 90 percent figure you' re providing,
but you can see in this particular instance the three spacing
units directly to the south, which comprised of all of
Section 16 and the west half of Section 15. Those are al
320-acre spacing units.

Q M. Carlson, are you famliar with the Comm ssion
order where that unit was approved?

A. I have not read it recently, no.
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Q Woul d it surprise you that this topic came up
several years ago between Hilcorp and the Division in which
t his discussion has been had al ready?

A. I was not aware of that discussion, no.

Q If | were to tell you that Hilcorp needs an NSP
before this sinmultaneous dedication can be approved, do you
under stand what |'m saying?

A. So we're disregarding the decision that was provided
in witing by the Conmi ssioner at that time, was that the
decision that was ultimately nade recently in those
di scussi ons?

Q Well, to be fair, | guess we will afford Hilcorp the
opportunity to provide the note that it's referring to that
the Division director had apparently approved Septenber 2nd,
1955. Do you have that available, is that within the case
file?

A. | don't know if we actually included that as part of

the case files.

Q If I were to ask for you to provide what you're
referring to, do you know what |'m asking for?
A Yes, | can absolutely provide you with a copy.

Q Directing your attention to page 12 of 33, this is
your table breakout of like working interest owners and such
A. For notice, yes.

Q M. Carlson, I'mlooking at the table Iike halfway
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down where it references Section 15 and then goes on to say,
"east half." 1Is this a typo or am | m sreading the map
above, | guess?

A. That is a typo, yes. That should be west half.

Q The interest owner being Hilcorp, is that accurate,
for the west half of Section 15 then?

A. It is, yes. That particular spacing unit, even
though it's within the Federal unit, is not part of the
participating area, so the ownership is conprised on a
spacing unit basis, which Hilcorp owns a hundred percent.

Q This is probably a question for M. Rankin, unless
you're familiar with the notice, M. Carlson

A. |'m probably pretty famliar with notice. Wat's
t he question?

Q Was one set of notice provided or nore than one?

A. It was two sets of notice. So the original notice
that was sent, there was sone ni scommuni cati on between nysel f
and Ms. Paula Vance. Again, it kind of stens fromthe
understandi ng that we were dealing with a one-sixty spacing
versus three-twenty. And so the initial notice that was sent
out was for all adjoining spacing units to the southeast of
Section 9, that inadvertently excluded the sout hwest of
Section 3, whenever you properly expanded the spacing to the
320-acre basis. And so we had to supplenent the notice to

al so include Dugan in their ownership in the southwest of
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Section 3.
Q Was all witten notice received by each person?
A. It was.
Q Does that include this -- | don't know how to
pronounce it, but |ike New Vita Resources, LLC
A. New Vita, yes. That delivery was confirned.

MR. MCCLURE: Thank you, M. Carlson. M. Hearing
Exanmi ner, | don't have any further questions for this case.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  How do you want to
proceed?

MR. MCCLURE: | think we'll need to continue it for
himto provide us with that -- | don't knowif it's the

Director or the Conmm ssion at the tinme, but that approval

letter.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: M. Rankin.

MR. RANKIN:  Thank you very much, M. Hearing
Oficer. W'Ill plan to provide a revised exhibit packet that
will include an exhibit referenced in the footnote 1, the

1955 letter, or approval fromthe Director of the
Commi ssion -- or the Division at the time. We will also
revise this Exhibit B2, | believe. | believe, M. MC ure,
the line you're speaking to M. Carlson about is the one I'm
hi ghl i ghting here, correct?

MR. MCCLURE: That is correct, M. Rankin.

MR. RANKI N: So we'll correct that to refl ect west
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hal f and resubnit it with the addition of the approval from
the 1955.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Thank you, M. Rankin.
And then, what docket do you propose to nove this to?

MR. RANKIN:  Well, | think we can do this, with the
Division's approval, to the May 7th docket, if that's
accept abl e.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  We'll do the best we can
to accommodate it.

MR. RANKIN: Appreciate that. Wuld you like us to
file a Mdtion for Continuance?

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Definitely.

MR. RANKIN: Okay, we'll get that filed. Expect to

be able to do that today, M. Hearing Oficer and M.

McClure. And we'll also file a Motion for Continuance to the
May 7th docket. If there's sonme issue with that docket, just
I et us know and we'll take the next avail abl e heari ng.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Thank you, M. Rankin.
We're off the record in that case.

M. MC ure, have you had a chance to take a | ook at
case nunmber 5 on our docket?

MR. MCCLURE: Unfortunately, | have not, M. Hearing
Exanminer. This took |onger than | expected.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  No worries. Can we take

it at the beginning of tonorrow s docket?
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MR. MCCLURE: That works for me, M. Hearing
Exam ner

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  And your witnesses, wll
t hey be avail abl e tonorrow norning?

MS. BENNETT: Yes, they wll.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: We will decide at the
end of today what time we'll start tonorrow. |'m open to
starting early, if the parties are willing to start early.
Qur court reporter is willing to start at eight o' clock in
the morning. | know M. McClure gets in at 8, so maybe it
woul d be 8:15 or sonething |like that. But anyway, we'll talk
about that at the end of today.

VWhere we | ast left off, we had a witness who's no
| onger here. Conme on back. Ms. Bennett, you were going to
review some information with M. Harper, have you done that?

MS. BENNETT: Yes, | have. And it turned out that
we did not need to review the piece of paper | was hol di ng
up. Instead, what he brought up just now are copies of the
applications that were filed that are part of our exhibit
packet .

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  What is the issue that
we're going to begin with here?

MS. BENNETT: The issue is the question that M.
McCl ure asked, which is how did Avant determ ne the depth

severances for each of its respective Bone Spring

Page 117

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

applications.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: | renmenber. And M.

Har per was unable to have the data in front of him but you

do now?

MR. HARPER: Yes, sir.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Tell nme what you're
| ooki ng at.

MR. HARPER: |'m | ooking at Exhibit Al, which is our

application.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Al is your applications.

MR. HARPER: Yes, sir.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: In all three cases?

MR. HARPER: Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: It's the sane
application for three cases?

MR, HARPER: Well, it's case nunber 25827.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Perfect. And then,
t here another case or just that one case?

MS. BENNETT: There's three cases.

MR. HARPER: 25829 and --

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  3-1

MR. HARPER:  3-1.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: But is it the same
application for all three cases?

MS. BENNETT: No. The 25827 is the First Bone

is
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Spring application and identifies the First Bone Spring depth

severance. 25829 is the Second Bone Spring application, and

25831 is the Third Bone Spring application.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Perfect, perfect. Now,

M. MC ure was really not able to get answers to his

guestions, so are you okay with M. MCl ure asking those

guestions again, now that this witness is infor

MS. BENNETT: Definitely.

nmed?

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: M. MClure, do you want

to go back to your questions now?

MR. MCCLURE: Thank you, M. Hearing Exam ner, | do.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Go right ahead.

Q M. Harper, where are the depth severances | ocated

at in the Bone Spring formation?

A. For the First Bone Spring in Avalon in our

application, the depth severances |ie between t

he

stratigraphic interval of 7,894 feet to roughly 9,221 feet

found on the Sam H. Snoddy Federal Nunber 1 wel
our Aval on and First Bone Spring sand interval.

Q M. Harper, what is that related to?

| that defines

| s that

related to a formation top or is there a specific well that

that is tied back to?

A. Technically, both. It's tied to a specific well,

which is the Sam H Snoddy Federal Number 1, API

30-025-27812.

And for the Avalon and the First Bone Spring sand those
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depths, again, 7,894 to 9,221 are identifying the top of the
Bone Spring line formation to the base of the First Bone

Spring sand, which is the top of the Second Bone shal e/ carb,

in that well, referenced well.
Q So you believe the depth severance to lay at the top
of the First Bone -- or excuse me, at the top of the Second

Bone Spring Sand; is that correct?

A. |'"ve identified the Second Bone Spring sand, using
the same well, to be 9,519 to 10,172, which is the Second
Bone Spring sand interval. It excludes the Second Bone
Spring shale interval based on that well. Does that answer
your question?

Q The way in which this depth severance was originally
derived, is it due to a formation top or is there a specific
well that interest was sold in? |f that nmakes sense to you.

A. The depth severances were originally derived per
zone, i.e., the Avalon first, and then the Second Bone, and
the Third Bone Spring, based on ny geol ogic stratigraphic
correlation to identify the zones of interest. W identified
t hose zones based on the Snoddy type log with given depths.
We identified the Second Bone Spring sand interval, based on
t hat Snoddy, to be 640-acre unit drilling one mle laterals,
because there are existing Second Bone Spring sand
hori zontals drilled in the north at the 26 by Coterra.

Q Let nme reask my question, | guess. Avant itself is
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not who caused the difference in ownership; is that correct?

A. That's correct, to ny understandi ng.

Q VWhat was the original cause of the depth severance
and what was that tied to?

A Are you referring to the Coterra interest in the
north half of 26 as depth severances?

Q Well, | guess that's ny question to you. That m ght
be the source, but I'mnot sure. |t would have cone up as a
part of Avant's title --

A I think I understand --

Q -- research.

A So the way in which we proposed and pl anned the
Spi cy Chicken Second Bone Spring sand as one mle laterals
was because of the existing depletion that Coterra
established in the north half of 26 based on their Second
Bone Spring sand intervals that they defined their interest
based on -- their interest depths coverage.

Q And is it your testinony that those Coterra wells in
the north half of Section 26 is what caused the break in
owner shi p?

A | believe that's where the mpjority of their
ownership lie, is in the Second Bone Spring sand interval in
the north half of 26. And that there are other owners who
own above and bel ow that interval.

Q Do you think that Avant's |andman m ght be able to
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provide ne a little bit nmore insight on where this depth
severance was derived?

A. Potentially, yes.

Q For additional context, | understand the way you're
tying it into the TVD of these wells, but what the Division
needs to know is where it was actually derived and where that
top is. W' re going to want your tie-in to a well, yes, but
first is going to cone where that depth severance actually
occurs and what originated it.

A Okay.

Q I guess, can you shed any additional |ight on that
or should | ask a different expert w tness that question?

A. Probably best suited to discuss that specific depth
severance with Tiffany Saranti nos.

Q Thank you, M. Harper. In any of your direct
testimony did you include a clean breakout of all the well
costs and battery costs?

A. Not in ny direct testinmony, no. | believe that was
in our reservoir engineering section.

Q In regards to Avant's Bone Spring Il case, what
vertical limt is Avant asking the Division to force pool in
regards to formati on TVD?

A. The Second Bone Spring sand interval.

MR. MCCLURE: Thank you, M. Harper. M. Hearing

Exam ner, | don't think I have any further questions for this
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expert witness, but at some point | would like to talk to
their | andman, Ms. Sarantinos, again.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Do you have redirect for
this w tness?

MS. BENNETT: Very linited.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Go right ahead.

MS. BENNETT: Thank you.

REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MS. BENNETT:

Q M. Harper, do you recall the questions you received
from Ms. Hardy regarding the Aval on slide that you prepared
as a rebuttal slide?

A Yes.

Q And do you recall that she asked you whether there
were -- or that she clarified with you that sone of the wells

are producing and sonme of the wells are being drilled?

A Yes.
Q Are there wells that are being drilled that are in
close proximity to the Spicy -- Avalon wells being drilled,

in close proximty to the Spicy Chicken?
A Very close. Directly north by Civitas.
Q And those are currently being drilled?
A. Yes.
Q Do you recall being asked by Ms. Hardy whet her

Perm an could conme back in and devel op the Aval on?
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A Yes.

Q And do you renenber being asked if Perm an could
come back in and develop the Lower Wbl fcanmp?

A. Yes.

Q Is Avant able to conme back in and devel op the Second
Bone Spring shal e?

A. Yes.

Q. And woul d you intend to do that?

A. Absolutely. | nmean, given today's comodity price,
it's probably a high likelihood that we could incorporate the
Second Bone Spring shale into this devel opnent or future
devel opnent .

Q And did you originally not include the Second Bone
Spring shale in part because Perni an was not devel oping the
Second Bone Spring shale right next door in Pakse?

A. Yes, that was a factor. They excluded the Second
Bone Spring shale in their Pakse devel opment directly to the
east. We didn't originally include it into our devel opnent
plan for two main reasons. One, you know, contrary to what
t hey say about the Aval on, the Second Bone Spring shale is
actually not being devel oped very close conpared to the
Aval on. B, the reservoir quality of the Second Bone Spring
shale, in nmy opinion, is not that great. But | think as
commodity price and econom cs would hel p overcone that | ack

of reservoir quality.
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MS. BENNETT: Thank you. That's all the redirect |
have. Thank you very nuch.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Ms. Hardy, anything on
t hat ?

MS. HARDY: | have a couple of questions to follow
up on M. MClure's questions, if | may.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Go right ahead.

MS. HARDY: Thank you.

RECROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY Ms. HARDY:

Q M. Harper, regarding the depth severances, if we
could look at Avant's application in case nunber 25829, which
is the Second Bone Spring application.

A Yes.

Q I think Ms. McLean is pulling that up. 25829, and

that is Avant's application to pool the Second Bone Spring,

correct?
A. Yes.
Q And isn't it true though, that -- and |I think you

said this earlier, the actual depth that you're pooling only
i ncl udes the Second Bone Spring sand?

A Yes.

Q Right? It excludes the Second Bone Spring
car bonat e?

A. Second Bone Spring shal e/ carbonate, yes.
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Q But the application states you're pooling the entire
Second Bone Spri ng.

A. Based on the depths provided, yes.

Q And the depth goes down. The top of the Second Bone
Spring, it defines as 9,159 feet.

A. 9,519 feet.

Q Sorry. M glasses are not apparently -- 9,519 feet.

A Yes.

Q And so that, for purposes of this application is how
Avant is defining the top of the Second Bone spring, right?

A. Yes.

Q And then if we can | ook at Avant's application in
case 25827, which is the application for the First Bone
Spri ng.

A Yes.

Q And that application states that Avant is pooling
down to 9,221 feet, right?

A. Yes.

Q And that, as provided here, is the base of the First
Bone Spring, right?

A Yes.

Q So when you | ook at the two applications together
the base of the First Bone Spring as provided in this
application does not align with the top of the Second Bone

Spring as provided in case 25829, right?

Page 126

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com



o 00~ wWDN

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

A Correct.
Q. And that's because case 25829 actually excludes the
Second Bone Spring carbonate, right?
A It does.
MS. HARDY: Those are ny questions. Thank you.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: M. MClure, did that
rai se anything for you?
MR. MCCLURE: No, M. Hearing Examner, it did not.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: May this witness be
excused?
MS. BENNETT: Yes, thank you.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Let's recall the |and
per son.
M5. BENNETT: M. Exam ner, could we take a five
m nute break, just make sure she understands the question
that she's about to be asked before we spend tine on the
st and.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Sur e. Is there any
obj ection to that?
MS. MCLEAN: No objecti on.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Okay, very good.
(Recess at 1:17 p.m to 1:23 p.m)
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  We're back on the
record, it's 1:23 p.m W have recalled Ms. Sarantinos.

MS. SARANTI NOS:  Yes.
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALIAN: | rem nd you, you are
still under oath.

MS. SARANTI NOS:  Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Why don't you tell us,
Ms. Bennett, what you reviewed with the witness before | ask
M. MClure to begin.

MS. BENNETT: What we were tal ki ng about was
answering M. MClure's question. What | understand his
guestion to be is, is there a title depth severance in
addition to a geologic depth severance. And so, that's what
we tal ked about.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Ms. Sarantinos, you were
here in the audience listening to M. MClure ask M. Harper
t hese questions, so hopefully you understand where he's going
with this. M. MClure, go right ahead.

MR. MCCLURE: Thank you, M. Hearing Exam ner

EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. MCCLURE:

Q Ms. Sarantinos, where was the depth severance
originally derived from presunably sonme sort of title
exchange?

A. Yes. Oobviously | don't have ny full title opinion
here, but | do recall there being a specific depth severance
to Coterra that is at the base of the First Bone Spring to

the bottom of the Second Bone.
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

Q And that's in relation to the north half of 26, you

bel i eve?
A. Yes, that's correct. For sure it was there, yep
Q And just to confirmagain, it's fromthe base of the

First Bone Spring to the base of the Second Bone Spring; is
t hat correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. And did you hear ny question earlier to M. Harper
in regards to what interval Avant would |like the Division to
force pool for its Bone Spring 2 case?

A. Yes.

Q So if | were to ask for you to anmend your
self-affirmed statenment to reflect M. Harper's response, do
you understand what |'m asking for?

A. Yes, | think so, yeah.

Q And to confirm what is your understanding, | guess,
of what Avant would like the Division to force pool?

A. |'msorry, can you repeat that.

Q To your understanding, what interval is Avant asking
the Division to force pool in the Bone Spring 27

A We're excluding the top of the First Bone to the
bottom of the -- sorry, excuse me, the Second Bone -- top of
t he Second Bone to bottom of the Second Bone shal e.

Q From the Bone Spring 2 interval; is that correct?

A. That is correct.
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

MR. MCCLURE: Thank you,

guestions, M. Hearing Exani ner.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:

I don't know who's directing this,
MS. MCLEAN: Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:

Ms. Saranti nos. No further
Ms. Hardy or Ms. McLean,
is it Ms. MLean?

Do you have any

cross-exam nati on based on what you just heard?

MS. MCLEAN: No, | don't.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:

Ms. Bennett, is there

anything you need to clean up from what she just said?

MS. BENNETT: No. |

requesting in ternms of amendi ng her

under st and what

M. MCure is

self-affirmstatenent to

refl ect the Second Bone Spring sand.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:
May this witness be excused?

MS. BENNETT: Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:
w tness, M. Shane Kelly.
MS. BENNETT: Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:
you are under oath.
MR. KELLY: Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:

Thank you.

Perfect. Al right.
Let's call your |ast

M. Kelly, I remind you
Thank you.

DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MS. BENNETT:
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

Q Good afternoon, M. Kelly. |If you wouldn't mnd
stating your name and by whom you're enpl oyed.

A. My name is Shane Kelly. [|'m enployed by Avant
Operating.

Q And how | ong have you been enpl oyed by Avant?

A. Since its inception in 2019, just about seven years.

Q And what is your title?

A. I'"'mthe Senior Vice President of Engineering.

Q And you prepared direct testinmony in this case?

A. That's correct.

Q And exhi bits.

A. That's correct.

Q l'"'mgoing to start sharing my screen here in just a
second here, but are there any exhibits -- there is a change

that you need to make to one of your exhibits, right?

A Yes, on page 286 -- | don't see the exhibit nunber,
| apol ogi ze. Oh, C1.

Q Yes.

A In the legend | wote that Pakse had an Aval on wel|.
That should just be five First Bone Wells.

Q Okay, hold on just a mnute while | get to that
page. And so this exhibit here, Exhibit C1?

A. That's correct.

Q And it's this indicator right here that the Pakse

has one Avalon well and it should be five First Bone Spring
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

wel | s?
A. That's correct.
Q Wth that change to your testinony, do you adopt

your testinony?

A It doesn't change anything in my testinony.

Q |'m sorry, exhibits.

A. Ch, vyes.

Q. So you adopt your testinony and exhibits?

A. Yes.

Q Thank you. 1'd like to ask you to go ahead and give

a brief summary of your direct testinony, including your
rationale as to why you believe, froma reservoir engineering
perspective, that Avant's plan is superior to Pern an
Resources's pl an
A. Yeah, sure. Just going through on the first slide,

ki nd of an overview of the two devel opnments cl osest to Spicy
Chi cken between Perni an Resources and Avant Operating. W
took a look at the total --

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: M. Kelly.

MR. KELLY: Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: |f you're going to
reference a slide, please tell us the slide nunber

MR. KELLY: Slide nunber, so 286.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: That m ght be the page

nunber, but could we have the exhibit nunber.
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MR. KELLY: C1.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Cl1. Good. And in the
future, just every tine.

MR. KELLY: Okay.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Cl1. Thank you

MR. KELLY: No problem So on this slide we're just
showi ng the two devel opnents in the past. And as you can see
fromthe chart on the right, actually had pretty sinilar
devel opnment, even though our plans were slightly different in
each unit. This is just showi ng both operators have been
consistent in the area. They know what they're doing, and
we've proven that we can operate in this area pretty well.

Q Thank you. And then turning to Exhibit C2. Can you
just give a brief summary of Exhibit C2.

A. C2 is just alittle recent history. W've been
operating in this area for a long time under the Avant
Operating | tag, recently sold |last year. Just started up
operations on Avant |1, back -- actually, February 14th,

Val entine's Day. W have the sanme teamin place as the | ast
conpany. Same group has drilled all of the wells at Al and
the current wells at AOIIl. And just kind of show ng our

hi story as an operator. W started off extrenely well at
Avant 11, breaking basin record for one mle laterals in 2025
with Liberty Frac. W were the best, npbst efficient operator

out of 63 operators in the entire U S. So proven operator in
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

the area and hope to continue to do that.

Q Thank you. Let's turn to your next slide, and this
is Exhibit C3. |If you could briefly explain this slide.

A. Exhibit C3 is just the current pooling application
wel ls for both Perm an Resources and Avant Operating Il. As
you can see, and has been discussed, we feel |ike there's
going to be sonme significant reserves left behind by Perm an
Resources not pooling the Aval on or the Deeper Wl fcanp at
this time, when Avant plans to do that in the near term to
bring those reserves forward. So this is just a chart of
what we feel the total reserves |oss would be to Avant as the
maj ority working interest owner.

Q And then turning to your Exhibit C4. If you could
briefly talk through this exhibit and what your primry
t akeaways are fromthis exhibit.

A. Sure. On C4, this is really a m dstream overview.
One of the npbst inportant pieces to the puzzle out here.

We' ve al ready been working right away for each gas, oil and
water. Ol is pretty nmuch under contract and right-a-way is
al nrost in hand. Gas, we've been working with nultiple
service providers. |It's one of our main goals to set up nore
t han one gas takeaway option, just to secure flow on each of
our new wells. This contract is -- we're kind of under a CA
right now, so | can't discuss the operator, but we are very

close to signing this contract. And this would allow us to
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flow sour gas through their system and down into their AGQ,
as well as our secondary option will also allow us to flow
sour gas, which is a big deal with the Avalon. |It's just too
sour out here to treat. So that's going to save us a ton of
noney and make that formation extrenely economc. Wth
water, ever since AO I and the Cutbow, when we got burned by
a mdstream partner who was not able to take our water, which
af fected our first Cutbow wells pretty greatly and they never
really recovered, we have since taken water into our own
hands as a conpany. W' ve been doing that for the last two
years. W already have a pond built off to the east, our
Quail State pond. And then in progress with recycling
facility just east of Spicy Chicken, that is fully permtted
and ready to go pending this pooling hearing. W'IIl start
bui |l di ng that inmediately and be ready to operate.

Q Thank you. A nonent ago you were talking about sour
gas, is that the sane thing as H2S?

A. That is, yes.

Q So Avant already is planning for H2S conti ngenci es;
is that right?

A That's correct. Not only in the Aval on, but the
First Bone out here al so has sour gas that can go down the
l'ine.

Q And it sounded to ne |like, and feel free to correct

me if I'"mwong, that you have two different paths forward
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

for H2S.

A. That's correct. W have nultiple paths forward.
Not signed, but very close on both.

Q And will those options be | ess expensive than what
you understand Perm an Resources H2S solutions to be?

A. At this tinme, fromtheir exhibits, they said they're
commtted to trace, | believe. And | don't believe they have
a sour system-- or a sour AG well in service yet. | do
think they're working on it, but it's not supposed to be
ready for quite a while.

Q An AG well is an acid gas injector?

A That's correct. Acid gas injection, alnost |ike an
SWD, but for sour gas and CQ2.

Q Do you feel that Avant is ready to begin drilling
t he Spicy Chicken wells?

A. Yes. W should be ready within the next two to
t hree nont hs, depending on a couple of right-a-ways that
we're waiting on.

Q Do you know i f Avant has pernits pending with the
BLM APDs pending with the BLM?

A We do. They're at the final stage and they are just
waiting on this pooling order and then they will be approved.

Q ["mturning now to your Exhibit C5. | want to talk
about this exhibit because M. MC ure had some questions

about the non-standard unit exhibits that we showed earlier
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today in Ms. Sarantinos testinmony. Do you recall those
guestions?

A. | do.

Q And in her testinmony we had shown two units instead
of one non-standard unit and two CTBs. Does this reflect the
devel opnment plan that AO Il is proposing?

A. This slide reflects our plan, yeah. | believe Ms.
Sarantinos msspoke a little earlier, that was a m stake on
the slide. We only have one CTB. Full disclosure, this
slide was made when we didn't have the full picture of what
Perm an Resources's new surface plan was, but now their
surface plan is pretty much identical to our plan, if not
right on top of it. So we're planning on doing, you know,
the sane thing as them One battery and two pads to lint
service disturbance. So a |lot of these costs and nunbers on
here are based on our previous understandi ng of what we
t hought they were doing. | think that's been discussed in
previ ous testinony.

Q You had nentioned that the Aval on is perspective in
this area.

A. A hundred percent.

Q Do you have concerns if the Avalon is not devel oped

in this area?

A. I would definitely have concerns, just because it's
a lot of reserves that are left behind. |It's proven to be a
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really strong formati on everywhere that's been tested in the

north and that's why every operator is doing it now. And it

took a while for mdstreamto catch up with the sour gas, but
there's a ot of mdstream providers that now have an AG@ and
it's possible to drill up the Avalon in the near terminstead
of having to wait or try the treating option, which we've had
to do down south, it just doesn't work. [It's too expensive.

And that's a main reason why that Exxon well just didn't

work. They weren't prepared for the sour gas and were trying
to treat and it was too expensive.

Q Thank you for that. |Is there anything else you
want ed to say about your direct testinony before I turn to
our rebuttal testinony?

A No.

Q So turning nowto the rebuttal testinony that you
prepared. You prepared a self-affirmed statenment in support
of your rebuttal testinony, didn't you, right?

A That is correct.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALIAN: C5 is not in evidence.
MS. BENNETT: Yes. And | have a chance to try to --
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: OF course.

MS. BENNETT: -- admit it if | want to.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: O course.

MS. BENNETT: Thank you for the rem nder, though.

Let's ook first at your rebuttal Exhibit Cl1. Do you see
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t hat ?
A. Yes, | do.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Did you say Bl?
MS. BENNETT: Cl. Sorry, I'll try to annunciate a
bit better.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  C.
MS. BENNETT: C, uh- huh.

A. So Cl is in response to the Perm an Resources
exhibit on -- | think their Cl1, slide 22, where they try to
point out that there was 45 percent degradation due to
depl etion off their original Pakse well in the First Bone
Spring sand at 1,600 feet. Wrking through this basin for a
long time, 1,600 feet, there has never been any kind of
degradation |like that ever. If you were to say, maybe 300 to
500 feet offset, you could see that kind of degradation. But
at 1,600 feet, that's nore than enough to not have any kind
of depletion effects, which we did at Cutbow directly north.
We actually cane in a little tighter at 1,500 feet. And as
you can see that Child well, which is highlighted in green in
the top right chart, was actually our second best well in the
entire unit, better than a couple of the edge wells. And
that tells me there is absolutely no degradation from and
coming in at 1,500 feet. So that claimis just not backed by
fact in the basin. Been offsetting wells for ten years and

I've never seen that kind of degradation, so I'mjust not
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sure where that's conming from And | don't have al

| the

backup data that he used to conme to that nunber. But | did

| ook at the Pakse wells, their Child well that had the 45

percent degradation. If you were to see heavy depl

etion you

woul d have noticed it in IP rates. That well actually had

pretty simlar IP rates on public data than the next two

wells next to it. So unless that original well was depleting

the entire section, then there's just no evidence of

depletion. Mre likely, with their down spacing pattern in

that First Bone, the wells were just a little weaker than the

original, but the wells are still very good and very econonic

at the five wells per section that they did, as wel

five well per section Cutbow. And then the bottom

| as our

ri ght

chart is just showing curmulative oil plot, a couple of units

off to the east that only did four wells per section. You

can see they're just not producing all the reserves in the

First Bone. So that kind of shows that that four well per

section is just not the right nunber, and five is the best

option out in this area.

Q And just to reiterate, five is what Avant is
proposing; is that right?
A That is correct.
Q And what is PR proposing?
A. They're proposing four, with their first well com ng
in at 1320 spacing, which is tighter than the 1600. They
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claimto have 45 percent degradation. So if that was the
case, then | probably wouldn't do that. But we have that
sanme plan of coning in 1320 and that should be nore than

enough to not see nuch degradation at all

Q And then, is this the backup data that you prepared
to support your Exhibit C1?

A. That's correct.

Q. Let's turn to your Rebuttal Exhibit C2. Are you
there with nme on Rebuttal Exhibit C2?

A. Yeah. C2 is rebutting their Cl1 as well, but their
slide 23 where they did the sanme kind of analysis in the
Second Bone Spring Sand. W again went up to our Cutbow
where we canme in 1,500 feet. You can see early time there's
just no evidence of depletion. There's no nuted |IP conpared
to the edge well, which tells ne it's not a degradation
issue, it's nore of a well spacing issue as you start to see
these wells diverge over tine, that's because the Blue well
there, the 501, is an unbound well versus the 502, which is
obvi ously sandwi ched between sonme pretty old production. And
t he Legacy Parent well there to the east and then our new 501
well. And these two wells even cane in underneath to
east/west Second Bone Spring sand wells and we had to be
careful with how we frac'ed that, but still with all that
these wells are very strong. Actually, ahead of the Pakse

Second Bone wells, which were at tighter spacing, so that
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does nmke sense. But |I'mjust not seeing any kind of
degradati on, especially not the 48 percent that they're
trying to claim

Q Thank you. |I'mscrolling past page 37, that's your
backup data for the wells you used?

A That's correct.

Q Now |I'm on Rebuttal Exhibit C3. Are you seeing
t hat ?

A. I am

Q Can you describe that exhibit, please.

Yeah. This is an exhibit showing the Perm an
Resources pooling application plan in the First Bone and
Second Bone shale. The Second Bone shal e has not been wi dely
tested in this area. This was one of the closest -- | think
this was the closest place | could find where soneone had
done the four wells across the First Bone and the two shal es
underneath it. And you can see where they're just not
produci ng nore oil by doing that. The First Bone is just so
prolific in this area. The Pakse wells, the Cutbow wells
have been really big. There's been some other ones off to
the east that have been very big First Bone wells, that by
dropping a First Bone fromfive to four and trying to repl ace
that oil with two shales and a weaker target, it's just not
wor ki ng, that we've seen. | know PR has had sonme success off

to the east, their Robin, R ddler, Batnman units in the Second
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shal e, but the rock just looks a little bit different over
t here. | think, as a team John and | both agree that the
Second shale is a viable option off to the east, but we just
haven't seen it produced in this area yet. So that's why we

haven't currently incorporated it into our devel opment plan

with the -- as John stated, with the uptick in compdity
price, you know, | think we may rethink that, but you never
know what oil is going to do. So when we proposed this, |

think five, six nmonths ago, we were in a very different world
interms of oil price.

Q This square here, this table here that shows AO ||
pooling with five, that's your current proposal, right?

A That's correct.

Q And the PR pooling, that's their current proposal

is that right?

A. That's correct, yes.
Q Is that replicated in Pakse?
A. No. Pakse, they did the five wells per section of

the First Bone. And |like | said, those are very strong
wells, highly economc wells. So I'msurprised they're
backi ng off that plan

Q And page 40, that's your backup data for the C3?

A. That's correct.

Q Now we're | ooking at Exhibit C4. Can you describe

this exhibit and what your intent was with this exhibit.
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A. Yeah. This is just an exhibit show ng the
four-string Capitan aquifer R11Q map. This is the area
hi ghlighted in yellow and blue that we are required to run
four strings of casing. This has been a known thing in the
area. | believe Pakse were four string as well, but we
received the updated PR AFEs that | ook suspiciously lowto us
and we started digging in and realized they are not accurate.
They only have a three-string design, which casing can get
qui te expensive and that can cause your AFE to go up
significantly. So they've had nultiple opportunities to fix
this issue and they' ve used a | ot of these | ow AFE cost
estimates to try to make their wells | ook far superior than
ours, and that's just not the case. It's not accurate data.
We've tried nultiple times with the SLO and BLMto get a
wai ver on the four string, but they have told us they wll
not budge in this yellow area, whatsoever. Unless they have
different information, |I'd be shocked if they could
three-string these wells, especially since Pakse wasn't
t hree-string.
Q Thank you

MS. BENNETT: Turning to Exhibit C5, this is the
rebuttal exhibit that has not yet been admitted. And so, if
I may, | could provide sone information about why it's a
proper rebuttal exhibit.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Just to be clear, what
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is the objection to it?

MS. HARDY: The objection to it is that these are
adj usted AFE amounts that Avant is providing only here in
this slide for purposes of rebuttal, and M. Kelly's
statenent states that they adjusted their AFEs because
Permi an Resources sent out updated AFEs a coupl e of weeks ago
or a week or two ago. So the objection is that we don't have
any actual AFEs from Avant that show the anmpunts in these
tables. We can't do a line by line review. They haven't
provi ded actual AFEs. They haven't sent themto any parties.
So that's the objection.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Thank you. Before | ask
you to respond to the objection, why is this relevant?

MS. BENNETT: This is relevant because, as Ms. Hardy
just noted, Permian did on April 10th, | think it was two
days or three days, business days before the hearing exhibits
were due, sent out revised AFEs with |ower costs. And Avant
of course has |ower costs given the passage of tinme, and so
this exhibit goes to show that Perm an Resources's conparison
of costs does not reflect the current state of affairs.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: So the evidence is
relevant. The question is its reliability. So let's hear
some foundation for reliability and then I'mgoing to |et
Ms. Hardy voir dire the witness before | nmake a

det erm nati on.
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MS. BENNETT: Thank you.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Go right ahead.
VO R DI RE
BY MS. BENNETT:

Q M. Kelly, did you prepare Rebuttal Exhibit C57?

A. Wth the help of our drilling and conpletion
engi neer, yes.

Q And are the figures that you show -- so, first of
all, there's a set of rows that are | abeled "Avant." Do you
see those?

A | do.

Q Tell me how you derived those figures or how t hose
figures came to be on this exhibit.

A. Yeah. We usually update AFEs before we go drill.
In this case we decided to update them for the hearing
because of the AFEs we received and the exhibits where they
were, you know, calling out a | ot of our AFEs and sayi ng our
wel | s were uneconom c and that we were wasting a | ot of
nmoney, which just wasn't true. So we felt like we needed to
update the AFEs sooner than we normally would. Like |I said,
we proposed these quite awhile ago. W had set a little bit
hi gher mark due to not knowi ng what tariffs were going to do
to steel. Being a small conpany, we like to stay on the
conservative side to make sure that we're doing the right

thing for our investors and enjoying the best as possible.
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So this just describes the world as it is today versus siXx
mont hs ago when we were in a very different price
envi ronment .

Q And are these nunbers that are reflected on this
tabl e, nunbers that you and the team devel oped and are able
to be verified internally at |east?

A Yeah, that's correct. These are in |ine with what
we're drilling right now, as well as the npbst recent
conpletion estimates that we've gotten from Liberty Frac
crew, as well as we've already ordered nost of the facilities
for this area. So everything here should be the nost up to
dat e as today.

Q And so these nunmbers are based on actual data, for
exanpl e, based on the materials that you've already ordered?

A That's correct.

MS. BENNETT: Those are the only questions | have.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Ms. Hardy, did you want
to voir dire the witness?
MS. HARDY: Yes, | do.
VA R DI RE
BY Ms. HARDY

Q M. Kelly, so the table does not include all costs
that are shown in an AFE, does it?

A It's not broken out, no.

Q It only includes high |evel costs for each category,
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correct?
A. That's correct.
Q And you haven't provided anywhere in your exhibits a

breakdown of the costs that would be |isted under these
categories in a conplete AFE, have you?

A No.

Q So there's no way at this point for Perm an
Resources to review the cost included under these categories
to determ ne whether they're accurate, is there?

A That's correct.

MS. HARDY: Those are ny questions.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Ms. Hardy, does Perm an
have AFEs in their exhibits?

MS. HARDY: We do.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  You do. Are yours
br oken -- they are broken down?

MS. HARDY: Yes, they are. And Avant has AFEs as
well in their original exhibits, but then they provided this
table that is not --

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Broken down.

MS. HARDY: They've adjusted those costs.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  What would it take, Ms.
Bennett, for your w tness, maybe it would be tonorrow, could
present something nore in the line the way Permian did. |

don't mnd revised AFEs, if that's the current state, he's

Page 148

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

willing to testify to it under oath,

then so be it. But | am

having a bit of a problemw th the [unmp sum sort of nunber.

What can you do about it?
MS. BENNETT: |
wi tness, but I -- if at al
AFEs tonorrow.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:
Ms. Hardy?

MS. HARDY:

possi bl e,

would like to confer with the

we will provide revised

Does that sound fair,

If as long as we have an opportunity to

review them and question the wi tness and understand that they

still haven't

been provided to the interest owners.

AFEs

need to be provided to the interest owners who you are

pool i ng.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:

MS. HARDY: Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:
were from Avant.

MS. BENNETT: They were.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:
ones. Let ne just ask the wtness.
original exhibits,
MR. KELLY: Yeah, |
Oct ober of | ast year.
this pretty early.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:

It's been awhil e.

And Perm an's have been?

And the original ones

These are just revised

The AFEs in your

when were they cal cul at ed?

believe those were back in

Yeah, we proposed

Ms. Hardy, how old are

Page 149

Veritext Lega Solutions

Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691

WWWw.veritext.com



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

your AFEs?

MS. HARDY: We sent updated AFEs a coupl e of weeks
ago.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Oh.

MS. HARDY: Yeah, to the interest donors.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Yeabh.

MS. HARDY: Yeah.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Okay. |I'Il discuss this
with M. McClure after today's hearing is over and before we
come back on the record tonmorrow. |'m assum ng we're going
to, it's 2 o' clock so...but maybe we won't, | don't know.
I'"mgoing to reserve judgnent. And | do see the val ue of
Perm an being able to | ook at the breakdown and form
cross-exam nation based on the breakdown where they cannot on
lump sum nunbers like this. M. Kelly, these nunbers, for
exanple, the first one, colum three, lateral length, row 1,
7,500, how did you come up with that?

MR. KELLY: Well, that's the lateral length of the
wel | s.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Ckay, that nmkes sense.
How about the next columm over, the three mllion?

MR. KELLY: Sure. | nean, | think | can get you
guys the AFEs tonight, that way you guys can review them
They' re made, we just didn't have a chance to get theminto

t he packet because of just the timng, but they are made.
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I'1'l have our engineers send them over |ater today so they
can review them before tonmorrow, if that hel ps.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Well, | nmean, you won't
be able to introduce themotherwise. So it may help you, |
don't know. Ms. Bennett, do you want to address the
assertion that these have not been -- these will not have,
even if it's tonorrow, these will not have been provided to
the m neral interest owners.

MS. BENNETT: Yes. So, first of all, Perm an only
provi ded the revised AFEs to Avant on April 10th which, as I
mentioned, was |ike three days before the hearing exhibits
were due. But even putting that aside, the working interest,

-- I"msorry, the operator has an obligation to send out

revised AFEs or the current actual cost prior to drilling a
well. So even if everyone was under order, assum ng an order
was issued, at that tinme everyone will get a revised AFE. So

it's a matter of timng, not a matter of like | ega
i nsufficiency.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  All right.
under st and. So as it is now, this exhibit is still not
adm tted into evidence. | understand the objection. |
sustain the objection in the formthat it is here. So you're
subject to recall. If, in fact, you're able to provide this
i nformati on toni ght, that Counsel for Perm an gets it, they

get a chance to reviewit. | nean, they have their
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

wi tnesses, so they can do that. And we can pick that part up
tomorrow, virtually. You can be wherever you need to be.
And we'll deal with that exhibit tomorrow and its
adm ssibility. M. Bennett, is there anything nore for this
witness? Go right ahead.

MS. BENNETT: Yes. Thank you.

Q M. Kelly, | appreciate you wal king through your
rebuttal slides, but those weren't the only concerns you had
with Perman's slides, right?

A That is correct.

Q So let's take a minute and wal k through the Perm an
slides that you had questions or concerns about. So | have
C2 up here. Did you have a conment or concern about this
slide?

A. No, not on this one, just -- you know, that their
application wells aren't covering the Aval on or that Lower
Wbl f canp, which is concerning to us.

Q And weren't you intrigued by the fact that the Avant
proposal |ooks very sinmlar to the Pakse current plans?

A. Yeah, they're pretty simlar. W've tested the five
wel s per section in the First Bone and the Second Bone, know
it works, we just kept with that. W' ve drilled six wells in
a section in the Third Bone. W did agree that -- you know,
the plan to drop a couple down in the Wl fcanp Upper is the

right play here, so we did that as well to nmaxim ze reserves.
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Q This nowis Exhibit C3. Did you have any concerns
with these slides or did you feel that these slides were, in
fact, helpful to Avant?

A. Yeah, no concerns here. | mean, just to point out,
the Cutbows are, you know, the top wells on the left graph
there and they're clearly going to overtake the Pakse. So
this just proves ny point fromearlier, that we're both solid
operators in the area and both have the experience and
capability to drill Spicy Chicken.

Q And woul d you say the sane thing is true for -- this
is the second page of C3. Did you have any concerns or
guestions or conmments? Not questions, but comrents about
this slide.

A No, this is just showi ng the Second Bone Spring
shal e and you can see there's really not any wells that close
to the Pakse. Most of themare quite far away in different
rock, so...

Q And what's your takeaway fromthat in terns of the
Avant Devel opnment Pl an?

A. I think we have the correct devel opnent plan for the
area. |It's been proven to work in both Pakse and Cut bow.

And the Second shale is sonmething we can incorporate later if
we feel like we should. But as of today, | feel |ike we have
the right plan.

Q This is the third page of Exhibit C3 and this is a
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conparison of PR -- Pernmian's Second Bone Spring sand versus
its peers. And did you have any comments or concerns wth
this side?

A. No. Just the Cutbows are clearly the best wells on
there. I'mnot sure if these were nornalized correctly. And
no fault to Perm an Resources, has the wong data on | ateral
length. So it does screw with the normalization, unless you
dig into the frac well files, which is not normal to do on
every single well.

Q And this is the Third Bone Spring sand Perm an
conparison to the peers. Did you have any takeaways from
this slide that you wanted to point out?

A. No. A lot of good wells, pretty consistent. The
Del a EOG wells were actually drilled by nyself and John
Harper, so we're very fanmiliar with the Third Bone in the
area. Those were pretty early on and considered the Wl fcanp
especially was considered a bit of a step out at the tine.
So very famliar with both the Wbl fcanp Upper and Third Bone
Spring targets in the area.

Q And just for the sake of reference, that EOG
Del aware -- Dela well is this top best performng well on

this curve; is that right?

A |'"mpretty sure. The colors are --
Q Yeah, the colors are --
A. Coming in. It |ooks nore purple than -- but, yes,
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I'mpretty sure it's that well.

Q And that's the one that you were involved in
drilling?

A That's correct.

Q And then the Wbl fcanp A quality versus peers, was

there anything on this that junped out at you?

A. No, not really. The Dela well is mssing from here,
whi ch was one of the first classics. | think it was a really
strong well. It would have perforned pretty well on this

chart, but it's not on here. Besides that, we just have the
Sandra Jean that we did off to the east in a pretty big
package. But like |I said, it's the right plan at Spicy

Chi cken and we plan on incorporate there, just |ike Perm an
Resources planning to.

Q C4 I|"mskipping. So C5, this slide is entitled
Perm an Creates Much Greater Value Across Al Primary
Targets. Did you have any concerns with this slide?

A. Yeah, | just don't have the backup and |I'mnot quite
sure where these nunbers are comng fromon this slide and
the next slide especially. The nunmbers just aren't naking
sense. If you scroll down for nme one slide. PR recovery per
well is nmore than double the Avant's. | don't see any
reasoning that would be true. And there's just no backup
data, so | can't go in here and confirmwhat's going on. But

this definitely is not making too nuch sense to ne.
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Q And were you concerned at all about the footnote in

f oot note one?

A. Yeah, the footnote about actual results will differ
materially. Yeah, that's -- | nmean, that's not very
conforting obviously. [It's hard to trust the nunbers on the

page when that's on there. So |I'd rather see the backup and
see where this is comng from

Q. Thank you. This is Exhibit C6, which is the U-turn
well optim zation. Did you have any concerns or conmments on
this Perm an exhibit?

A. Yeah. Perman's been drilling a lot of U-turns as
of late. | know a |lot of people are. But this is in Section
23 where we control over 90 percent of the interest. W fee
like we can get wells in the ground with less risk and
gui cker at one nmle. And as well, we could add an extra well
here. Wth the U-turns they're only doing four wells per

section. The Second Bone is one of the best targets in this

unit, and | feel like they'd be creating quite a bit of waste
by not adding that fifth lateral, if you will, in this
section. And again, | don't know where these nunmbers are

coming from observing a 25 decrease in time, reduction in
CAPEX conpared to what | -- there's no data to support any of
t hese slides.

Q Thank you. Now we're |ooking at the AFE summary

table, which I think we didn't have any coments on that one.
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Turning now to Exhibit C8. This is a slide that Perni an
prepared, that | understand is conparing and contrasting your
First Bone Spring Devel opnment Plan with their First Bone
Spring and Second Bone Spring Devel opnent Plan. Did you have
anyt hi ng you wanted to say about this slide?

A. Not much. This is just pretty far away. W haven't
seen this done kind of in the recent vicinity of Pakse. [|I'm
surprised they didn't incorporate at the Pakse, if they like
it so nuch. But for now, like |I said, it's sonething that
we' re thinking about, we could come back and do, but we did
not incorporate in the first in our initial application.

Q This, | believe, is a continuation of slide C8, so
your conmments apply equally to this slide?

A Yeah, that's true.

Q A moment ago you said that the Batman and Robin were
a ways away. Does this help understand what you mean by a
ways away?

A. Yeah, it is. I mean, not only that, the rock is
just different. The second shale does | ook quite a bit
better over here. Like | said, I think we're going to
i ncorporate into our packages out to the east. But as you
nove to the west, it does kind of degrade. So we're just not
sure if it's going to work the sanme way as the slide is
showing at this point in tine.

Q And when you say the Second Bone Spring shal e | ooks
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better over here, you nean over in Bane and Bat nan?

A. Yes, that's correct. Bat man, Robin, Eileen and
Ri ddl er, yeah.

Q I just wanted to make sure that you weren't saying
here as in Spicy Chicken, but you were saying here as in the
wells that are identified on that slide.

A. That's correct.

Q. Now |'m at Exhibit C9, which is a slide addressing
the Aval on devel opnent in this area. And | know M. Harper
spent a good amount of time tal king about sone cl oser wells,
Aval on wells, that are being drilled, that are being
devel oped. But | wonder if, in your review of this slide,
there is anything you wanted to conment on with respect to
this slide.

A. No, | think this shows with the Lea Unit and the
Sandra Jean that we've been testing this probably the nost
aggressively out of any operator and we'd like to continue to
do that at Cutbow. W have the experience. W know exactly
what to expect. Some of the nunbers in their rebutta
exhi bits about H2S and everything, clearly shows that they' re
not sure what they're going to get out there, because they're
not even close to being correct, but we have that data. W
know exactly what to expect and we've prepared for it over
the last six to eight nonths.

Q On C10, did you have any coments on Cl10 and the
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addition of the Third Wbl fcanmp wel | ?

A. Yeah, they're adding this Wl fcanp well, but they're
failing to put on the Third Bone Spring sand wells on the
same map, which is going to cone with depletion as well. And
if they believe in that 45 percent degradation, then | don't
know how they can say this is a full Parent well that's super
far froman existing well when you have a Third Bone producer
right on the edge of that unit. So it just doesn't align

with the rest of their exhibits.

Q And when you say, "a Third Bone producer,"” that's in
t he Pakse unit, right?

A That's correct, yeah

Q Not sure if you -- this is the second page of that
slide.

A. Yeah, the Cutbow we did operate. W did not operate
the Grayling or Alpha Wl f, which | think is what they're
pointing to. Again, |I'mhaving trouble seeing sone of the
colors. But Coterra had already taken over the operations at
that point. And Cutbow is where we struggled a ot with
m dstream providers not providing us with the service that
they had pronmised. W had to bring on wells and then
basically choke them back to nothing for six to eight nonths
while we had to go build out our own pipeline in the area.

We were one of the first kind of novers in the nodern

hori zontal. There were sone older wells, but it cane with a
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lot of really old pipe that just could not support three new
modern two mle wells. So that's really all | have to say
about those wells.

Q In your opinion then, is the Cutbow -- is the data
here on the Cutbow wells reflective of that well's potential ?

A. Probably not. No, definitely not. They should have
been a I ot better with the kind of pressure, but having to
choke them back, we were never able to get enough water off
to make those wells truly perform how they are, how they
shoul d have been, which was unfortunate. But like |I said,
we' ve renedi ed that situation by conmpletely taking over water
oursel ves, so we never have to deal with having to shut in
again due to a nidstream provider.

Q So that constraint on Cutbow was not an AO Il or an
AO | constraint, it was an external constraint?

A. That's correct.

Q Exhibit Cl1, this is a Perm an slide that is
suggesting that your extra First Bone Spring well will create
econonic waste. Did you have any comments -- oh, this is the

one that you did a rebuttal slide --

A Yeah, this is, but -- | nean, one nore thing, on
t hese charts up here, | have no idea what they're normali zing
these charts to. | don't knowif they're two mles or if

they're normalized to match the table, which is probably what

I would expect. But if that's the case, the degradated well
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in blue here has already nore than the EUR they're trying to
state for our Avant well, that's also at the same spacing
t hey proposed. So this slide nakes absolute no sense and
it's just trying to show that we're going to drill a super
uneconom ¢ well wi thout the backup data or any kind of fact.
Kind of the sane thing on the next slide. They did the sane
thing. You can see those wells. If this is normalized to
two mles, that degradated well has made over 300 MBO, but
they' re saying our one mle is only going to make a hundred
and sixty-five. | mean, none of this makes any kind of sense
in the reservoir engineering world. So |I'm not sure where
t hese are comi ng from

Q Thank you. And you reviewed Perm an's rebutta
slides, right?

A That's correct.

Q And you understand that not -- those have not yet

been admtted into the record.

A. That's correct.
Q Except for Cl2 and 13, | believe, which I'll pul
up. Just one second. | need to stop sharing and then I'1]

find them Let ne look at themreal fast to see if it's even
worth sharing. Let me just double check my notes, which case
we did not object to. I'mgoing to go with Cl12 and 13. |
don't have my notes right in front of ne.

A. I think it m ght have been 13 and 14.
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Q That's right, 13 and 14. Thank you. |I'mgoing to
turn to C13. So you had a chance to review this rebutta
slide C13.

A. Yes, | did.

Q It's a rebuttal slide that purports to rebut sone
extrapol ated vol unmes that you prepared?

A. That's correct. It looks like he was throwi ng an
extra 17 percent on the three wells that we extrapol ated at
Cut bow, but that 17 percent was noted to be, when you go from
five wells per section to the six wells per section, we were
seeing a 17 percent degradation. So Cutbow is only at the
five wells per section, which is how!l got to ny 2 percent.
So the added 17 percent, which is not necessary. So wasn't
trying to mslead, | think it was just in one of my footnotes
and maybe m sunder st ood.

Q Thank you. But with that mni sunderstanding, this
does not accurately reflect what your intent was in your
slide; is that correct?

A. That's correct, yeah

Q And then turning to Cl4. |Is this a simlar
situation where there was a m sunderstandi ng of your nunbers
or what's your...

A No. I mean, this is using the ol der AFE, | think,
you know, that's where the 44 million is comng from which

is another reason we wanted to get the updated numbers,
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because there's a ot of slides that are bringing in value to
the equation. And using the wong nunbers is, | think,
unfair to us as an operator, when that's not the reality that
we're in today. As far as the del ayed volunes, | mean, they
are correct. Like | spoke to a little bit earlier, we had a
really tough issue with the first Cutbow 600 wells, we
weren't able to open themup and that's what's causing that
i ssue, that delayed volume. But like | also said, now that
we control our own water, we have multiple gas -- mdstream
providers that are going to take our gas. And oil has al ways
been solid in the area. And if not, we can truck oil if
needed. This shouldn't happen again. | understand what he's
saying, it's always nice to get nmoney upfront for your
i nvestors, but in this case we were put in a situation where
that just wasn't possible, but that's not the goal for Avant
Operating I1.

Q When you say the del ayed value, that's the

calculation that's in the lower right-hand side of the slide?

A. Yeah, | believe so.
Q And woul d that also apply, in Avant's opinion, to
the delay in addressing -- or devel oping the Aval on?

A. Definitely. Like | said, it's hard to get a
m dstream provider out there that can take the sour gas.
It's just not treatable. You won't make any noney doi ng

that. So by delaying that Avalon, which is a really strong
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formati on and a very, very econom c formation due to the |ack
of water that it produces, would definitely hurt Avant as a
wor king interest partner, as well as the other working
i nterest partners.

Q And woul d that sane cal cul ati on be present for the
Lower Wbl fcanp?

A. That's correct, yeah

Q. And t he Upper Pen?

A. That's correct. Being a smaller conpany, Avant, we
li ke to produce whole units as quickly as we can to bring
value forward for us as a conpany. |It's usually not as
i nportant for the |arger conpanies, they have a | ot of noney,
but for us it's very inportant. So we get after units pretty
gui ck once they get pool ed.

Q Thank you. Before | turn you over for
cross-exam nation, is there anything else you'd |like to add?

A No, not this tine.

Q Thank you

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Ms. MclLean

M5. HARDY: It's actually nme, M. Hearing Exam ner.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: I don't know who to
call, so..
MS. HARDY: | know. That's fair. So this one is
nme.
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CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY Ms. HARDY:
Q Good afternoon
A. How you doi ng.
Q Good, thank you. M. Kelly, earlier when Ms.
Bennett was first questioning you -- well, let me ask it this
way. You agree -- Perm an Resources is pooling the Aval on

here, correct?

A I am not sure

Q And Perm an Resources is pooling the Wl fcanp,
correct?

A. | believe so, yes.

Q And so, they could cone back to devel op the Aval on
with infill wells, correct?

A Correct.

Q And they could do the sane with the Wl fcanp, right?

A Correct.

Q And Avant here is not pooling the Second Bone Spring
at all in the north half of Section 26, is it?

A. No, it's not.

Q So Avant can't devel op that acreage with infil
wel l's.
A Yes, we can.
Q Well, you'd have to conme in and pool it first,
ri ght?
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A Correct.

Q Avant has not provided -- well, you have not
provided in your slides an econom c anal ysis of your
devel opment plan in conparison to Perm an Resources's

devel opnment pl an, have you?

A. No, that's not usually in these packets.

Q You' ve only conpared production volumes, correct?
A That's correct.

Q And if we could please | ook at paragraph 8 of your

direct testinmony affidavit. M. MLean will pull that up
You state in paragraph 8, that Avant's applications wll

result in greater total recovery, correct?

A. That's correct.
Q And in that statenent you were assuning that Pernian
Resources does not drill infill wells, correct?

A. Correct.

Q And none of your reservoir engineering exhibits
di scuss Avant's Grayling or Al pha Wl f devel opnents; is that
correct?

A No.

Q And those are seven to ten niles north of this area,
ri ght?

A. | guess. | don't have a map in front of ne, |I'm
sorry.

Q Let's ook at your direct Exhibit Cl. Here you're
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showi ng a conparison that you expect or that you're
projecting, correct? Between Perm an Resources and Avant's
devel opnments, right?

A. No, this is not a projection.

Q So this is what you're |ooking at historically?

A. Yeah, this is actual production.

Q And you were relying there in the graph on the right

on Avant's Cutbow total oil, right?
A. That's correct.
Q Avant did not devel op the Aval on at Cutbow, correct?
A. Not before we sold. W were planning to.

Q And Avant did not develop the Wl fcam at Cutbow
either, correct?

A That is also correct.

Q We can | ook at paragraph 10 of your affidavit,
pl ease, your direct affidavit. |In paragraph 10 you state

that Avant's plan results in |less surface inpacts, correct.

A That's correct.

Q And you refer to your direct Exhibit C5, right?
A Yes.

Q And | just want to be sure it's clear that you're

relying there on Earthstone's original devel opnent plan for
this acreage, correct?
A. As we understand now, yes.

Q You understand that's been changed.
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A. | do now, yes.

Q And let's | ook at your Exhibit C4, please, on
direct. And Avant, as shown in this exhibit, does not have
any existing operating units in adjacent sections to the
Spi cy Chi cken devel opnment, right?

A. We have two adj acent operated units in the Thai
Curry and Triple Stanp.

Q. The Thai Curry wells are not drilled, though.
Ch, sorry.

Ri ght ?
Correct.

They're only pernitted?

> O >» O >

Correct.

Q And the Triple Stamp wells are not pernitted,

correct?

A. | actually believe they are pernitted, but not
drill ed.

Q And Perm an Resources Pakse wells are operating in

t he adj acent section, correct?
A Correct.
Q You' ve testified regardi ng H2S and stated that Avant

knows exactly what to expect. That's ny understandi ng of

your testinony. |Is that correct?
A Yes.
Q What concentration of H2S does Avant expect here in
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t he Aval on?

A. I mean, that's proprietary information we don't
usually give out to people unless we're working a deal with.
I"'mnot sure if | have to answer that.

MS. BENNETT: If it's proprietary, it's protected by
the Trade Secrets Act and so would not be subject to a
guestion on cross-exam nation

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Are you saying that it
is proprietary?

MS. BENNETT: | object. It is proprietary.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  You are saying that?

MS. BENNETT:  Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Ms. Hardy, what do you
t hi nk?

MS. HARDY: Well, | guess | can question about the
fact that they've made a big point of knowi ng exactly what to
expect and they're not saying what they expect.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  You can certainly bring
t hat out, yeabh.

MS. HARDY: Okay.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Of course. It's noted.

Q M. Kelly, so you can't state at this point on the
record here what Avant expects the H2S concentration to be,
ri ght?

A. Correct.
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Q And if you can | ook at your AFEs for the Aval on
wells, which are in Exhibit A24. So with respect to the
casing for the Avalon wells that Avant is proposing, don't

t hese AFEs show that there will be P110 casing?

A That's correct.
Q And P110 casing is not corrosion resistant, is it?
A We use a carbon steel version of the P110. Siml ar

cost, but does help with some sour. Not all the way up to
the T95, but we don't use that unless we see 30, 000-plus
parts in H2S, which we have not seen in our Avalon wells yet.
Q And with respect to the Avalon wells you're
referencing, none of those are located in the immediate
adj acent sections, correct?
A That's correct.
Q Is it your testinony that the cost included in these
AFEs cover the items that woul d be needed to address the
l evel s of H2S that are expected to be seen here?

A. Yes, they do.

Q And addressing H2S in a well can increase the cost,
ri ght?4?

A I"'msorry, will you say that again.

Q Sure. The requirenments that are needed to address

H2S down a hole can increase the cost, right?
A Yes, it can.

Q And it's your testinony that those costs are already

Page 170

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

reflected in these AFES?
A. Yes.
Q Assum ng you're using 110 casi ng.
A. That's what we use, yes, for the Avalon. Al so what

ot her operators are using in the area.

Q Do you know i f that's what Perm an Resources is
usi ng?

A I don't believe I know where their nearest Aval on
well is. It's nowhere near Spicy Chicken, as far as |'m
awar e.

Q Regarding the Grayling wells, Avant did drill those

wells, correct?

A. The 600s we were turning over drilling at that tinme.
I"'mnot -- | think our field staff was still on the rig, but
we were not in control of drilling that anynore.

Q Were you still the operator of those walls when they

were being drilled?

A. I think of record, yes, because we hadn't fully
cl osed, but they had taken over operations before the closing
dat e.

Q Back to the H2S for a m nute. You nentioned earlier
the XTO Anakin well that was plugged, right?

A. Correct.

Q And that was plugged due to issues involving H2S?

A. From ny under st andi ng, yes.
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Q And that well used P110 casing, didn't it?

A. | believe so, yes. But | don't believe the issue
was with the casing, as far as |I'm aware.

Q Let's | ook at your rebuttal Exhibits Cl through C3.
We can go through each of these, Cl, C2, and C3, but you're
relying on Avant's Cut bow devel opment as your anal og,
correct?

A That's correct.

Q And Cutbow is two miles to the north, right?

A. Yes.

Q And Perm an Resources's Pakse devel opnment is
i mredi ately adj acent to the Spicy Chicken devel opnent, right?

A That's correct.

Q And on rebuttal Exhibit Cl, you conpare Cutbow to
Mat ador's Gavil on and Silver devel opnents, right?

A. Yeah.

Q And t hose devel opnents are about four niles away,
aren't they?

A Yeah, it |ooks like that.

Q And they're located to the east?

Yes.

Q Doesn't the rock change as you go to the east from
Spi cy Chi cken?

A. Yeah, rock changes as soon as you | eave Spicy

Chi cken.
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Q And you're showi ng here total cunul ative oil
production, right?

A. That's correct.

Q And Cut bow woul d have nore production than those
ot her units because it includes nore wells, right?

A. Yeah, that's the point.

Q So this is not analyzing econom cs, correct?

A No, no.

Q Let's ook at your rebuttal Exhibit C2. And there

the graph on the right shows about a 13 percent difference

bet ween t he undepl eted and the depleted well; is that right?

A | think it was. | think got pretty close to that,
yeah.

Q And you state that that is not nmaterial degradation
ri ght?

A. That's correct.

Q And then | ooki ng down at your first bullet point,
you state that Perm an Resources does not provide an anal og
to support its 48 percent degradati on determ nation, correct?

A Correct.

Q And have you reviewed Perm an Resources's Exhibit
Cl1? In fact, | think you commented on it earlier when M.
Bennett was questi oning you

A That's correct, | did.

Q And Perm an Resources uses the adjacent Pakse wells
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as an anal og, doesn't it?

A. Yeah, | see that. I think this point would need to
be anended, I'"'mnot -- |I'mnot sure why | put that, to be
conpl etely honest.

Q And let's | ook at your rebuttal Exhibit C3. And
here you're conparing Avant's Cutbow devel opnent to Matador's
Dagger State unit and Anderson unit, correct?

A That's correct.

Q And is it correct that your point that you're trying
to make here is that Avant's density in the First and Second
Bone Spring is preferable?

A. I am

Q Dagger State and Anderson are roughly 12 nmiles away,

A That's correct.

Q And at Dagger State Matador drilled the wells in
four phases between April 2017 and Oct ober 2022, correct?

A. | believe that's correct, yes.

Q At Dagger State, the First Bone Spring and First
Bone shale wells are Child wells to the Second Bone sand
wells; isn't that true?

A. Yeah, same situation at Spicy Chicken.

Q And earlier when you were testifying you nmentioned
the Perm an Resources Batman, Riddl er and Robin devel opnents.

Do you recall that?
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A Yes.

Q And those are not included in any of your exhibits,
are they?

A. In this exhibit, no.

Q They're not included in any of your reservoir

engi neering slides, are they?
A. No, they're not. They were in Perm an's.
Q. Right. Okay. And you said earlier that if

nm dstream servi ces becane unavailable, it's a possibility to

truck oil; is that correct?
A. Yep.
Q Trucking oil would add significant cost to the

devel opnent, wouldn't it?
A Yep. It's just a backup plan. Unlikely to happen
in the area.
MS. HARDY: Those are all of ny questions right now
Thank you.
MR. KELLY: Thank you.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: M. MClure.

MR. MCCLURE: Thank you, M. Hearing Exam ner

EXAM NATI ON
BY MR, MCCLURE:
Q M. Kelly, if Avant were to be the operator in these
proposed units and they drill out the Bone Spring |I sand and
Bone Spring Il sand, would those conpletions interfere with
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Avant drilling and conpleting and producing infill wells in
the Bone Spring Il shale?
A. It hasn't been done very often. | know Matador

| i ke Deana just stated, down in the Dagger did it. And they
did I ook to be slightly depleted, but not that bad. And this
is also, like she said, 12 mles away. The rock does | ook a
little bit different. W have quite a bit of height between
our First Bone target. | think it was around 350 feet

bet ween what we would target in the second shale. So | do
think there is a good opportunity to come in and infill. But

like | said, it just has not been done in this area.

Especially not on the infill bases.
Q If additional drilling conpleting were to be done
t hat woul d denonstrate that the Bone Spring Il shale is

productive, do you believe that Avant would attenpt to
conplete wells in the Bone Spring Il carbonate?

A. Yeah, a hundred percent, if the data is there. O
course, depending on price environment right now, it's
obviously taken a turn for the better for us. So like I
said, we've kind of been thinking about, if we need to add it
here at this oil price. So definitely with nore data around
the area, we would start to include, if it showed that it was
econonmic formation to produce, but that's still yet to be
seen in this area.

Q I's that even taking into account if the Bone Spring
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I sand and Bone Spring Il sand had been producing for a
nunber of years?

A. Yeah, that is taking that into account. Like |
said, there is quite a height difference between the three
targets that we're drilling. There is sone old Second Bone
producers down in the north half of 26 that PR s plan is
going to have to deal with already. So that's kind of
already factored into to the analysis, in our opinion.

Q Well, are the Bone Spring Il sand wells in the north
hal f of Section 26 conparable to what Avant would be drilling
in these proposed units?

A It's conparable to our one mle laterals in the

Second Bone Spring sand. The shale would obviously cone in

above quite a bit. | can't renenmber the footage off the top
of my head. | think it is around the 250 to 300 range above.
So, no, we are drilling the Second Bone sand in the sane

target that the wells in the north half of 26 were drilled
in.

Q But are the conpletions within Avant's proposed
wells conparable to the conpl etions of those Coterra wells?

A Oh, I"'msorry, | msunderstood. No, those wells
were 2012 through 2014. They were old gel fracs. You're
going to deal with a lot wider fractures. Not a l|lot of
conplexity like we see now with our high density, slick water

fracs. So, yeah, different frac designs.
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Q So would it be fair to say that Avant's wells in the
Bone Spring Il sand will have a higher accunul ated vol une
than the Coterra wells in the north half of Section 26?

A. Yes, that is fair to say.

Q Wthin your direct testinony, not your rebuttal, do
you include a summary of the cost associated with Avant's
devel opnent al pl an?

A In one slide, no. W have the dated AFEs |ike we
di scussed and, you know, we'll try to get the updated AFEs
over to counsel this afternoon, but there's not a slide in ny
direct testimony with all that broken out.

Q We'll talk about it nore tonmorrow, but just a
initial question, approximtely how nuch was the cost reduced
in your rebuttal slide versus your original AFE costs?

A | didn't ook at the exact nunber. | think it was
roughly a mllion dollars a well to account for the extra. A
ot of it was the extra cost we were putting on the steel,
the casing, the facility, that we just haven't seen. And
then we went ahead and ordered a | ot of casing at a very good
pricing environnent for us, so a lot of that is just coning
fromstraight supply chain issues. So hopefully we can see
that when | get the AFEs for you guys.

MR. MCCLURE: Thank you, M. Kelly. Thank you, M.
Heari ng Exam ner. | have no further questions.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Ms. Bennett.
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MS. BENNETT: Thank you. | have one redirect.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Ckay.
REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. BENNETT:

Q M. Kelly, do you recall when Ms. Hardy asked you if
Avant woul d have to come back in to pool the Second Bone
Spring shal e?

A Yes.

Q And do you know if Coterra would have to conme back
in and pool the Second Bone Spring shale or if it could dril
infill wells now?

A I nean, they could drill an east to west well on top
of their old Second Bones right now As far as | understand
it, they have a hundred percent working interest. There's an
old facility, old pad, that you could expand and drill a
U-turn east to west, if they so chose.

MS. BENNETT: Thank you. That's all. Thank you
very much.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Anyt hing further?

M5. HARDY: No. Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Thank you. You may be
excused. Do you rest your case?

MS. BENNETT: Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Ms. Hardy, Ms. MLean,

who's going to be presenting the case-in-chief? M. MLean.
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M5. MCLEAN: | will. Could we take |ike a short
bat hr oom br eak?

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: O course. Five
m nut es?

MS. MCLEAN:  Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: It's 2:41. We'll cone
back on the record at 2:46.

(Recess at 2:41 p.m to 2:46 p.m)

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: It is 2:46, we're back
on the record. Before you begin your case-in-chief, | just
t hought we'd hit a few high points here. |I'mthinking about
calling this at 4:30. Obviously we're not going to get
through all of your witnesses in the next -- well, by five
o' clock. Do you disagree with that?

MS. MCLEAN: | do not disagree.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  All right. So we'l
break at 4:30 for the evening. |Is there anything that you
want to discuss, because when we break, we're going to stop.
So if there's anything you want to di scuss now for tonorrow
that you want to bring up.

MS. MCLEAN. The start tinme, | think you nentioned.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: That's a great place to
start. | know you take your kids to school.

MS. MCLEAN:  Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: So what tinme can you be

Page 180

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com



o 00~ wWDN

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

here?

MS. MCLEAN: By 8:15.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  8:15, if that works for
-- 1 know Ms. Bennett has to conme from Al buquer que.

MS. BENNETT: No, |'m spending the night here
t oni ght .

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Good. All right, 8:15.
| " m not hearing anything wong with 8:15, right? So we'l
start at 8:15 tonorrow, but is there anything -- | know
you're going to get sonme AFEs, sone detailed AFEs to counse
for Permian for their review for some cross-exam nation and
direct tonmorrow. |s there anything you want to tal k about?

MS. BENNETT: No.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: No, okay. All right.
Then | don't have anything else to say, so let's make the
nost of the next --

MS. BENNETT: Oh, | do have one question for you.
The Coterra case that's being called tonorrow norning.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Yes. So why don't we
call it 8:15.

MS. BENNETT: Ckay.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  We'|| start the day at
8:15 with it. | can't imgine it will be very | ong.

MS. BENNETT: No, | hope not.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Well, | hope not too.
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All right. So go right ahead.

MS. MCLEAN: Thank you. Perm an Resources calls its
first witness, Mark Haj di k.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: M. Hajdik, | rem nd you
that you're under oath, and if you'll just press that green
button, away we go.

MS. MCLEAN: Thank you

DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY Ms. MCLEAN
Q Can you pl ease state and spell your name for the
record.
A Mark Hajdik. Ma-r-k. Ha-j-d-i-Kk.
Q By whom are you enployed and in what capacity?

Seni or staff |andman with Perm an Resources.

Q And have you provided direct testinmony exhibits in
this case?

A Yes.

Q And have those docunents been nmarked as Exhibit A,

so Exhibits Al through Al12?

A Yes.

Q And are they true and correct?

A. To the best of nmy know edge, yes.

Q And do you adopt your testinony here today?

A Yes.

Q Let's briefly discuss sone of your exhibits. Let's
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go to your Exhibit AS6.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  You said 67?

MS. MCLEAN: A6, yes. And what exactly is shown on

Exhi bit A6?
A The spacing units, our applications, and the | ease.
Di agr ans.

Q Let's go to page 2 of A6. Can you tell me what is
shown here

A. It's a working interest breakdown by tract and then
a full unit capitul ation.

Q What tracts is Perm an Resources seeking to pool ?

A We're seeking to pool all of the Bone Spring
formati on and the Wolfcanp formation in all of Section 23 and
the north half of Section 26.

Q Are there any differences between what Perm an
Resources seeks to pool and what Avant seeks to pool ?

A. Yes. Avant excludes the Second Bone Spring portion,
I guess in Section 23, and all of the Second Bone in Section
23 -- sorry, 26.

Q The north half of Section 267

A Yes, the north half of Section 26.

Q Let's ook at your Exhibit A5. Can you tell ne what
this shows.

A. It's a diagram showi ng the Second Bone -- how Avant

i s excluding the Second Bone Spring fromtheir devel opnent
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and how it will strand the north half of Section 26.

Q And why does this strand the Second Bone Spring and
the north half of Section 267

A. The BLM revised the drill islands and devel opnent
areas in |light of the Spicy Chicken devel opnent area getting
granted and canceled the drill island that the Snoddy wells
came fromin the -- | believe northeast corner of the north
hal f of Section 26. So we ran to ground the option of
sel f-devel opment of Section 26 and that was deemed no | onger
vi abl e by the BLM

Q So Perm an Resources | ooked at sel f-devel opi ng the
north half of Section 26 and the BLM said, "no."

A Correct.

Q And why is self-devel opnment not possible?

A. Due to the potash restrictions and the | ack of
drawns, you're required to come fromthe north of Section 23.

Q So if Avant wi ns operator-ship in these conpeting
devel opnments, what would happen to the Second Bone Spring in

the north half of Section 26?2

A. According to their applications, it would stay
stranded.
Q And could Avant drill wells in the Second Bone

Spring in the north half of Section 267
A. Not currently.

Q And why not ?
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A. They don't own anything. They don't own any working
interest.

Q In the north half of Section 267

A. Correct.

Q Let's |l ook at your Exhibit A10. What does Exhi bit
A10 show?

A. It's a project devel opment and commruni cati on
ti neline where we've been working on resol ving di sputes and
BLM pot ash i ssues starting back in 2023 when we acquired it,
and our predecessor had been working on it prior to this. In
addition to some comruni cation with other parties throughout
her e.

Q Let's go to Exhibit Al2. And this is your
conmuni cations tinmeline with Perm an Resources and Avant,
correct?

A. Correct.

Q And have you had extensive comrunications with
Avant ?
A. Yes.
Q And have you reviewed Avant's communi cati on sunmary?
Yes.
Q And do you believe Perm an Resources and Avant's

conmuni cati on summmari es are accurate?
A. Yes, but for whatever they plan to edit.

Q And why do you think that they plan to edit?
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A. Well, it's not inaccurate. | just don't know what
they're going to add. It won't be a hundred percent aligned.
Q And does your Exhibit Al2 and Avant's Exhibit A6
show t hat negoti ati ons have been extensive and ongoi ng
bet ween the parties?

A Yes.

Q What ' s your understanding of Avant's position in
t hese cases?

A. That they should be granted operatorship solely on a
| arger working interest.

Q And do you agree with that?

A | do not.

Q And have you provided a rebuttal exhibit which has
been marked as Exhibit A13?

A Yes.

Q And | know this one has been objected to, so we'l
try and use it at this point.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Hold on. Let ne just
verify that. Let me think for a noment. | thought C13 and
Cl4 were adm tted. Ch, not A.

MS. MCLEAN: Al3.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: These are As. \y don't
we deal with all the As at the sane tine? Wy don't you try
to get themin. Let's find out first what the objection is

All of your direct exhibits have been admtted. No rebuttal
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exhi bits, except for Cl3 and Cl4. So this witness here
created which rebuttal exhibits?

MS. MCLEAN: It's just Al13. He only has one.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  One rebuttal exhibit.

MS. MCLEAN: Yes, correct.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Al13. Hold on a second.
Let me mark this down. Al3. M. Bennett, what is the
obj ection to Al13?

MS. BENNETT: Thank you, M. Hearing Exam ner. Al3
is sinply a conpilation of what's already in the record.
It's a conmparison, a side-by-side conparison, of Avant's
chart of working interest ownership and Perm an's. And so,
it adds nothing to the record. And they already used it as a
denonstrative for that purpose. |In addition to that, the
cal cul ations that they are showi ng on Exhibit Al3 are
irrel evant, because they conpare Avant's actual working
interest ownership with the theoretical, hypothetical working
interest if all of the overrides convert. And so the
substance is -- there's one tiny little bit of substance
that's new, and it is irrelevant.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  So I'mjust trying to
make sure | understand. Nunmber one, we have redundancy.

MS. BENNETT: Yes.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Right? Okay. So we

have redundancy, but that wouldn't stop it from being used as
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denonstrable, right. Nunmber two, there was an issue about

the actual data t

| ost nme, you said --

showi ng and how

hat is portrayed in the exhibit.

t's not correct.

And you

repeat what you said about what they're

MS. BENNETT: Sure. Ms. MLean, would you be able

to turn to that exhibit? So again, the two tables,

the two

primary tables, are just a recapitulation of what's already

in the record. And then the variance i s what

I'"'mreferring

to now. So the variance is showing a difference in Avant's

cal cul ated acreage and Earthstone's cal cul ated acreage. And

nunber one, that'
rebuttal exhibit

nunber two, it's

s sinple math. | don't think we need a

to have sinple math in the record.

based only on the -- it says here,

But

on the

unaccount ed for conversion of overrides and the conversion of

overri des has not

compari son using

happened. So this is a specul ati

ve

-- conparing Avant's actual record title

agai nst the specul ative conversion that Perman is

inits case.

HEARI NG

advanci ng

OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  And your response.

M5. MCLEAN: Yes. Well, | don't know about sinple

mat h, because | went to | aw school, because | was told there

woul d be no mat h.

rel evant and hel pful,

that M. McClure

But | think that this is particularly

especially in light of the questions

asked their land witness earlier today to

describe the differences in the cal cul ations and the
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di fferences between the two working interest cal cul ations
bet ween the parties. Furthernore, you know, one of the
cruxes of this entire case is, should we be calculating these
overrides? Avant says, no. W say, yes. It is of record.
It's an option that everyone has and we believe that it's
necessary so we have an accurate portrayal of what that
wor ki ng interest mght be. And Perm an Resources believes
that they are pooling all potential working interest owners,
so we do not have to waste the Division's time and conme back
and reopen the cases to pool additional people should they
convert their override into working interest. So we believe
that this is relevant and crucial to understanding the

di fferences between the parti es.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Let me ask M. McClure a
guestion. M. MCure, | think I know which way | want to go
with this objection, but do you find this slide helpful? And
if so, just let me know that you do or don't.

MR. MCCLURE: | nmean, | don't think it hurts to have

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Well, that wasn't the

guestion that | asked, but if that's the answer you want to

give ne, | guess |I'll have to be stuck with it. Ms. Bennett,
when it cones to the redundancy factor, | can understand the
obj ection; however, | think having everything, as |long as

it's accurate and you have the ability to cross-examne this
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witness to show any inaccuracies in this table, okay. But |
find that the table is helpful in gathering information that
m ght be all over the different exhibits and bringing it into
one exhibit. So for that reason, |I'm not supporting the
redundancy argunent. For the idea that it's conparing apples
and oranges, basically that's what you're saying here.

You're saying that here in this bottomleft table, the

vari ance summary, Perm an is showing Avant's current -- or |

t hought Avant actually was a little bit nmore than 90 percent
anyway, wasn't it?

MS. BENNETT: Yes. | think that what they're
showing in the variance there is the difference between what
Avant attributes to its working interest ownership based on
title.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Ri ght.

MS. BENNETT: And what Permian attributes to its
i nterest based on this hypothetical conversion.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Ri ght .

MS. BENNETT: And then taking the two and
subtracting them So the 90 percent is not Avant's interest,

it's the delta between what Avant shows and what Perm an

chose.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: | didn't even understand
that. | think that we haven't had any testinony on it yet.
Woul d you explain that one nore tinme, because | still don't
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understand it.

MS. BENNETT: Sure. And I'm happy to explain M.
Haj di k' s testinony, but...

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: \What are these nunber
here, the 90 and the 41?

MS. BENNETT: That's the difference between --
that's taking Avant's total acreage that Avant showed that it
had on its slides and subtracting fromthat the acreage that
Permi an credits to Avant to say that Avant is inflating its
acreage by 90 --

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  This isn't working
interest, this is acreage.

MS. BENNETT: |It's acreage.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: I didn't understand
that. Thank you. | appreciate that. | didn't know that.
I"'mgoing to allow this exhibit in. So this exhibit cones
in, and you can cross-exani ne and show us how it's not
reliable or inaccurate, any way you like. But for me, |
appreciate the fact that sonmeone conpiled all of this data.
Sol find it relevant, | just don't know how accurate it is,
but we'll find out.

MS. MCLEAN: Thank you

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Did you catch that, Ms.
Shol | enbarger, this exhibit cones in. And this exhibit is

what nunber?
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MS. MCLEAN: This is Exhibit A13.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  A13.

MS. MCLEAN: Perm an's Exhibit A13.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Rebuttal. No, you just
have it |isted.

MS. MCLEAN: We just have it in sequential order.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  So go right ahead.

MS. MCLEAN: So this has been admitted.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Yes, it has been.

MS. MCLEAN: Thank you. All right. Can you tell nme
what, in your words, is on Exhibit A13?

A Al3 is the tables extracted fromthe original
testinmony that Avant rolls up -- does not take into account
any conversions in their table, and then it conpares it to
the potential for the parties to convert on our table. And
this table also shows the party that were left off at Avant's
pool i ng applications that have the opportunity to be working
i nterest partners here.

Q And the parties that were left off of Avant's
working interest table, those are in red?

A. Correct.

Q Can you tell me which parties those are?

A. SITL Energy and Blue Star Royalty.

Q And then, in | ooking at the conparison between these

two working interest calculations, these are only the working
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i nterest ownership tables for the one-and-a-half nmile First
and Third Bone Spring wells?

A. Correct. And Wl fcanp.

Q And Wol fcanp. Because all of that ownership
interest is the sanme, correct?

A. Yes, it's contiguous.

Q And it's the Second Bone Spring that has the
di fferent ownership.

A Correct.

Q And is there a big disparity between what Perni an
Resources is showi ng as ownershi p percentages and what Avant
has?

A. Correct. If the parties were to convert, then
Avant's working interest is inflated by 90 acres.

Q And why is that? Wy would their ownership interest
be inflated wi thout that conversion?

A. Can you restate the question.

Q Why is there a disparity between what Perm an
Resources is showi ng and what Avant is show ng?

A. I mean, in my opinion, it's advantageous for themto
show t he unconverted tabl e, because it makes their numnbers
| ook better.

Q And Perm an Resources's table takes into account the
ability of all parties that can convert to working interest

percent ages, correct?
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A. Correct.

Q And Avant's does not?
Correct.
Q Why does Perni an Resources take that conversion into

account when making its cal cul ati on?

A. It's a unique scenario. W thought it was the best
approach to utilize the ownership that could be the maxi mum
potential working interest parties who are of record, because

their right to convert is of record as of the filing of this

case.
Q And have you reviewed Avant's rebuttal exhibits?
Yes.
Q I'd like to draw your attention to Avant's rebutta

Exhi bit A2 and can you tell ne what this is?

A. This is the docunent of record that gives these
parties the right to convert their override to a working
interest at the tinme of drilling subsequent wells.

Q Can you tell me what exactly this says? | think
Avant called it out in their exhibit about the ability to
convert an overriding royalty interest to a working interest.

A The parties that are subject to this docunent have
the option of converting their override interest. | think
you need to scroll down.

Q There you go.

A. And then such option -- sorry, what was the question
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again? | lost ny train of thought.

Q If you could tell me what exactly this document says
about the ability to convert an overriding royalty interest
to a working interest.

A These parties have the right to convert and they
have to be given notice and they have a certain anmpunt of
time to provide response to said notice.

Q. And just to clarify, not every overriding royalty
interest owner that's |listed on Perm an Resources or Avant's
overrides that are going to be pooled in this case have this
option?

A Correct. There's overriding royalty owners that are
just a straight override owner. This is a select few that
are subject to this agreenent.

Q And if someone did convert from an overriding
royalty interest to a working interest and you didn't |ist
them as a pool ed working interest owner in this case, what
woul d you have to do?

A. Barring voluntary agreenent, you' d have to cone back
to the Commi ssion.

Q To pool then?

A. Yeah, you'd have to reopen the pooling cases.

Q Do you have experience with people actually electing
to convert fromoverwiting royalty to working interest?

A Yes. Several parties in here, while we think it's

Page 195

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

premature, did file a notice of intent to convert.

Q And is Perm an Resources planning on converting its
overriding royalty interest to a working interest?

A. Yes, once given -- yes, we intend to convert our
override to a working interest.

Q So would you call it hypothetical that someone can
do this or realistic?

A Real i sti c.

Q When woul d you anticipate parties to actually make

this election, in your experience?

A. There woul d have to be an operator naned and then it
woul d be pre-inmnent to the actual of the well. At that
point you would get a -- based on the verhbiage we see here,

you' d then be given an el ection and the opportunity to
convert.

Q And is Perm an Resources's ability to convert its
overriding royalty interest to working interest ownership
reflected in any of Avant's ownership interest breakdowns?

A. Not in their initial ones, fromwhat | can recall

Q And why do you think Avant cal cul ated the ownership
interest in this way?

A. As we saw in ny rebuttal slide, it advantageously
inflated their working interest.

Q And do you believe Perm an Resources cal culation to

be nore realistic?
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Yes.
Q In your opinion, will Perm an Resources devel opnent
pl an best prevent waste and protect correlative rights?
Yes.
Q And would Avant's plan result in waste and viol ate

Per m an Resources and others like Coterra's correlative

ri ghts?
A. Yes.
Q Can you pl ease summari ze the reasons for that.
A. Perm an Resources has been working diligently to

devel op our significant interest in a way that does not
strand acreage and provides the best protection of
correlative rights and value for the owners.

M5. MCLEAN: Thank you. | have no further
guesti ons.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Ms. Bennett.

MS. BENNETT: Thank you.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. BENNETT:
Q Good afternoon, M. Hajdi k. Thanks for being here.

So | wanted to just start off with your declaration and your
exhibits. They're neant to be accurate, to the best of your
know edge, right?

Yes.

Q And they're nmeant to be conplete, to the best of
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your know edge?

Correct.

And did you prepare your exhibits?
Yes.

And are they all based on your personal know edge?

> O >» O >

To the best of nmy know edge, yes.

Q So you acknow edge, right, that the nunmbers you
i ncluded in your ownership breakdown are based on the
assunmption that the overrides will convert?

A. Under the maxi mum case, yes, that's what ny table
accounts for.

Q And just give ne a second here, I'mgoing to start
sharing. So this is your self-affirmed statenent, Exhibit A,
right?

A Yes.

Q And | want to | ook at your exhibit on page 130 of
278, which is your working interest summary. It's part of
Exhibit A6. Are you seeing that?

A Yes, | can.

Q And this is your working interest summary for
Section 23 and the north half of Section 26; is that right?

A Yes.

Q And at the bottom in this asterisk here, it says --
and tell me if I'mnot reading this correctly, the table

above assunes the parties have elected to participate in the

Page 198

Veritext Lega Solutions

Caendar-nm@veritext.com 505-243-5691 WWWw.veritext.com




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

devel opment with the working interest. Did | read that
correctly?
A. Yes, because it's the nost conplete way to | ook at

t he ownership of record.

Q And it's based on an assunption, though, in your own
wor ds?
A. It is.

Q. Okay. Thanks. You testified a nmoment ago that you
t hought this was the best approach with respect to SITL and

Blue Star, as overrides that have not yet converted; is that

right?

A Correct, because they could be working interest
parties.

Q Have you had conversations with SITL about it

beconmi ng a working interest party?

A. I have talked to nost of the parties here.

Q Does your communi cation record reflect a
conversation with SITL?

A. I would have to go back and | ook. There was a | ot
of conversati ons.

Q So you don't recall a conversation with SITL, even
though it's in your testinony?

A. Yes. If it's in there then, yes, | did talk to
t hem

Q But do you recall what they said to you about
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converting their working interest?

A. I don't recall if we discussed conversion
Q G ve ne just a second here and I'Il get to your
summary of context. Do you see where |I'm | ooking here, on

March 31st to April 7th, 20267

A Yes.

Q Is this a summary of your conmunication with SITL?
A Yes.

Q And could you read it for the Division, please.

A. "Emai | exchange with SITL regarding their preference

to sign a JOA or support letter, SITL elects to renmnin
neutral due to marketing their assets to give the buyer the
optionality to convert at their discretion."

Q So SITL did not want to convert at the tine that you
conmuni cated with them did they?

A. There's no conversion until there's an operator with
a well.

Q Did SITL indicate that it was open to converting at

the tinme you comuni cated with thenf?

A. | don't think that's -- | don't understand your
guesti on.

Q Your enmmi|l exchange says that SITL elected to remain
neutral. Did you wite that to nean that they elected to

remain neutral in ternms of converting their override?

A. | wote that to nmean they still have the optionality
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

to convert their override.

Q Have they converted their override?

A. I think | answered that question a nm nute ago, that
there's no operator and no election given yet.

Q Is that why Perm an hasn't elected to convert its
working interest, its override into a working interest?

A. If we were nanmed operator we wouldn't need -- |
mean. . .

Q So isn't Perm an using the assunption in your slides
to show the working interest ownership in a |ight nost
advant ageous to Perm an?

A Showing it in a light that captures the maxi num
number of potential working interest parties here.

Q In your discussions with SITL, did you let SITL know
that you were going to be pooling their override and their
wor king interest in this case?

A. They received notice of the proposals.

Q So you're pooling a -- as of yet, unel ected working
interest, right?

A. They are a party of record that could have a working
interest, so they were entitled to notice of the hearing and
a well proposal

Q So Perm an has had this opportunity to convert its
working interests -- I'msorry, its override to a working

interest since Earthstone acquired this acreage, is that --
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

or Earthstone had the opportunity, is that accurate?

A. There was no subsequent wells currently.

Q Didn't Earthstone propose wells in 20237

A. Pre-pool i ng proposals are not binding.

Q Didn't Permian file a pooling application with the
-- Earthstone file a pooling application with the Division in
2025 -- 2023/2024? | don't have the exact dates.

A Yes, we did.

Q And did you elect to convert your override -- well,
you didn't elect to convert your override before those
pooling cases, did you?

A There was no post-order proposals sent.

Q So the answer is no?

There's no subsequent wells to send an el ection on.

Q I want to take a | ook at your Exhibit -- go back to
your Exhibit A6. This exhibit does not conpare and contrast
Perni an's ownership to Avant's ownership, does it?

A. That's a standard unit capitulation.

Q And even under your assunption, Perm an has 40
percent owned and controll ed.

A Correct.

Q And that's not the majority interest, is it?
A. No, but we have a material interest here to protect.
Q And so does Avant, right? Let's see. Oh, | wanted

to turn to your next slide. This is your recap for the
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Section 23 ownership, do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q And coul d you wal k the Division through how you canme
to -- Perm an owned and controlled 18. 116 percent.

A I think we've already addressed that in the -- that

we use the nunmbers of maxi mum potential parties that could

convert.
Q. I"'msorry, I'"'mtrying to be a little nore granul ar
than that. | actually want to know how you added up the

parties that are actually signed up with Permian to cone up
with the 18 percent. So that's WR Non-Op, right? 1Is WR
Non- Op under a contract to acquire?

A. Yes, there might -- there's possibly an error here.
| don't have a cal culator, but..

Q But you think that these -- the 18 percent could be
i naccur ate?

A. Yes, because we're only -- yes, there's probably a
typo there.

Q So it should be lower than 18, is that what you're

sayi ng?
A. Yes.
Q This is again the unit recap for just the 640 acre

Section 23 tract, right?
A Correct.

Q And yet, for the first entry, Earthstone Perm an, it
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

says that you have acreage in tracts 1 and 2. 1Is that a typo
as well?

A. Yes, this is only tract 1.

Q | want to look at Avant's rebuttal Exhibit Al.
Sorry, there's a faster way | could do this, but it's not
happening at the nmonent. Turning to Al, this is the
assignment of overriding royalty interest and options. Do
you see that? Why didn't you include this in your materials
if you were relying on it to support your assunption of
wor ki ng i nterest ownership?

A. It wasn't initially included in yours either. [|I'm
not follow ng the question.

Q Well, Avant did not need to include it initially,
because they are not basing their cal culations on an
assunption; whereas, Perm an Resources --

MS. MCLEAN: Objection. This is testinony by
Counsel at this point.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Sustai ned. Wuld you
answer the question she asked you though, because she asked
you a question and you said, '"well, it's not in Avant's
either,' but that's not an answer to the question. So wll
you ask the question again.

MS. BENNETT: Yes, | will. So why did you not
i nclude Rebuttal Exhibit Al, which is the assignnment of

overriding royalty interest and options upon which you base
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

your cal cul ations in your exhibits?

A. Title docunents are typically not included as
standard pooling exhibits?

Q A moment ago you testified though that this is an
unusual circunmstance. And so, wouldn't this be outside of
the normal pooling application when you're relying on an
assunption of working interest ownership to support that
assunption?

A. I don't think there's a dispute that this exists, so
I'm not sure what the necessity -- or what's the question?

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Well, you do have to
answer the question. So instead of debating the necessity of
the question, just answer it, please.

MR. HAJDIK: | neant of the docunent. | didn't nean
-- what's the question, sorry.

Q The question is, a monment ago you testified that
this is an unusual circunstance and also that this type of
exhibit is not normally submtted in a usual ruling case.

But here where Permian is basing its affirnative case on an
assunption related to a docunent, |'m asking why Perm an did
not include that docunment in its original materials.

A. | didn't think it was necessary. | thought the
t abl es spoke for thensel ves.

Q Now, you testified a noment ago that the assignhment

of overriding royalty interest and option agreenent is of
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

record and | don't think anyone's disputing that. Wat ny
gquestion is, is whether, for exanple, the working interest
that you've attributed to SITL, for exanple, is that of
record, that they own a working interest at this nonment?

A They have the opportunity to own a working interest
according to this docunent.

Q And that's all they have, right, is the opportunity?

A. Well, yes, the -- | mean, that's -- yes.

Q Thank you. | want to now | ook at Avant Rebutta

Exhibit A3. Are you seeing that?

A. Yes.

Q Have you had a chance to review this exhibit?

A Yes.

Q In your opinion, does this exhibit reflect the
interests that will accrue if the hypothetical conversion

t akes place, of all overrides to working interest?

A | believe so. | don't check the actua
cal cul ati ons, but..

Q Sitting here right now, do you have any reason to
doubt the interests that are reflected here as
post-conversion interests?

A No.

Q And this Rebuttal Exhibit A3 shows Avant with 85.54
percent working interest control, does it not?

A. That's to a limted nunber of the wells.
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Q This is all of the wells in Section 23, the 640-acre
spacing unit, isn't it?

A But that's a limted nunber of the wells.

Q | understand it's a limted nunmber of the wells.

' m asking you about the wells in Section 23.

A. Limted to the wells in Section 23, this would be
t he table.
Q. And both Perm an and Avant are proposing wells in

Section 23 only, right?
A. Yes.

Q And then turning to Exhibit A4. Are you seeing

Exhi bit A4?
A Yes.
Q And again, this is Avant's cal cul ati on assum ng --

taking into account your assunption that all of the overrides
t hat have the opportunity to convert to a working interest.
Do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q And do you have any reason to doubt that these
nunmbers reflect a total conversion?

A No.

Q And at the bottom you see where Avant calculated its
wor king interest control as 57.86 percent. Do you see that?

A | do.

Q So Avant under either scenarios, your scenario or
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Avant's scenario, has the majority working interest in the
1.5 mle acre -- 1.5 mle |aterals.
A. I don't think there's a dispute to that. | think

there's nore to the case on protecting correlative rights.

Q Thanks. You're aware that Avant operates a vertica
well in Section 23 already, right?

A | believe they purchased one. | have not confirned
it myself, but sure, I'lIl take your word for it.

Q Then turning back to your rebuttal exhibit, et ne
see if | can get that. It doesn't seemquite right to ne.

So originally | thought that what you had done was just taken
Avant's working interest ownership table and conpared it to
your working interest ownership table, but it doesn't | ook

li ke that's what you did actually. |Is table 1 sonmething you
created?

A It was pooled -- this was manually created off of
y'all's exhibit, Avant's exhibit.

Q So it shows Avant as having 80.28 percent, which
know you dispute. I'min table 1. Are you tracking with ne?

A Yes.

Q And then Chief Capital, and then it shows WR Non- Op,
force pool, Trainer, force pool. And those were the
interests that Avant was seeking to force pool, right?

A At the tine.

Q And so you now know that Trainer though is being
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

acqui red by Avant.

A. Based on your rebuttal exhibits, yes.

Q So this calculation that you' ve put in here no
| onger reflects the on the ground status of discussions with
Avant -- with Trainer's discussions with Avant.

A. | wasn't privy to those. This was accurate at the
time | made it.

Q. And then on your exhibit, the table that you
created, | see SITL and Blue Star as identified in red
italics. And those are the potential working interest owners

t hat Avant did not pull as working interest owners; is that

right?
A Yes.
Q But that Perm an prematurely pool ed as working

i nterest owners.

A Conpr ehensi vel y pool ed them

Q | wanted to talk a little bit about Petrolux. So
you have identified here that Petrolux was conveyed to a

predecessor of Earthstone. Do you see that?

A Yes.
Q And were you here earlier today when Ms. Sarantinos
testified that Petrolux actually -- this interest was not

conveyed to Earthstone, according to Avant's title review?
A. Qur title opinion has it accredited to us.

Q But there can be differences in title opinions. |Is
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

that a fair statement?

A. Yes.

Q I think that's it on those. | wanted to next talk
about your Wbl fcanp 201H application. Let ne just get there.
Sorry, |I'mnot sure which application nunber that is. This
is it, 25835. Are you seeing that?

A. Yes.

Q. Are you familiar with your Wl fcanp 201H
application?

A. Yes.

Q Did you help prepare the Wl fcanp 201H application?

Yes.

Q The 201H application here says that it is a 400
acre, nore or less, standard horizontal spacing unit. Do you
see that?

A. Yes.

Q And do you see in paragraph 2 where it says that
it's going to start in Unit D of Section 23 to |ast take

point in Unit C of Section 267

A Yes.

Q Does that accurately reflect your exhibits?

A. | believe there was a typo regarding Unit C.
Q So your exhibits do not reflect what's in your

application, right?

A. Correct, according to this.
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

Q Wel'l, do you have any reason to doubt that this is
the application you filed?

A. No. I'"msorry, correct.

Q Just to confirm this is your testinony and this is
your Exhibit A and you say in case 25835, which we just
establ i shed was the 201H case that Perm an is seeking to poo
uncomm tted interest in a 480 acre spacing unit, is that
di fferent than your application?

A. Yes, | said there was an error in the application, |
bel i eve.

Q Then | wanted to | ook at the Cl102 for the 201H well
See if | can find that. Do you think there's an error in the
C102 as wel | ?

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: That was a question?

MS. BENNETT: Yes, that is a question. |"msorry, |
didn't have a chance to |ook at you. | was |ooking for the
C102.

A. I don't -- yes, on your highlighted part right
t here.

Q So what 1've highlighted here shows that the Cl102 is
purporting to say that the 201H well is going to be dedicated
to a 400 acre unit?

A. It should be four-eighty.

Q Do you see here how it shows the first take point is

in Unit D and the last take point is in Unit E?
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

A Yes.
Q And do you see here on the drawing that the first
take point is in D and the last take point is in E?
Yes.

A

Q Woul d that be a 400 acre unit?

A No. | said it would be four-eighty.
Q

So is this estimted acreage on here added after the

fact?
A | don't do those.
Q You don't prepare the Cl02s?
A. No, I'm not a surveyor.
Q Did you review it though, before -- it's part of

your exhibits, right?

A | review themas best | can. | don't..

Q But you'd agree with ne that this Cl02 does not
accurately -- the dedicated acreage on this Cl102 does not

accurately reflect the drawi ng on the C102?

A. Correct. | already stated that the 400 is
i ncorrect.
Q I noticed in your applications and your -- actually,

on your Cl102s, that you've identified the Wl fcam wells as
being in the Osudo Wl fcanp South gas pool. Do you see that
on the C102?

A Yes.

Q Is it your understanding that the Wl fcanp wells are
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

in the gas pool?

A. | believe so.

Q When was that? When did you start to have that
under st andi ng?

A. ' m not sure.

Q Was it before you subnmitted your applications or

after you submtted your applications?

A. It's been a long tinme since these applications were
filed, | don't recall
Q Are you aware that your Wl fcanp applications are

spaced off of oil spacing and not gas spacing?

A Yes. We had planned to file for administrative
NSLs.

Q For administrative NSLs?

A For NSPs, sorry.

Q But you will have to file -- | saw that in your
applications that you said that now you think these are
non-standard units when before you thought they were standard
and now you think that you'll need to file an adm nistrative

application for non-standard unit. That's in your testinony,

right?
A. Yes.
Q Do you know what the setbacks are for a gas pool for

the first and | ast take point and fromthe | ateral s?

A. I"'mnot famliar with each pool, but | think
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

general |y 330.

Q So will you have to file for adm nistrative approva
for NSLs as well? Are your first -- shall | show you a Cl102,
woul d that be hel pful ?

A I think I just said we would put -- sorry, ask your

guesti on agai n.

Q Sure. So | understood fromyour testinony that you
plan on filing adm nistrative applications for non-standard
units, but what |I'masking you nowis if you'll need to al so

file adm nistrative applications for non-standard | ocati ons,
given that your wells are spaced out?

A I think I neant non-standard |ocation here, not NSP.

Q Wel |, your testinony says non-standard unit, but
that's neither here nor there. But you acknow edge that
there's further steps that you have to take, whether it's
correct in your testinmony or not correct in your witten
testi nony.

A. What am | correcting? What was the question?

Q My question is, you acknow edge that there are
further steps that you'll have to take with the Wbl fcamp

applications, as you understand them post this hearing?

A Yes.
Q A m nute ago we tal ked about the fact that Avant
owns or operates a well, the Baetz 23 well in Section 23, and

you said you were generally aware of the existence of that
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

well; is that right?
A. Yes.
Q Are you aware of the requirenents for seeking

approval of overlapping spacing units?

A Yes.

Q And is the Baetz well within Section 23? Is it
within the west half of Section 237

A | don't know where it is.

Q Just a second, if you don't mnd, |I'mgoing to go
ahead and pull up one of your geol ogist slides and I'IIl be
able to show you where it is. It's in Section 23, we can
leave it at that for the nonent. Do you know if either of
your Section 23 applications identified that well as an
exi sting spacing unit?

A. | believe that well's dedicated to a different pool.

Q What pool do you believe that's dedicated to?

A. I don't know. | don't know what pool it's dedicated
to. | didn't believe it was the ones that we're doing
hori zont al s.

Q If it turns out that it is within the sane pool or
formati on as your proposed west half or east half Section 23
application, will you need to take additional steps to seek

approval for an overl apping spacing unit?

A. If it's in the sane pool then, yes, we'd have to.
Q You were here earlier today when -- and | think your
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testimony even references the three Snoddy wells that are in
the north half -- well, in Section 26. Do you recall those
three wells?

A. Yes.

Q Actually, | think you have an exhibit | can use to
show those wells. This is a representation of those three
Snoddy wells, right?

A Yes.

Q And the northernnmost well traverses the entire north
hal f of the north half of Section 26, right?

A. Yes.

Q And the slant well traverses the east half and the
west hal f of Section 26, right?

A Yes.

Q Do you know i f you included those wells in your
overl appi ng spacing unit approval requests in your
applications?

A. I have an exhibit regarding the overl appi ng spaci ng
uni t.

Q | understand you m ght have an exhibit for that and
I''m happy to get to it. | don't think it adds nuch to this
di scussion. But what |I'masking is, do you know if your
applications, all of your Section 26 -- all of your
applications that seek to pool Section 26 in the Bone Spring,

whet her those applications identified the Snoddy wells as
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

overl appi ng?

A. | don't

recal | .

Q And based on your know edge of the overl apping

spacing unit rule, would you need to do additional steps

after this hearing to correct that oversight if it is, in

fact, an oversight?

A. Those are matters typically handl ed by counsel. |

don't know the exact procedures.

Q | understand that you may not know the exact

procedures, but do you have a general understanding that

t here woul d be additional procedure?

A Under your hypothetical, yes.

Q I want to | ook at your paragraph 6 of your

declaration. Do you see where | am on paragraph 6 of your

decl arati on?

A. Yes.

Q And in paragraph 6 it's got a blanket statenment that

Avant is not seeking to pool or develop the Second Bone

Spring interval;

is that correct?

A. It references Exhibit A5, which would further define

t hat .

Q | understand it references A5, but is that statenment

in your declaration correct, as witten?

A. You're taking it out of context.

Q This shows Avant is drilling wells in Section 23 in
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

t he Second Bone Spring, right?

A. Correct.

Q You nmentioned earlier that you had discussions with
t he BLM about the inability to use the existing drill pads
and what woul d those be, the east half of Section 26? Do you
recall that testinmony? |s anything about that -- did you
provi de any correspondence with BLMin your material s?

A No.

Q Are you able to provide any correspondence with BLM
to support your statenent?

A. I can go back and look. | believe | have an ensnil
fromJimRutley.

Q You said sonmething that | thought was kind of
interesting. You said that you ran down the option of
sel f-devel opnent of section -- the north half of Section 26.
I's that what you sai d?

A Correct.

Q And by sel f-devel opment, you nmean Perm an devel opi ng

it or did you nmean Coterra developing it?

A. Perm an devel oping it.

Q So how is that self-devel opment?

A. We woul d be drilling our acreage that we own in
Section 26.

Q What acreage do you own in the north half of Section

26 in the Second Bone Spring shal e?
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

A. We don't own -- it was regarding all statenents.
Q Thanks.
O all wells.
Q Ref erencing the same exhibit, you testified that
Avant's plan would strand the north half of Section 26, do

you recall that? |In the Bone Spring.

A Yes.

Q. And you were here earlier when Avant said it could
actually go in and drill second shale wells, right?

A. Yes.

Q You testified earlier that you' ve been diligently

pursui ng your acreage position in Sections 23 and 26. Do you
recall that testinony?

A. Yes.

Q And yet, you have not converted your overriding
royalty interest to a working interest, which is in your own
control; is that right?

A. As we discussed earlier, that is premature at this
poi nt, because there's no subsequent wells.

Q | understand that's your answer, but |I'm asking you
a question about whether you have done it yet or not. And
you haven't done it yet, right?

A There's nothing to convert for -- there's no
subsequent | oss.

Q Earlier you spoke about the difference between Avant
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

operating -- or the Avant interest and the Perm an interest
and you said that Permi an has a significant interest. Does
t hat sound about right to you?

A. Yes.

Q And even under your scenario though, it's not a
majority interest, is it?

A. It's a significant interest of 38 to 40-sonething
percent, dependi ng on what you say.

Q But it's not the majority, right?

A. Yeah.

Q Earlier you testified that the right to convert is
of record, when you were tal ki ng about the assignment of
overrides and option. Do you recall that?

A. Yes.

Q So it's your testinmony that the right to convert

being of record is the sane as having converted bei ng of

record?
A. Yes, because that right exists at all tines.
Q Thank you. | think that mght be it, but | just

want to double check with ny coll eagues to make sure | didn't
m ss anyt hi ng.
MS. BENNETT: Thank you. No further questions.
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: M. MClure.

MR. MCCLURE: Thank you, M. Hearing Exam ner.
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EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. MCCLURE:

Q M. Hajdik, junping into the topic about this
conversion of overrides into working interest. | don't
pretend to be a contract |awer by any stretch and | assune
you're not either. What is your understanding as to when
this conversion can take place?

A. When there's a naned operator that is immnently
about to drill subsequent wells.

Q And where are you getting that from though?

A. The agreenment that says -- asking as a reference,
but you inply that there would have to be an operator that's
going to drill a well

Q Avant's Rebuttal Exhibit A2, do you agree that this
is an accurate representation of the contracts in place?

A. Sonebody pull it up, please.

MS. MCLEAN: \What is the exhibit nunber?

MR. MCCLURE: Looks |ike Rebuttal Exhibit A2 from
Avant .

M5. MCLEAN: | can pull it up. 1Is this the exhibit?

MR. MCCLURE: Yes, Ms. McLean. Are you with us, M.
Haj di k?

MR, HAJDI K: Sorry, | didn't hear...

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Are you with us?

MR. HAJDI K:  Yes.
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

Q Do you see the exhibit that Ms. MLean has pulled

up, is the better question, | guess.
A. Yes, | see it.
Q Do you think that this is an accurate representation

of the contracts in place?

A. I think it mght be msleading at best, because
these parties have the option to do that. And this agreenent
probably did not take into account the horizontal forced
pooling world back in 1978.

Q Well, | guess let nme ask the question again. Do you
think, irregardless of whether the contract in place takes
into account horizontal wells, is the snippet of a contract
that we have on the screen right now, is that representative
of the contracts that are in place currently?

A. Are we tal king about the black part or the red part?

Q Well, | guess it would be the -- well, the black
part that's on the |left-hand side of the screen. It has |ike
a notary or sonmething in the background on it. Do you see
what |'"mreferring -- not the red text that's a part of the
exhibit, but like the text that's under assignnment of
overriding royalty, interest and options. Do you see where
I"'mreferring to?

A. Yeah, paragraph 2?

Q Well, the entirety of that. Like paragraph 1, 2 and

3 there. Do you see the text that I"'mreferring to, kind of
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

on the left side of the screen?

A. Yes, sir.

Q Do you have any reason to believe that this is not
representative of the contracts in place?

A No, | don't think there's a dispute that the parties
have the option to convert.

Q Yeah, but the verbiage, the |anguage that's included
here, you think this is accurate to the contract that's in
pl ace; is that correct?

A. This is the contract, yes.

Q And do you agree, under option -- or paragraph 2
there, it discusses when the occurrence of a payout to the
operator takes place for the first well. Do you see where
I"'mreferring to?

A Yes.

Q So | guess, what would be your interpretation of
when the conversion can take place?

A. | believe the reference to the payout was fromthe
original well that was drilled in the 1970s and is no | onger
applicable here. Qur positionis that, if you | ook at
paragraph 3, is that subsequent wells, which is what these
wel s are, when they're comenced upon the prem ses, that
such options shall be provided -- or provided that such
option -- excuse me, | can't read. Provided that such option

shal |l be exercised within ten days of witten notice.
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

Q So then it is your opinion that paragraph 2 has
al ready taken place and that all the wells that's being

consi dered today would fall under paragraph 3 then; is that

correct?

A. Yes.

Q If that were to be the case, then hasn't the
el ection letters that references the, | guess quote unquote,
infill wells already been provided to all the interest
owners?

A. But there's been no well commenced. Each subsequent

well that is commenced on the preni ses. So to date, no
subsequent wells have been commenced.

Q So it would be your interpretation that the
subsequent wells need to be drilled before it could be
converted; is that correct?

A. As | read that, yes.

Q Now, you're making an assunption that -- let ne
backtrack. 1s it accurate to say that you're assum ng that
all of the overriding royalty interest owners that have this
option are going to take this option?

A We found it was necessary to take that assunption so
that there was an accurate picture of all parties that could
potentially be working interest parties to the wells.

Q If that was your consideration, why did Prem um not

provide two different sets of nunbers then? One for if the
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option was taken and one for if the option was not?

A. Because there's a number of parties. | nmean, the
hypot heti cal s coul d be endl ess under that kind of I|ine of
anal ysi s.

Q Wel |, assuning that none of the options are el ected
to occur, do you agree with the interest breakout that Avant
has referenced for these proposed units?

A. Wth the exception of the title dispute, yes,
general ly.

Q And by title dispute, can you el aborate on
specifically what you' re referring to by the title dispute?
A The di scussion of Petrolux that has come up. |
think there's a gray area as to who owns that, but other than

that issue, there's no dispute with the tables.

Q Agai n, who would you attribute Petrolux or -- the
title that we're referring to, who would you attribute that
interest to?

A. Qur title has it attributed to Eart hstone Perm an,

Per m an Resour ces.

Q I was trying to scroll up to the CP-ACTS, was on the
wrong exhibit packet. M. Hajdik, if |I can draw your
attention to -- | think it's on all the Bone Spring CP-ACTS.

You may already be famliar with the issue, but if | were to
ask you what the API nunber is for the Hanson State nunber 1

and make the corrections across the entire exhibits packet,
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

do you under stand what

A. There's an i ssue with the Hanson --

MR. MCCLURE:

just to nake sure M.

MS. MCLEAN:
APl nunber on that.
MR. MCCLURE:

" m asking for?

Ms. McLean,
Haj di k knows what

It sounds |ike we just

Yeah, that's correct.

Vel |,

yes.
if we can bring it up,
I"'mreferring to.

had t he w ong

you're

nm ssing one of the digits, essentially. | think it has a 7

at the end of...if | renmenmber right. But whatever it happens

to be, if we can correct it to be a correct APl nunber. It

sounds |ike you're aware of what we're tal king about, M.

McLean.
MS. MCLEAN: Yes, we can correct that. "' m awar e.
MR. MCCLURE: And based off your earlier testinony
under questioning by Ms. Bennett, it sounds like, M. Hajdik,

that you're aware of the issue with the application for case

number 25835 in the legal description; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q And you're aware that this pertains to all the
notice, including the public notice that was conducted for

this application?

A | believe so.
Q For the First Bone Spring cases, what is the
vertical limt that Pern an Resources is asking the Division

to force pool ?
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

A. | believe that's a geol ogy question. You're asking
for the TVDs?

Q "' m not asking for the TVDs. |'m asking for what in
general formations or subset of the formation is Perm an
requesting the Division to force pool ?

A. | believe it was top of the Bone Spring to the base
of the First Bone.

Q. |'"msorry, could you say that one nore tinme, M.
Haj di k.

A. | believe it was the top of the Bone Spring
formation to the base of the First Bone Spring formation.

Q Can you pl ease provide a brief description of where
t he depth severances occur within the Bone Spring formation
in general? | don't need the TVD.

A It's atitle severance in the north half of Section
26 where the Second Bone Spring is owned by Coterra above and
below the top of the First -- sorry. Above and bel ow the top
of the Second Bone Spring, the ownership is contiguous.

Q So then depth severances occur at the top of the
Second Bone Spring and the base of the Second Bone Spring,
correct?

A. Yes, as to the north half of Section 26.

Q Well, is it just for the north half of Section 26,
because the depth severance goes across Section 23, does it

not ?
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

A. No, there's no depth -- there's no title severance
in Section 23 as to the Bone Spring and Wl fcanp, just
Section 26.

Q Well, | guess | was m sunderstanding that part of it
then. So then the entirety of the Bone Spring formation
within Section 23, it has identical interest?

A. Yes.

Q. And it's only the north half of Section 26 that has
depth severance in it.

A Correct.

Q Is it correct that you now understand that the
Wl f canp cases would be for oil pools rather than gas pool s?

A. |'"'mnot famliar with the pool -- | nmean -- sorry.
| provided those pools from our regul atory departnent, so..

Q | understand. | just wasn't sure. | know you and
Ms. Bennett -- Ms. Bennett had a number of questions. |
guess | was trying to confirm what your understandi ng was.

If I were to provide to you that the Wol fcanp is, in fact, an
oil pool in this area, do you understand what |'mreferring
to?

A Yes.

MS. MCLEAN: Can | ask M. MClure to provide what
the pool and pool code is for the Wl fcanmp?
HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Yes, but let's wait

until after the questioning is over, then by all neans.
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We'll do that |ast before we quit.
MS. MCLEAN: Thank you.
Q I'"m |l ooking at page 130. This is just one of your
breakouts of ownership, and there's reference in this table

to two different entities, which is under contract for

Perm an to acquire. Do you know what |I'mreferring to, M.
Haj di k?

A Yes.

Q Can you provide a little bit nore detail in regards

to the contract.

A. We have a sighed trade agreement with themthat is
set to close probably in the next week

Q Whuld it be accurate then to say that there's a
si gned agreenent where these entities intend to sell their
interest to Permian, but that it has not actually traded
hands yet?

A. Correct.

Q Do you believe that these entities could back out of
that intent and not sell its interests to Pernian?

A. There's a signed agreenent in place. | nean, no
deal is ever conplete until it's closed, but -- | nean, the
probability of -- there's not really mechanismfor themto
back out.

Q And earlier it sounded |like -- under questioning

from Ms. Bennett, you had saw there was a typo in your table
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on page 132 in regards to the tracts attributed to Earthstone
in this instance; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q And if | were to ask you to correct that, you
understand what |1'd be asking for?

A. Yes, | could do that.

Q I guess backing up just a little bit. The two
entities that it states is under contract for Perm an
Resources to acquire, that being -- well, | guess they're
probably both Waterl oo Resources; is that correct?

A. Yes. Waterloo is their collective parent conpany.

Q Was Wat erl oo provided notice of these cases?

A. Yes, | believe so.

Q M. Hajdik, |I don't recall if you included this in
your testinony or your self-affirmed statenent, do you
bel i eve that Perm an and Avant both negotiated in good faith?

A Yes, | do.

MR. MCCLURE: Thank you, M. Hajdik. | don't have
any further questions for M. Hajdik, M. Hearing Exam ner
but after cross-examnation | wonder if | could ask Ms. Hardy
or Ms. McLean a quick question before we get too far adrift.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: They have a question for
you as well.

MR. MCCLURE: Oh, yeah, the pool, that's right.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Go right ahead.
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

MR. MCCLURE: Oh, did you want ne to go ahead, M.
Hearing Exami ner? Okay. Ms. Hardy do you believe -- not Ms.
Hardy. Ms. MLean, do you believe it's accurate that notice
was provided to Waterl oo? | just ask you because it's part
of your notice and | don't recall as they were included.

MS. MCLEAN:. | believe so. And they were actually a
party to this proceeding. They've been entered unti
yesterday, | believe they withdrew. So they've gotten notice
of everything.

MR. MCCLURE: Oh, this is the applicant that -- or
the party that Ms. Luck was representing; is that correct?

MS. MCLEAN: Correct.

MR. MCCLURE: Thank you, Ms. Hardy. Let me bring up
one of the Wbl fcanp cases rather than Bone Spring. The
correct pool for the Wl fcanmp is going to be the Hat Mesa,
sem col on, Wl fcanp. That pool code is 96438.

MS. MCLEAN. Great. Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Redi rect.

MS. MCLEAN: Yes, sir. Thank you.

REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. MCLEAN:
Q M. Hajdik, as far as you know, no one is denying
that the conversion right exists, correct?
A Correct.

Q And you disclosed in the tables -- I'"mjust going to
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bring it up here, share my screen. | think Ms. Bennett
showed you this exhibit as well

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Exhi bit what ?

M5. MCLEAN: This is Exhibit A6. Page 2 of Exhibit
A6. You disclosed in the tables that you were basing the
wor ki ng interest calculations on the option to convert,
right?

A Correct.

Q Wul d you agree that because of the assignnent, the
contract that was put up on the screen, each party has a
right to exercise the option to convert?

A. Yes.

Q So woul d you consider that right nore than just an
opportunity?

A Yes.

Q It's a property right, correct?

A. Property right, yes.

Q That's filed with the county records.

A Yes.

Q And | think Ms. Bennett wal ked you through the
i ssues with the Cl02s and the acreage and you intend to
correct that, correct?

A. Yes.

Q And now that you know that it is, in fact, an oi

pool and not a gas pool, which we believed, you won't have to
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file any NSLs or NSPs?

A. No.

Q So there's really nothing that you would need to do
adm nistratively to fix that piece of the application, is
t here?

A. No, not that |'maware of at this tine.

Q And in your application did you include everything
you believed to be an overlapping well in these spacing
uni ts?

A. Yes, based on the pool codes we were provided at the
tinme.

Q And | want to ask you about your discussions with
BLM about the inability to drill in the north half of Section
26. If you can find it, you will provide those
conmuni cations with M. Rutley?

A. Yes.

Q And it woul d be sel f-devel opnent in your

characterization of things?

A. We could self-develop all benches, if that drill in
exi st ed.
Q But because that drill in no longer exits, it's your

understanding fromBLM that that's not a possibility?
A. Correct.
MS. MCLEAN: Those are the only redirect questions |

have.
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**Hearing** - April 21, 2026

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: Did that raise any?
MS. BENNETT: Yes, from M. MClure | have a few
follow up and also from Ms. MLean's recent questions.
RECROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MS. BENNETT:

Q I'd like to ook at the Avant Rebuttal Exhibit Al.
This is actually A2. Are you seeing A2 on the screen?

A Yes.

Q And M. McClure and you di scussed paragraph 3. Do
you recall that conversation?

A. Yes.

Q And you indicated that the election to drill would
take place after a subsequent well has been drill ed.

A | believe it says, well comenced.

Q So after a subsequent well has conmenced drilling,
is your interpretation of this?

A Yes.

Q If Permian's interpretation of this is accurate and
Perni an wer e awarded operatorship, does that nean that
Perm an would front the costs of all the wells, pending the
conversion of the overrides to working interests?

A. Yes, that's the way -- | nmean, it would have to be,
because you have to wait on the elections within ten days.

Q And why woul dn't you just then wait to pool them at

the tine they make the election? Wat's the benefit of -- in
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your opinion, what's the benefit of pooling themif they
don't have to elect until after you've already started
comrenci ng the wells?

A To not waste the tinme at the Conmm ssion.

Q Have you had the opportunity to conme back and poo

addi tional parties before the Division?

A On occasi on.

Q. And was it a significant on your part?

A. It's a waste of tinme and resources.

Q But was it a significant for you to do that?
A. Yes, it can be.

Q You' re actually asking the Division to pool interest

owners who have not yet converted and that may never convert,

right?

A. We're asking to pool the option for themto convert,
yes.

Q So if one of the parties on your |ist never
converts, the Division will have pooled an override as a

wor ki ng interest owner; is that right?

A. The title would speak for itself. They would rol
up as a working -- override owner. The Conmmission is not
forcing themto be in the working.

Q Again, | guess | don't understand what the benefit
of you seeking to pool themis today, if it's all for not at

the end of the day, if they don't convert.
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A. Because we felt it was nore conprehensive to include
t he maxi mum nunmber of parties that could be here.

Q This is a question -- and I'msorry |I'm struggling
with this one so nmuch, but you said you can self-devel op al
benches of the north half of Section 26. Do you recall that

testi nony?

A. Yes.

Q And | haven't had a chance to | ook back, and |I'm
sorry for that. But do you own in all benches of Section 267

A I think you asked nme that question earlier. W own

in all but Second Bone Spring.

Q So coul d you self-devel op the Second Bone Spring?

A No.

Q You nentioned that there's -- and naybe you and
were having a m scommuni cation about this. |1'mgoing to pul

up an exhibit and see if can clarify what night be a
nmi scomruni cati on. \When you were tal king about the dril
i sl ands that have been cancel ed, are those drill islands on
the east side of Section 26 or what drill islands were you
tal ki ng about that have been cancel ed?

A | was tal king about the drill islands that your
wi t ness, the Avant engineer, | believe referenced that the
Snoddy wells canme from That was ny understandi ng he was
ref erenci ng.

Q Do you know if there are other drill islands that
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are active that are available for devel oping Section 267

A. There are drill islands there, but they would not be
conducive to a U-turn or single mle lateral well.

Q But there are available drill islands to devel op the
north half of Section 26.

A. No, they're not. | was told by the BLMthat you

couldn't use those for that.

Q. I think we might still be having a m scomruni cation
Do you know what drill islands Matador is using right nowto
drill its Twinkle wells?

A. Yes, | do.

Q Where are those?

A. Hal fway in the mddle of Section 26. The north half
of 26.

Q And so could those be used to develop the north half
of Section 267

A No.

Q And why is that?

A The information fromthe BLMis that those could not
be used for north half devel opment of Section 26.

Q Those haven't been cancel ed t hough, right?

A No. The one that was canceled is the one that the

Snoddy wells are on.

Q So there's different conmunication with BLM about
two different sets of drill islands that you didn't provide?
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A No.

Q Did you only have a single communication with BLM?

A The single communi cati on answered both of those
questions.

Q You' re seeking to pool Coterra in the Second Bone
Spring case -- in your Second Bone Spring cases; is that
right?

A Yes.

Q Do you know approxi mately where Coterra's interest

lies in the Second Bone Spring?
A. The top of the Second Bone Spring to the base of the

Second Bone Spring in the north half Section 26.

MS. BENNETT: Those are all the questions | have.
Thank you.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN: M. MdC ure, anything
further for this wtness?

MR. MCCLURE: M. Hearing Exam ner, | do not.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Ms. McLean, may he be
excused?

MS. MCLEAN: He nay.

HEARI NG OFFI CER CHAKALI AN:  Thank you. Thank you,
M. Hajdik. 1It's 4:20 p.m |It's close enough to 4:30 to
gi ve everyone ten mnutes back. Did anything else come up
that you wanted to talk about before we break? No, okay. See

you tonorrow at 8:15 a.m Thank you. (Recess at 4:21 p.m)
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REPORTER S CERTI FI CATE

I, KimKay Sholl enbarger, Certified Court Reporter,
do hereby certify that | reported the foregoing proceedi ngs
i n stenographi c shorthand and that the foregoing pages are a
transcri pt of those proceedings that were reduced to printed
form by ne.

| FURTHER CERTI FY that | am neither enployed by nor
related to any of the parties or attorneys in this case and
that | have no interest in the final disposition of this

case.

ki Kouf WMM:@M

Ki m Kay Shol | enbarger, NMCCR 236
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New Mexico Rules of Civil Procedure for the
District Courts

Article 5, Rule 1-030

(e) Review by Witness; Changes; Signing.

If requested by the deponent or a party before
completion of the deposition, the deponent shall
have thirty (30) days after being notified by the
officer that the transcript or recording is
available in which to review the transcript or
recording and, 1if there are changes in form or
substance, to sign a statement reciting such
changes and the reasons given by the deponent for
making them. The officer shall indicate in the
certificate prescribed by Subparagraph (1) of
Paragraph F of this rule whether any review was
requested and, if so, shall append any changes made

by the deponent during the period allowed.

DISCLAIMER: THE FOREGOING CIVIL PROCEDURE RULES
ARE PROVIDED FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY.

THE ABOVE RULES ARE CURRENT AS OF APRIL 1,

2019. PLEASE REFER TO THE APPLICABLE STATE RULES

OF CIVIL PROCEDURE FOR UP-TO-DATE INFORMATION.




VERITEXT LEGAL SOLUTIONS

COMPANY CERTIFICATE AND DISCLOSURE STATEMENT
Veritext Legal Solutions represents that the
foregoing transcript is a true, correct and complete
transcript of the colloquies, questions and answers
as submitted by the court reporter. Veritext Legal
Solutions further represents that the attached
exhibits, if any, are true, correct and complete
documents as submitted by the court reporter and/or
attorneys in relation to this deposition and that
the documents were processed in accordance with

our litigation support and production standards.

Veritext Legal Solutions is committed to maintaining
the confidentiality of client and witness information,
in accordance with the regulations promulgated under
the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability
Act (HIPAA), as amended with respect to protected
health information and the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, as
amended, with respect to Personally Identifiable
Information (PII). Physical transcripts and exhibits
are managed under strict facility and personnel access

controls. Electronic files of documents are stored




in encrypted form and are transmitted in an encrypted
fashion to authenticated parties who are permitted to
access the material. Our data is hosted in a Tier 4

SSAE 16 certified facility.

Veritext Legal Solutions complies with all federal and
State regulations with respect to the provision of
court reporting services, and maintains its neutrality
and independence regardless of relationship or the
financial outcome of any litigation. Veritext requires
adherence to the foregoing professional and ethical
standards from all of its subcontractors in their

independent contractor agreements.

Inquiries about Veritext Legal Solutions'
confidentiality and security policies and practices
should be directed to Veritext's Client Services
Assoclates indicated on the cover of this document or

at www.veritext.com.
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